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Explanatory Note
On November 20, 2018, Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. (the “Company”) issued a press release announcing its financial results for the fiscal year ended September
28, 2018 and certain other financial information. A copy of the press release was attached to a Form 8-K furnished by the Company to the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 20, 2018. As previously noted by Company management, at the time it issued such press release the Company was continuing to
finalize its year end audit processes, including with respect to income taxes. In that regard, the Company’s final 2018 income tax expense also includes
approximately $15.0 million in deferred income taxes associated with adjustments with respect to valuation allowances on foreign tax credits associated with the
acquisition of the CH2M business that had not been included in the Company’s press release. The impact of these adjustments was, on a U.S. GAAP basis, $(0.10)
per share for the fourth quarter and $(0.11) per share for the fiscal year ended September 28, 2018. These revised amounts are included in the results reported in
this Form 10-K. These adjustments do not impact the adjusted EPS results for the fourth quarter or the fiscal year ended September 28, 2018 reported in the press
release.  In connection with these adjustments, the Company’s management identified a material weakness in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. See Item 9A, " Controls
and
Procedures"
in this Form 10-K.
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PART I

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to historical information, this Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, including, among other things, statements regarding our future operations, financial condition, and business strategies and future
economic and industry conditions. Forward-looking statements are statements that do not directly relate to any historical or current fact. When used herein, words
such as "expects," "anticipates," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," "plans," "intends," “future,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “can,” “may,” and similar words are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Although such statements are based on
management’s current estimates and expectations and/or currently available competitive, financial, and economic data, forward-looking statements are inherently
uncertain and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ materially from what may be inferred from the forward-looking statements.
Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those listed and discussed in Item 1A— Risk
Factors
below. We undertake
no obligation to release publicly any revisions or updates to any forward-looking statements. We encourage you to read carefully the risk factors described herein
and in other documents we file from time to time with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references herein to "Jacobs" or the "Registrant" are to Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and its predecessors, and
references to the "Company", "we", "us" or "our" are to Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Item 1. BUSINESS

General Background Information

We are one of the largest technical professional services firms in the world. We provide a diverse range of technical, professional and construction
services to a large number of industrial, commercial and governmental clients.

We focus our services on clients operating in the following sectors:
• Water;
• Environmental;
• Transportation;
• Programs for various national governments, including aerospace, defense and nuclear programs;
• Buildings and advanced facilities (including specialized building for clients operating in the fields of healthcare, education and high technology,

governmental complexes, other specialized civic and mission critical buildings, installations and laboratories and retail and commercial
buildings);

• Infrastructure and telecommunications;
• Food and consumer products;
• Technology and manufacturing;
• Power;
• Pulp and paper;
• Oil and gas exploration, production and refining; and
• Chemicals and polymers, among others.

Jacobs was founded in 1947 and incorporated as a Delaware corporation in 1987.  We are headquartered in Dallas, Texas, USA and provide our services
through more than 200 offices located around the globe in North America, South America, Europe, the Middle East, India, Australia, Africa and Asia.

How We Operate

As a broad-based technical professional services firm, we offer a range of services to help our clients maintain a competitive edge in their respective
markets. From consulting and feasibility studies to design, engineering, construction, start-up and commissioning and then to operations and maintenance, we
customize our services to meet business and project goals. Our
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global network of professionals work with a multi-office approach in an effort to provide clients with the best, most economical project or program solutions.

We strive to provide client value through continuous improvement in our performance. We regularly monitor our clients' expectations, our project
delivery protocols and system, and our operational performance. Tools such as our Jacobs Value Enhancing Practices, Global Standard Operating Procedures,
project reviews, the Jacobs System to Ensure Project Success ("JSTEPS") and Safe Plans of Action ("SPAs") provide added value to our clients' projects. They also
allow us to create performance improvement actions during the project execution. Through continuous improvement, with our tools and our processes, we believe
we can offer our clients superior value when they do business with us.

JacobsValue+ SM ("Value Plus") is an internal tool we use to document and quantify the actual value or savings we provide to our clients and their
projects. Some of the benefits achieved through the Value Plus program include lower total installed costs, shorter schedules and reduced life cycle costs. Value
Plus is implemented at project initiation: a project goal is created and cost-saving ideas are entered into the Value Plus database. When the Value Plus cycle is
complete, the project team and client identify and agree on the unique cost and/or schedule reductions for the project.

The Company’s Strategy

Our strategy is based on three key priorities:
• Build a High Performance Culture - Reinforce a culture of accountability, inspirational leadership and innovation that will drive long-term

outperformance;
• Transform the Core - Fundamentally change the way we operate to improve project delivery, sales effectiveness and business excellence; and
• Grow Profitably - Execute a balanced strategy focused on organic growth, mergers and acquisitions and active portfolio management to drive

profitable growth in the most attractive sectors and geographies.

Employees and Safety

Our employees are our most important and valuable asset. The prevention of job-related injuries is given top priority. It is the policy of the Company to
provide and maintain a safe and healthy working environment and to follow operating practices that safeguard all employees and result in a more efficient
operation.  BeyondZero® is the name of the global program that promotes our culture of caring and goes beyond efforts to have an incident and injury-free safety
performance. We implement a culture of caring where concern for employees' health, safety and welfare extends outside the office, beyond the project site fences
and into their homes, cars and all the places where they interact with family, friends and fellow employees. We also have a mental health program that aims to
promote positive mental health across our Company.

We strive to present a clear and consistent image of our Company to our clients, employees, shareholders and business partners, regarding how we
behave, how we communicate, how we look and most importantly, how our promises to our clients are delivered, anywhere in the world.

We accomplish this foremost through our vision, mission and values, which allow us to behave as one company and unify us worldwide. By keeping our
values as a central focus of our Company, we are able to think the same way and arrive at similar conclusions, regardless of our physical location. With respect to
our values:

• Our values stand on a foundation of safety and integrity;
• People are the heart of our business;
• Clients are our valued partners;
• Performance excellence is our commitment; and
• Profitable growth is an imperative.

Our Vision statement, “Providing solutions for a more connected sustainable world” underpins our commitment to sustainability. Plan Beyond is how we
define and identify our approach to sustainability. Building on BeyondZero and our culture of caring, Plan Beyond helps us to focus on looking beyond our
company and how we contribute as a global corporate citizen. Our sustainability activities encompass stakeholders at Jacobs including our clients, our people and
wider communities, our supply chain partners and our investors.  Our people are empowered to explore, to innovate and to develop solutions that help our clients
deliver their sustainability goals. We have the experience and competency to assist our clients with the challenges of climate change, resilience of cities and
infrastructure, efficient procurement, resource reuse and recycling, water resource management, energy source management and environmental protection and
enhancement.  
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As our Company values espouse, people are the heart of our business. It is the talent of our people that is the key to our contribution to achieving our
company vision. By their innovation and determination to embed sustainability into their design and delivery of service, we will contribute significantly to address
the challenges facing sustainability through the thousands of clients and their stakeholders, whom we work with every year.

Applying the best, most efficient and effective sustainable solutions for clients worldwide, in all major industries in which our clients operate, allows us to
make a significant contribution to a safe and sustainable future. We periodically issue a Sustainability
Report
that describes many of our efforts and
accomplishments regarding sustainability.

With respect to human resources, our goal is to establish an inclusive, diverse workplace that energizes the people who fuel our Company's growth.
Although we are a large company with a workforce of approximately 80,000 people in over 40 countries, our employees are unified in their focus on superior
value, safety and ethical business practices regardless of the country in which they work and employees frequently move around the globe as they grow their
careers.

Growth Strategy

Jacobs has grown significantly since its founding in 1947.  Both organic growth and strategic acquisitions play an important part of the Company’s growth
strategy. We have acquired and integrated numerous companies over the years that have enhanced our capabilities, geographic reach and offerings.

In terms of organic growth, our relationship-based business model is central to our sustained growth and profitability. We pursue the development of long-
term relationships and alliances with our clients. By working with our clients to solve their challenges, we increase our understanding of their overall business
needs, as well as the unique technical requirements of their specific projects. This increased understanding enables us to provide superior value to our clients. Our
approach provides us with opportunities to market the following services to our clients:

• Consulting;
• System enhancements;
• Pre-design phases of large projects, which include master planning, project permitting and project finance options;
• Design phase; and
• Construction, post-start-up and commissioning phases of a facility, including operations and maintenance services.

Our relationships with clients also present ongoing opportunities to expand into adjacent sectors. For example, clients operating in the mining and
minerals market often have a need for our infrastructure and buildings capabilities. The same is true for clients operating in other sectors.

We market our services to clients in a wide range of public, institutional, process and industrial sectors. We are able to price contracts competitively and
enhance overall profitability while delivering additional value to our clients by integrating and bundling our services and providing differentiated solutions. In
complex economic times, we believe we have the ability to evolve along with industry cycles worldwide. When opportunities decrease in a particular sector or
geography, other opportunities often increase. Because of our focused industry diversity, we believe we are well positioned to address a wide range of opportunities
across many sectors and geographies, which helps us grow our business.

The Role of Strategic Transactions in the Development of Our Business

Jacobs pursues acquisitions, divestitures and other transactions to drive long-term value and profitable growth by positioning us in the most attractive
sectors and geographies. When we review acquisition targets, we are conscious of the effect the acquisition may have on our client base. We favor acquisitions that
are aligned with our growth strategy, which target enhancements of our capabilities and add value to our customers and shareholders. We do this by (i) expanding
into a new client sector; (ii) enhancing the range of services we provide existing clients; and/or (iii) accessing new geographic areas in which our clients either
already operate or plan to expand. By expanding into new geographic areas and adding to our existing technical and project management capabilities, we strive to
position ourselves as a preferred, single-source provider of technical, professional, and construction services to our clients.

See the following brief description of some of our recent key acquisitions:

Page 6



• On December 15, 2017, we acquired CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd (CH2M) headquartered in Denver, Colorado. CH2M provides international
engineering, construction and technical services.

• On August 31, 2017, we acquired Blue Canopy, LLC headquartered in Reston, Virginia. Blue Canopy provides data analytics, cybersecurity and
application development.

• On January 27, 2017, we acquired Aquenta Consulting Pty Ltd. (“Aquenta”) headquartered in Sydney, Australia. Aquenta provides integrated
project services.

• On April 12, 2016, we acquired The Van Dyke Technology Group, Inc. (“Van Dyke”) headquartered in Columbia, Maryland. Van Dyke
provides advanced cybersecurity services and solutions designed to protect sensitive information within classified networks, with a focus on
supporting the U.S. Intelligence Community.

• On December 7, 2015, we acquired J.L. Patterson & Associates (“JLP”) headquartered in Orange, California.  JLP is a consulting and
professional services engineering firm specializing in rail planning, environmental permitting, design and construction management. It provides
services to numerous public transit agencies and is a major provider of professional consulting services to Class 1 railroads across the U.S.

In line with our strategy of driving long-term value and profitable growth, on October 21, 2018, Jacobs and WorleyParsons Limited, a company
incorporated in Australia (“Buyer”), entered into a Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement pursuant to which Buyer agreed to acquire the Company’s Energy,
Chemicals and Resource business (the "ECR Business") for an aggregate purchase price of $3.3 billion. The Transaction is expected to close in the first half of
calendar year 2019.

For additional information regarding certain issues related to our acquisition strategy, please refer to Item 1A-  Risk
Factors
below.

Lines of Business

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018, we reorganized our operating and reporting structure around three global lines of business (“LOBs”), which also
serve as the Company’s operating segments: (i) Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear, (ii) Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities, and
(iii) Energy, Chemicals and Resources. This reorganization occurred in conjunction with the integration of CH2M into the Company's legacy businesses, and was
intended to better serve our global clients, leverage our workforce, help streamline operations and provide enhanced growth opportunities. The Company’s LOB
leadership and internal reporting structures report to the Chief Executive Officer, who is also the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), and enable the
CODM to evaluate the performance of each of these segments and make appropriate resource allocations among each of the segments. The sales function is
managed on an LOB basis, and accordingly, the associated cost is embedded in the new segments and reported to the respective LOB presidents. In addition, a
portion of the costs of other support functions (e.g., finance, legal, human resources and information technology) is allocated to each LOB using methodologies
which, we believe, effectively attribute the cost of these support functions to the revenue generating activities of the Company on a rational basis. The cost of the
Company’s cash incentive plan, the Management Incentive Plan (“MIP”) and the expense associated with the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive
Plan (“1999 SIP”) have likewise been charged to the LOBs except for those amounts determined to relate to the business as a whole (which amounts remain in
other corporate expenses).

Segments

As discussed above, the services we provide fall into the following three lines of business (“LOB”): (i) Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and
Nuclear, (ii) Buildings, Infrastructure, and Advanced Facilities and (iii) Energy, Chemicals and Resources which are also the Company’s reportable segments.    

For additional information regarding our segments, including information about our financial results by segment and financial results by geography, see
Note 17 - Segment
Information
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Aerospace,
Technology,
Environmental
and
Nuclear
(ATEN)

We provide an in-depth range of scientific, engineering, construction, nuclear, environmental and technical support services to the aerospace, defense,
technical and automotive industries in several countries. Long-term clients include the Ministry of Defence in the U.K., the U.K. Nuclear Decommissioning
Authority, NASA, the U.S. Department of Energy ("DoE"), the U.S. Department of Defense (“DoD”), the U.S. Special Operations Command ("USSOCOM"), the
U.S. Intelligence community and the Australian Department of Defence. Specific to NASA, one of our major government customers in the U.S., is our ability to
design, build, operate and maintain highly complex facilities relating to space systems, including test and evaluation facilities, launch facilities and support
infrastructure. We provide support to all phases of the nuclear life-cycle from initial planning through design, construction, commissioning, operations and
decommissioning/decontamination on government sites within the U.S. and Canada

Page 7



and on both government and commercial sites in the U.K. We provide environmental characterization and restoration services to commercial and government
customers both in the U.S. and U.K. This includes designing, building and operating high hazard remediation systems including for radiologically contaminated
media.

In addition, we design and build aerodynamic, climatic, altitude and acoustic facilities in support of the automotive industry, as well as provide a wide
range of services in the telecommunications market.

Our experience in the defense sector includes military systems acquisition management and strategic planning; operations and maintenance of test
facilities and ranges; test and evaluation services in computer, laboratory, facility and range environments; test facility computer systems instrumentation and
diagnostics; and test facility design and build. We also provide systems engineering and integration of complex weapons and space systems, as well as hardware
and software design of complex flight and ground systems.

We have provided advanced technology engineering services to the DoD for more than 50 years, and currently support major defense programs in the
U.S. and internationally. We operate and maintain several DoD test centers and provide services and assist in the acquisition and development of systems and
equipment for Special Operations Forces, as well as the development of biological, chemical, and nuclear detection and protection systems.

We maintain enterprise information systems for government and commercial clients worldwide, ranging from the operation of complex computational
networks to the development and validation of specific software applications. We also support the DoD and the intelligence community in a number of information
technology programs, including network design, integration, and support; command and control technology; development and maintenance of databases and
customized applications; and cyber security solutions.

Buildings,
Infrastructure
and
Advanced
Facilities
(BIAF)

We provide services to broad sectors including buildings, water, transportation (roads, rail, aviation and ports) and advanced facilities for life sciences,
semiconductors, data centers, consumer products and other advanced manufacturing operations throughout North America, Europe, India, the Middle East,
Australia and Asia. Our representative clients include national government departments/agencies in the U.S., Europe, U.K., Australia and Asia, state and local
departments of transportation within the U.S. and private industry firms.

Typical projects include providing development/rehabilitation plans for highways, bridges, transit, tunnels, airports, railroads, intermodal facilities and
maritime or port projects. Our interdisciplinary teams can work independently or as an extension of the client’s staff. We have experience with alternative
financing methods, which have been used in Europe through the privatization of public infrastructure systems.

Our water infrastructure group aids emerging economies, which are investing heavily in water and wastewater systems and governments in North
America and Europe, which are addressing the challenges of drought and an aging infrastructure system. We develop or rehabilitate critical water resource systems,
water/wastewater conveyance systems and flood defense projects. We provide full life cycle services including engineering design, construction management,
design build and operations and maintenance.

We also plan, design and construct buildings for a variety of clients and markets. We believe our global presence and understanding of contracting and
delivery demands keep us well positioned to provide professional services worldwide. Our diversified client base encompasses both public and private sectors and
relates primarily to institutional, commercial, government and corporate buildings, including projects at many of the world's leading medical and research centers,
and universities. We focus our efforts and resources in two areas: where capital-spending initiatives drive demand, and where changes and advances in
technology require innovative, value-adding solutions. We also provide integrated facility management services (sometimes through joint ventures with third
parties) for which we assume responsibility for the ongoing operation and maintenance of entire commercial or industrial complexes on behalf of clients.

We have specific capabilities in energy and power, master planning, and commissioning of office headquarters, aviation facilities, mission-critical
facilities, municipal and civic buildings, courts and correctional facilities, mixed-use and commercial centers, healthcare and education campuses and recreational
complexes. For advanced technology clients, who require highly specialized buildings in the fields of medical research, nano science, biotechnology and laser
sciences, we offer total integrated design and construction management solutions. We also have global capabilities in the pharma-bio, data center, government
intelligence, corporate headquarters/interiors and science and technology-based education markets. Our government building projects include large, multi-year
programs in the U.S. and Europe supporting various U.S. and U.K. government agencies.
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We provide our Life Sciences clients single-point consulting, engineering, procurement, construction management and validation project delivery,
enabling us to execute capital programs on a single-responsibility basis. Typical projects in the life sciences sector include laboratories, research and development
facilities, pilot plants, bulk active pharmaceutical ingredient production facilities, full-scale biotechnology production facilities and tertiary manufacturing facilities.
Our manufacturing business areas include the Food & Beverage, Consumer Products and Pulp & Paper markets.

We provide services relating to modular construction, as well as other consulting and strategic planning to help our clients complete capital projects faster
and more efficiently.

In addition, we offer services in containment, barrier technology, locally controlled environments, building systems automation and off-the-site design
and fabrication of facility modules, as well as vaccine production and purification and aseptic processing.

Energy,
Chemicals
and
Resources
(ECR)

We serve the energy, chemicals and resources sectors, including upstream, midstream and downstream oil, gas, refining, chemicals and mining and
minerals industries. We provide integrated delivery of complex projects for our Oil and Gas, Refining and Petrochemicals clients. Bridging the upstream,
midstream and downstream industries, our services encompass consulting, engineering, procurement, construction, maintenance and project management.

We provide services relating to onshore and offshore oil and gas production facilities, including fixed and floating platforms and subsea tie-backs, as well
as full field development solutions, including processing facilities, gathering systems, transmission pipelines and terminals. Our heavy oil experience makes us a
leader in upgrading, steam-assisted gravity drainage and in-situ oil sands projects. We have developed modular well pad and central processing facility designs. We
also provide fit-for-purpose and standardized designs in the onshore conventional and unconventional space, paying particular attention to water and environmental
issues.

In addition, we provide our refining customers with feasibility/economic studies, technology evaluation and conceptual engineering, front end loading
(FEED), detailed engineering, procurement, construction, maintenance and commissioning services. We deliver installed engineering, procurement and
construction (EPC) solutions as to grass root plants, expansions and revamps of existing units. We have engineering alliances and maintenance programs that span
decades with core clients. With the objective of driving our clients’ total installed costs down, we endeavor to leverage emerging market sourcing and high value
engineering. Our Comprimo Sulfur Solutions® is a significant technology for gas treatment and sulfur recovery plants around the world.

We provide services to technically complex petrochemical facilities, from new manufacturing complexes to expansions and modifications and
management of plant relocations. We have experience with many licensed technologies, integrated basic petrochemicals, commodity and specialty chemicals
projects and olefins, aromatics, synthesis gas and their respective derivatives.

Our mining and minerals business targets the non-ferrous and ferrous metal markets, precious metals, energy minerals (uranium, coal, oil sands), and
industrial and fertilizer minerals (borates, trona, phosphates and potash). We work with many resource companies undertaking new and existing facility upgrades,
process plant and underground and surface material handling and infrastructure developments.

We offer project management, front-end studies, full engineering, procurement and construction management (“EPCM”), and engineering, procurement
and construction (“EPC”) capabilities and completions, commissioning and start-up services specializing in new plant construction, brownfield expansions and
sustaining capital and maintenance projects. We are also able to deliver value to our mining clients by providing distinctive adjacent large infrastructure
capabilities to support their mining operations.

We provide a wide range of services, technology and manufactured equipment through our specialty chemicals group, where we own and license our
proprietary technology. Our specialty chemicals areas are focused on sulfuric acid, sulphur, bleaching chemicals for pulp & paper and synthetic chemicals and
manufactured equipment.

Our global Field Services unit supports construction and operations and maintenance (“O&M”) across the company and performs our direct hire services.

Our construction activities include providing both construction management services and traditional field construction services to our clients. Historically,
our field construction activities focused primarily on those construction projects where we perform much of the related engineering and design work (EPC/EPCM).
However, we deliver construction-only projects when we
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have negotiated pricing and other contract terms we deem acceptable and which result in a fair return for the degree of risk we assume.

In our O&M business, we provide all services required to operate and maintain large, complex facilities on behalf of clients including asset management,
direct hire maintenance and operations, complex turn-around planning and execution and small capital programs. We provide key management and support
services over all aspects of the operations of a facility, including managing subcontractors and other on-site personnel.

Backlog

Backlog is not a defined measure and our methodology for determining backlog may vary from the methodology used by other companies. Currently, we
report a combined backlog number based upon the legacy reporting methodologies used by Jacobs and the acquired business of CH2M prior to the acquisition
while we work to harmonize these reporting methodologies as part of the Company's integration activities underway.

We include in backlog the total dollar amount of revenues we expect to record in the future as a result of performing work under contracts that have been
awarded to us. Our policy with respect to O&M contracts, however, is to include in backlog the amount of revenues we expect to receive for one succeeding year,
regardless of the remaining life of the contract. For national government programs (other than national government O&M contracts, which are subject to the same
policy applicable to all other O&M contracts), our policy is to include in backlog the full contract award, whether funded or unfunded, excluding option periods.
Because of variations in the nature, size, expected duration, funding commitments and the scope of services required by our contracts, the timing of when backlog
will be recognized as revenues can vary greatly between individual contracts.

Consistent with industry practice, substantially all of our contracts are subject to cancellation or termination at the option of the client, including our U.S
government work. While management uses all information available to it to determine backlog, at any given time our backlog is subject to changes in the scope of
services to be provided as well as increases or decreases in costs relating to the contracts included therein. Backlog is not necessarily an indicator of future
revenues.

Because certain contracts (e.g., contracts relating to large EPC projects as well as national government programs) can cause large increases to backlog in
the fiscal period in which we recognize the award, and because many of our contracts require us to provide services that span over a number of fiscal quarters (and
sometimes over fiscal years), we evaluate our backlog on a year-over-year basis, rather than on a sequential, quarter-over-quarter basis.

The following table summarizes our backlog for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in millions):

  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear  $ 8,857  $ 6,358  $ 4,472
Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities  11,376  6,789  7,063
Energy, Chemicals and Resources  7,066  6,642  7,226

            Total  $ 27,299  $ 19,789  $ 18,761

For additional information regarding our backlog including those risk factors specific to backlog, please refer to Item 1A - Risk Factors, and Item 7 -
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations below. Subject to the factors discussed in Item 1A - Risk Factors, we
estimate that approximately $ 10 billion, or 36% , of total backlog at September 28, 2018 will be realized as revenues within the next fiscal year.

Significant Customers

The following table sets forth the percentage of total revenues earned directly or indirectly from agencies of the U.S. federal government for each of the
last five fiscal years:  

2018  2017  2016  2015  2014
23%  19%  21%  22%  18%
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Given the percentage of total revenue derived directly from the U.S. federal government, the loss of U.S. federal government agencies as customers would
have a material adverse effect on the Company. In addition, any or all of our government contracts could be terminated, we could be suspended or debarred from
all government contract work, or payment of our costs could be disallowed. Approximately 94 % of revenue derived directly from the U.S. federal government is in
the ATEN segment.  For more information on risks relating to our government contracts, see Item 1A - Risk
Factors.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas

Selected financial information regarding the geographic areas in which we operate is included in Note 17 - Segment
Information
of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference. For fiscal 2018 , approximately 36% of
our revenues were earned from clients outside the United States. Our international operations are subject to a variety of risks, which are described under Item 1A -
Risk
Factors
below.

Contracts

While there is considerable variation in the pricing provisions of the contracts we undertake, our contracts generally fall into two broad categories: cost-
reimbursable and fixed-price. The following table sets forth the percentages of total revenues represented by these types of contracts for each of the last five fiscal
years:

 2018  2017  2016  2015  2014
Cost-reimbursable 76%  81%  82%  83%  83%
Fixed-price 24%  19%  18%  17%  17%

In accordance with industry practice, most of our contracts (including those with the U.S. federal government) are subject to termination at the discretion
of the client, which is discussed in greater detail in Item
1A
-
Risk
Factors
. In such situations, our contracts typically provide for reimbursement of costs incurred
and payment of fees earned through the date of termination.

When we are directly responsible for engineering, design, procurement and construction of a project or the maintenance of a client’s plant or facility, we
reflect the costs of materials, equipment and subcontracts in both revenues and costs. The following table sets forth the approximate amount of such pass-through
costs included in revenues for each of the last five fiscal years (in millions of dollars):

2018  2017  2016  2015  2014
$ 3,058.6  $ 2,539.3  $ 2,489.9  $ 2,602.6  $ 2,954.9

On other projects, where the client elects to pay for such items directly and we have no associated responsibility for such items, these amounts are not
reflected in either revenues or costs.

Cost-Reimbursable
Contracts

Cost-reimbursable contracts generally provide for reimbursement of costs incurred plus an amount of profit. The profit element may be in the form of a
simple mark-up applied to the labor costs incurred or it may be in the form of a fee, or a combination of a mark-up and a fee. The fee element can also take several
forms. The fee may be a fixed amount; it may be an amount based on a percentage of the costs incurred; or it may be an incentive fee based on targets, milestones,
or performance factors defined in the contract. In general, we prefer cost-reimbursable contracts because we believe the primary reason for awarding a contract to
us should be our technical expertise and professional qualifications rather than price.

Fixed-Price
Contracts

Fixed-price contracts include both “lump sum bid” contracts and “negotiated fixed-price” contracts. Under lump sum bid contracts, we typically bid
against other contractors based on client-furnished specifications. This type of pricing presents certain inherent risks, including the possibility of ambiguities in the
specifications received, problems with new technologies, and economic and other changes that may occur over the contract period. Additionally, it is not unusual
for lump sum bid contracts to lead to an adversarial relationship with clients, which is contrary to our relationship-based business model. Accordingly, lump sum
bid contracts are not our preferred form of contract, and, as such, the Company has rarely entered into individual lump sum bid contracts that are material to its
financial results. In contrast, under a negotiated fixed-price contract, we are selected as the contractor first and then we negotiate a price with our client. Negotiated
fixed-price contracts frequently exist in single-responsibility arrangements where we perform some portion of the work before negotiating the total price of the
project. Thus,
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although both types of contracts involve a firm price for the client, the lump sum bid contract provides the greater degree of risk to us. However, because of
economies that may be realized during the contract term, both negotiated fixed-price and lump sum bid contracts may offer greater profit potential than other types
of contracts. The Company carefully manages the risk inherent in these types of contracts.  In recent years, most of our fixed-price work has been either negotiated
fixed-price contracts or lump sum bid contracts for project services, rather than turnkey construction.

Competition

We compete with a large number of companies across the world. Typically, no single company or companies dominate the market in which we provide
services. We compete based on the following factors, among others: price of services, technical capabilities, reputation for quality, safety record, availability of
qualified personnel, ability to timely perform work and willingness to accept project-related risk. For more information regarding the competitive conditions in our
business, please refer to Item 1A - Risk
Factors
below.

Employees

At September 28, 2018 , we had approximately 74,400 full-time, staff employees (including contract staff). Additionally, as of September 28, 2018 , there
were approximately 6,400 persons employed in the field on a project basis. The number of field employees varies in relation to the number and size of the
maintenance and construction projects in progress at any particular time.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by Paragraph (a), and Paragraphs (c) through (g) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K (except for information required by Paragraph
(e) of that Item to the extent the required information pertains to our executive officers) and Item 405 of Regulation S-K is set forth under the captions “Members
of the Board of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

The following table presents the information required by Paragraph (b) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K.

Name  Age  Position with the Company  
Year Joined the

Company
Steven J. Demetriou  60  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  2015

Kevin C. Berryman  59  
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer  2014

Terence D. Hagen  54  Chief Operating Officer  1987
Robert V. Pragada  50  Chief Operating Officer  2016
Vinayak R. Pai  52  President, Energy, Chemicals and Resources  2013
Joanne Caruso  58  Chief Legal and Administration Officer  2012

William B. Allen, Jr.  54  
Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting
Officer  2016

Michael R. Tyler  62  
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and
Chief Compliance Officer  2013

All of the officers listed in the preceding table serve in their respective capacities at the pleasure of the Board of Directors of the Company.

Mr. Demetriou joined the Company in August 2015. Mr. Demetriou served as Chairman and CEO of Aleris Corporation for 14 years, a global
downstream aluminum producer based in Cleveland, Ohio. Over the course of his career, he has gained broad experience with companies in a range of industries
including metals, specialty chemicals, oil & gas, manufacturing and fertilizers.

Mr. Berryman joined the Company in December 2014. Mr. Berryman served as EVP and CFO for five years at International Flavors and Fragrances Inc.,
an S&P 500 company and leading global creator of flavors and fragrances used in a wide variety of consumer products. Prior to that, he spent 25 years at Nestlé in
a number of finance roles including treasury, mergers & acquisitions, strategic planning and control.
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Mr. Hagen joined the Company in 1987. Mr. Hagen has worked in a number of the Company’s market sectors in both senior operational and sales roles.
Prior to becoming Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Hagen served as President of Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear (ATEN) and as Executive Vice
President, Global Sales and Marketing.

Mr. Pragada rejoined the Company in February 2016 after serving as President and Chief Executive Officer of The Brock Group since August
2014.  From March 2006 to August 2014 Mr. Pragada served in executive and senior management capacities with the Company.

Mr. Pai joined the Company in 2013. Prior to becoming President of Energy, Chemicals and Resources (ECR) in December 2017, Mr. Pai was a Senior
Vice President, holding various executive and senior management positions within ECR.

Ms. Caruso joined the Company in 2012. Prior to becoming Chief Legal and Administration Officer, Ms. Caruso was Senior Vice President of Human
Resources and previously Senior Vice President, Global Litigation. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Caruso was a partner in two international law firms, Howrey
LLP and Baker & Hostetler LLP.

Mr. Allen joined the Company in October 2016.  Mr. Allen served as Vice President, Finance and Principal Accounting Officer at Lyondellbasell
Industries, N.V. from 2013 to 2016. Prior to that, he was with Albemarle Corporation, where he served as Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief
Accounting Officer from 2009 to 2013 after serving in CFO roles for their Catalysts and Fine Chemistry businesses from 2005 to 2009.

Mr. Tyler joined the Company in June 2013. He previously served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Sanmina Corporation, a
global electronics manufacturing services provider from April 2007 to June 2013, and Chief Legal and Administrative Officer of Gateway, Inc., a computer
hardware company, from January 2004 to April 2007.

Available Information

You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F Street N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. In
order to obtain information about the operation of the Public Reference Room, a person may call the SEC at 1-800-732-0330. The SEC also maintains a site on the
Internet that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The SEC’s website is
http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and download the various reports we file with, or furnish to, the SEC free of charge from our website at www.jacobs.com .

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

We
operate
in
a
changing
global
environment
that
involves
numerous
known
and
unknown
risks
and
uncertainties
that
could
materially
adversely
affect
our
business,
financial
condition
and
results
of
operations.
The
risks
described
below
highlight
some
of
the
factors
that
have
affected
and
could
affect
us
in
the
future.
We
may
also
be
affected
by
unknown
risks
or
risks
that
we
currently
think
are
immaterial.
If
any
such
events
actually
occur,
our
business,
financial
condition
and
results
of
operations
could
be
materially
adversely
affected.

Construction and maintenance sites are inherently dangerous workplaces. If we, the owner, or others working at the project site fail to maintain safe work
sites, we can be exposed to significant financial losses and reputational harm, as well as civil and criminal liabilities.

Construction and maintenance sites often put our employees and others in close proximity with large pieces of mechanized equipment, moving vehicles,
chemical and manufacturing processes and highly regulated materials, in a challenging environment and often in geographically remote locations. If we fail to
implement such procedures or if the procedures we implement are ineffective, or if others working at the site fail to implement and follow appropriate safety
procedures, our employees and others may become injured, disabled or even lose their lives, the completion or commencement of our projects may be delayed and
we may be exposed to litigation or investigations. Unsafe work sites also have the potential to increase employee turnover, increase the cost of a project to our
clients and raise our operating and insurance costs. Any of the foregoing could result in financial losses or reputational harm, which could have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our projects can involve the handling of hazardous and other highly regulated materials, which, if improperly handled or disposed of, could
subject us to civil and/or criminal liabilities. We are also subject to regulations dealing with occupational health and safety. Although we maintain functional
groups whose primary purpose is to ensure we implement effective health, safety and environmental (“HSE”) work procedures throughout our organization,
including construction sites and
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maintenance sites, the failure to comply with such regulations could subject us to liability. In addition, despite the work of our functional groups, we cannot
guarantee the safety of our personnel or that there will be no damage to or loss of our work, equipment or supplies.

Our safety record is critical to our reputation. Many of our clients require that we meet certain safety criteria to be eligible to bid for contracts and many
contracts provide for automatic termination or forfeiture of some or all of our contract fees or profit in the event we fail to meet certain measures. Accordingly, if
we fail to maintain adequate safety standards, we could suffer reduced profitability or the loss of projects or clients, which could have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Demand for our services is cyclical as the sectors and industries in which our clients operate are impacted by economic downturns, reductions in government
or private spending and times of political uncertainty.

We provide technical, professional, construction and O&M services to clients operating in a number of sectors and industries, including oil and gas
exploration, production and refining; programs for various national governments, including the U.S. federal government; chemicals and polymers; mining and
minerals; pharmaceuticals and biotechnology; infrastructure; buildings; power; water; transportation; and other general industrial and consumer businesses and
markets (such as technology and manufacturing; pulp and paper; and food and consumer products). These sectors and industries and the resulting demand for our
services have been, and we expect will continue to be, cyclical and subject to significant fluctuations due to a variety of factors beyond our control, including
economic conditions and changes in client spending, particularly during periods of economic or political uncertainty.

Uncertain global economic and political conditions may negatively impact our clients’ ability and willingness to fund their projects, including their ability
to raise capital and pay, or timely pay, our invoices. They may also cause our clients to reduce their capital expenditures, alter the mix of services purchased, seek
more favorable price and other contract terms and otherwise slow their spending on our services. For example, in the public sector, declines in state and local tax
revenues as well as other economic declines may result in lower state and local government spending. In addition, under such conditions, many of our competitors
may be more inclined to take greater or unusual risks or accept terms and conditions in contracts that we might not deem acceptable. These conditions may reduce
the demand for our services, which may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additionally, uncertain economic and political conditions may make it difficult for our clients, our vendors, and us to accurately forecast and plan future
business activities. For example, recent changes to U.S. policies related to global trade and tariffs have resulted in uncertainty surrounding the future of the global
economy as well as retaliatory trade measures implemented by other countries. The increasing cost of steel and aluminum may impact client spending. We cannot
predict the outcome of these changing trade policies or other unanticipated political conditions, nor can we predict the timing, strength or duration of any economic
recovery or downturn worldwide or in our clients’ markets. In addition, our business has traditionally lagged recoveries in the general economy and, therefore, may
not recover as quickly as the economy at large. Weak economic conditions, a failure to obtain expected benefits from any increased infrastructure spending, or a
reduction in government spending could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, if a significant
portion of our clients or projects are concentrated in a specific geographic area or industry, our business may be disproportionately affected by negative trends or
economic downturns in those specific geographic areas or industries.

Regardless of economic or market conditions, investment decisions by our customers may vary by location or as a result of other factors like the
availability of labor or relative construction cost. Because we are dependent on the timing and funding of new awards, we are therefore vulnerable to changes in
our clients’ markets and investment decisions. As a result, our past results have varied and may continue to vary depending upon the demand for future projects in
the markets and the locations in which we operate.

Fluctuations in commodity prices may affect our customers’ investment decisions and therefore subject us to risks of cancellation, delays in existing work, or
changes in the timing and funding of new awards.

Commodity prices can affect our customers in a number of ways. For example, for those customers that produce commodity products such as oil, gas,
copper, or fertilizers, fluctuations in price can have a direct effect on their profitability and cash flow and, therefore, their willingness to continue to invest or make
new capital investments. Furthermore, declines in commodity prices can negatively impact our business in regions whose economies are substantially dependent on
commodity prices, such as the Middle East. To the extent commodity prices decline or fluctuate and our customers defer new investments or cancel or delay
existing projects, the demand for our services decreases, which may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Commodity prices can also strongly affect the costs of projects. Rising commodity prices can negatively impact the potential returns on investments that
are planned, as well as those in progress, and result in customers deferring new investments or canceling or delaying existing projects. Cancellations and delays
have affected our past results and may continue to do so in significant and unpredictable ways and could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our project execution activities may result in liability for faulty services.

If we fail to provide our services in accordance with applicable professional standards or contractual requirements, we could be exposed to significant
monetary damages or even criminal violations. Our engineering practice, for example, involves professional judgments regarding the planning, design,
development, construction, operations and management of industrial facilities and public infrastructure projects. While we do not generally accept liability for
consequential damages in our contracts, and although we have adopted a range of insurance, risk management and risk avoidance programs designed to reduce
potential liabilities, a catastrophic event at one of our project sites or completed projects resulting from the services we have performed could result in significant
professional or product liability and warranty or other claims against us as well as reputational harm, especially if public safety is impacted. These liabilities could
exceed our insurance limits or the fees we generate, may not be covered by insurance at all due to various exclusions in our coverage and could impact our ability
to obtain insurance in the future. Further, even where coverage applies, the policies have deductibles, which result in our assumption of exposure for certain
amounts with respect to any claim filed against us. In addition, clients or subcontractors who have agreed to indemnify us against any such liabilities or losses
might refuse or be unable to pay us. An uninsured claim, either in part or in whole, as well as any claim covered by insurance but subject to a high deductible, if
successful and of a material magnitude, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our continued success is dependent upon our ability to hire, retain, and utilize qualified personnel.

The success of our business is dependent upon our ability to hire, retain and utilize qualified personnel, including engineers, architects, designers, craft
personnel and corporate management professionals who have the required experience and expertise at a reasonable cost. The market for these and other personnel
is competitive. From time to time, it may be difficult to attract and retain qualified individuals with the expertise, and in the timeframe, demanded by our clients, or
to replace such personnel when needed in a timely manner. In certain geographic areas, for example, we may not be able to satisfy the demand for our services
because of our inability to successfully hire and retain qualified personnel. Furthermore, some of our personnel hold government granted clearance that may be
required to obtain government projects. If we were to lose some or all of these personnel, they would be difficult to replace. Loss of the services of, or failure to
recruit, qualified technical and management personnel could limit our ability to successfully complete existing projects and compete for new projects.

In addition, in the event that any of our key personnel retire or otherwise leave the Company, we need to have appropriate succession plans in place and to
successfully implement such plans, which requires devoting time and resources toward identifying and integrating new personnel into leadership roles and other
key positions. If we cannot attract and retain qualified personnel or effectively implement appropriate succession plans, it could have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The cost of providing our services, including the extent to which we utilize our workforce, affects our profitability. For example, the uncertainty of
contract award timing can present difficulties in matching our workforce size with our contracts. If an expected contract award is delayed or not received, we could
incur costs resulting from excess staff, reductions in staff, or redundancy of facilities that could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
conditions and results of operations.

If we do not have adequate indemnification for our nuclear services, it could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The Price-Anderson Nuclear Industries Indemnity Act, commonly called the Price-Anderson Act (“PAA”), is a U.S. federal law, which, among other
things, regulates radioactive materials and the nuclear energy industry, including liability and compensation in the event of nuclear related incidents. The PAA
provides certain protections and indemnification to nuclear energy plant operators and U.S. Department of Energy (“DOE”) contractors. The PAA protections and
indemnification apply to us as part of our services to the U.S. nuclear energy industry and DOE for new facilities, maintenance, modification, decontamination and
decommissioning of nuclear energy, weapons and research facilities.

We offer similar services in other jurisdictions outside the U.S. For those jurisdictions, varying levels of nuclear liability protection is provided by
international treaties, and/or domestic laws, such as the Nuclear Liability and Compensation Act of Canada and the Nuclear Installations Act of the United
Kingdom, insurance and/or assets of the nuclear installation operators
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(some of which are backed by governments) as well as under appropriate enforceable contractual indemnifications and hold-harmless provisions. These protections
and indemnifications, however, may not cover all of our liability that could arise in the performance of these services. To the extent the PAA or other protections
and indemnifications do not apply to our services, our business could be adversely affected because of the cost of losses associated with liability not covered by the
available protections and indemnifications, or by virtue of our loss of business because of these added costs.

We engage in a highly competitive business. If we are unable to compete effectively, we could lose market share and our business and results of operations
could be negatively impacted.

We face intense competition to provide technical, professional and construction services to clients. The markets we serve are highly competitive and we
compete against a large number of regional, national and multinational companies.  

The extent and type of our competition varies by industry, geographic area and project type. For example, with respect to our construction, operations and
maintenance services, clients generally award large projects to large contractors, which may give our larger competitors an advantage when bidding for these
projects. Conversely, with respect to our engineering, design, architectural and consulting services, low barriers of entry can result in competition with smaller,
newer competitors.

Our projects are frequently awarded through a competitive bidding process, which is standard in our industry. We are constantly competing for project
awards based on pricing, schedule and the breadth and technical sophistication of our services. Competition can place downward pressure on our contract prices
and profit margins, which may force us to accept contractual terms and conditions that are less favorable to us, thereby increasing the risk that, among other things,
we may not realize profit margins at the same rates as we have seen in the past or may become responsible for costs or other liabilities we have not accepted in the
past. If we are unable to compete effectively, we may experience a loss of market share or reduced profitability or both, which if significant, could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our results of operations depend on the award of new contracts and the timing of the performance of these contracts.

Our revenues are derived from new contract awards. Delays in the timing of the awards or cancellations of such projects as a result of economic
conditions, material and equipment pricing and availability or other factors could impact our long-term projected results. It is particularly difficult to predict
whether or when we will receive large-scale projects as these contracts frequently involve a lengthy and complex bidding and selection process, which is affected
by a number of factors, such as market conditions or governmental and environmental approvals. Since a significant portion of our revenues is generated from such
projects, our results of operations and cash flows can fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter depending on the timing of our contract awards and the
commencement or progress of work under awarded contracts. Furthermore, many of these contracts are subject to financing contingencies and, as a result, we are
subject to the risk that the customer will not be able to secure the necessary financing for the project.

In addition, many of our contracts require us to satisfy specific progress or performance milestones in order to receive payment from the customer. As a
result, we may incur significant costs for engineering, materials, components, equipment, labor or subcontractors prior to receipt of payment from a customer.

The uncertainty of our contract award timing can also present difficulties in matching workforce size with contract needs. In some cases, we maintain and
bear the cost of a ready workforce that is larger than necessary under existing contracts in anticipation of future workforce needs for expected contract awards. If an
expected contract award is delayed or not received, we may incur additional costs resulting from reductions in staff or redundancy of facilities, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The outcome of pending and future claims and litigation could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are a party to claims and litigation in the normal course of business. Since we engage in engineering and construction activities for large facilities and
projects where design, construction or systems failures can result in substantial injury or damage to employees or others, we are exposed to substantial claims and
litigation and investigations if there is a failure at any such facility or project. Such claims could relate to, among other things, personal injury, loss of life, business
interruption, property damage, pollution and environmental damage and be brought by our clients or third parties, such as those who use or reside near our clients’
projects. We can also be exposed to claims if we agreed that a project will achieve certain performance standards or satisfy certain technical requirements and those
standards or requirements are not met. In many of our contracts with clients, subcontractors and vendors, we agree to retain or assume potential liabilities for
damages, penalties, losses and other exposures relating to projects

Page 16



that could result in claims that greatly exceed the anticipated profits relating to those contracts. In addition, while clients and subcontractors may agree to
indemnify us against certain liabilities, such third parties may refuse or be unable to pay us.

With a workforce of approximately 80,000 people globally, we are also party to labor and employment claims in the normal course of business. Such
claims could relate to allegations of harassment and discrimination, pay equity, denial of benefits, wage and hour violations, whistleblower protections, concerted
protected activity, and other employment protections, and may be pursued on an individual or class action basis depending on applicable laws and regulations.
Some of such claims may be insurable, while other such claims may not.

We maintain insurance coverage for various aspects of our business and operations. Our insurance programs have varying coverage limits as well as
exclusions for matters such as fraud, and insurance companies may attempt to deny claims for which we seek coverage. In addition, we have elected to retain a
portion of losses that may occur through the use of various deductibles, retentions and limits under these programs. As a result, we may be subject to future liability
for which we are only partially insured, or completely uninsured.

Although in the past we have been generally able to cover our insurance needs, there can be no assurances that we can secure all necessary or appropriate
insurance in the future, or that such insurance can be economically secured. For example, catastrophic events can result in decreased coverage limits, coverage that
is more limited, or increased premium costs or higher deductibles. We monitor the financial health of the insurance companies from which we procure insurance,
which is one of the factors we take into account when purchasing insurance. Our insurance is purchased from a number of the world's leading providers, often in
layered insurance or quota share arrangements. If any of our third party insurers fail, abruptly cancel our coverage or otherwise cannot satisfy their insurance
requirements to us, then our overall risk exposure and operational expenses could be increased and our business operations could be interrupted.

In addition, the nature of our business sometimes results in clients, subcontractors and vendors presenting claims to us for, among other things, recovery
of costs related to certain projects. Similarly, we occasionally present change orders and claims to our clients, subcontractors and vendors for, among other things,
additional costs exceeding the original contract price. If we fail to document properly the nature of our claims and change orders or are otherwise unsuccessful in
negotiating reasonable settlements with our clients, subcontractors and vendors, we could incur cost overruns, reduced profits or, in some cases, a loss for a project.
Further, these claims can be the subject of lengthy negotiations, arbitration or litigation proceedings, which could result in the investment of significant amounts of
working capital pending the resolution of the relevant change orders and claims. A failure to promptly recover on these types of claims could have a material
adverse impact on our liquidity and financial results. Additionally, irrespective of how well we document the nature of our claims and change orders, the cost to
prosecute and defend claims and change orders can be significant.

Litigation and regulatory proceedings are subject to inherent uncertainties and unfavorable rulings can and do occur. Pending or future claims against us
could result in professional liability, product liability, criminal liability, warranty obligations, default under our credit agreements and other liabilities which, to the
extent we are not insured against a loss or our insurer fails to provide coverage, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

The nature of our contracts, particularly those that are fixed-price, subjects us to risks of cost overruns. We may experience reduced profits or, in some cases,
losses if costs increase above budgets or estimates or if the project experiences schedule delays.

For fiscal 2018 , approximately 24% of our revenues were earned under fixed-price contracts. Both fixed-price and many cost reimbursable contracts
require us to estimate the total cost of the project in advance of our performance. For fixed-price contracts, we may benefit from any cost-savings, but we bear
greater risk of paying some, if not all, of any cost overruns. Fixed-price contracts are established in part on partial or incomplete designs, cost and scheduling
estimates that are based on a number of assumptions, including those about future economic conditions, commodity and other materials pricing and availability of
labor, equipment and materials and other exigencies. If the design or the estimates prove inaccurate or if circumstances change due to, among other things,
unanticipated technical problems, difficulties in obtaining permits or approvals, changes in local laws or labor conditions, weather or other delays beyond our
control, changes in the costs of equipment or raw materials, our vendors’ or subcontractors’ inability or failure to perform, or changes in general economic
conditions, then cost overruns may occur and we could experience reduced profits or, in some cases, a loss for that project. These risks are exacerbated for projects
with long-term durations because there is an increased risk that the circumstances on which we based our original estimates will change in a manner that increases
costs. If the project is significant, or there are one or more issues that impact multiple projects, costs overruns could have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our contracts that are fundamentally cost reimbursable in nature may also present a risk to the extent the final cost on a project exceeds the amount the
customer expected or budgeted. Like fixed-price contracts, the expected cost of cost-reimbursable projects are based in part on partial design and our estimates of
the resources and time necessary to perform such contracts. A portion of the fee is often linked to these estimates and the related final cost and schedule objectives,
and if for whatever reason these objectives are not met, the project may be less profitable than we expect or even result in losses.

The contracts in our backlog may be adjusted, canceled or suspended by our clients and, therefore, our backlog is not necessarily indicative of our future
revenues or earnings. Additionally, even if fully performed, our backlog is not a good indicator of our future gross margins.

Backlog represents the total dollar amount of revenues we expect to record in the future as a result of performing work under contracts that have been
awarded to us. As of the end of fiscal 2018 , our backlog totaled approximately $27.3 billion . There is no assurance that backlog will actually be realized as
revenues in the amounts reported or, if realized, will result in profits. In accordance with industry practice, substantially all of our contracts are subject to
cancellation, termination, or suspension at the discretion of the client, including our U.S. government work. In the event of a project cancellation, we would
generally have no contractual right to the total revenue reflected in our backlog. Projects can remain in backlog for extended periods of time because of the nature
of the project and the timing of the particular services required by the project. The risk of contracts in backlog being canceled or suspended generally increases
during periods of widespread economic slowdowns or in response to changes in commodity prices.

The contracts in our backlog are subject to changes in the scope of services to be provided as well as adjustments to the costs relating to the contracts. The
revenue for certain contracts included in backlog is based on estimates. Additionally, the way we perform on our individual contracts can affect greatly our gross
margins and hence, future profitability.

In some markets, there is a continuing trend towards cost-reimbursable contracts with incentive-fee arrangements. Typically, our incentive fees are based
on such things as achievement of target completion dates or target costs, overall safety performance, overall client satisfaction and other performance criteria. If we
fail to meet such targets or achieve the expected performance standards, we may receive a lower, or even zero, incentive fee resulting in lower gross margins.
Accordingly, there is no assurance that the contracts in backlog, assuming they produce the revenues currently expected, will generate gross margins at the rates we
have realized in the past.

Contracts with the U.S. federal government and other governments and their agencies pose additional risks relating to future funding and compliance.

Contracts with the U.S. federal government and other governments and their agencies, which are a significant source of our revenue and profit, are subject
to various uncertainties, restrictions, and regulations including oversight audits by various government authorities as well as profit and cost controls, which could
result in withholding or delay of payments to us. Government contracts are also exposed to uncertainties associated with funding such as sequestration and budget
deficits. Contracts with the U.S. federal government, for example, are subject to the uncertainties of Congressional funding. Governments are typically under no
obligation to maintain funding at any specific level, and funds for government programs may even be eliminated. Legislatures typically appropriate funds on a
year-by-year basis, while contract performance may take more than one year. As a result, contracts with government agencies may be only partially funded or may
be terminated, and we may not realize all of the potential revenue and profit from those contracts.

Our government clients may reduce the scope of or terminate our contracts for convenience or decide not to renew our contracts with little or no prior
notice. Since government contracts represent a significant percentage of our revenues (for example, those with the U.S. federal government represented
approximately 23% of our total revenue in fiscal 2018 ), a significant reduction in government funding or the loss of such contracts could have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Most government contracts are awarded through a rigorous competitive process. The U.S. federal government has increasingly relied upon multiple-year
contracts with multiple contractors that generally require those contractors to engage in an additional competitive bidding process for each task order issued under a
contract. This process may result in us facing significant additional pricing pressure and uncertainty and incurring additional costs. Moreover, we may not be
awarded government contracts because of existing policies designed to protect small businesses and under-represented minorities. Our inability to win new
contracts or be awarded work under existing contracts could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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In addition, government contracts are subject to specific procurement regulations and a variety of other socio-economic requirements, which affect how
we transact business with our clients and, in some instances, impose additional costs on our business operations. For example, for contracts with the U.S. federal
government, we must comply with the Federal Acquisition Regulation, the Truth in Negotiations Act, the Cost Accounting Standards, and numerous regulations
governing environmental protection and employment practices. Government contracts also contain terms that expose us to heightened levels of risk and potential
liability than non-government contracts. This includes, for example, unlimited indemnification obligations.

We also are subject to government audits, investigations, and proceedings. For example, government agencies such as the U.S. Defense Contract Audit
Agency routinely review and audit us to determine the adequacy of and our compliance with our internal control systems and policies and whether allowable costs
are in accordance with applicable regulations. These audits can result in a determination that a rule or regulation has been violated or that adjustments are necessary
to the amount of contract costs we believe are reimbursable by the agencies and the amount of our overhead costs allocated to the agencies.

If we violate a rule or regulation, fail to comply with a contractual or other requirement or do not satisfy an audit, a variety of penalties can be imposed on
us including monetary damages and criminal and civil penalties. For example, in so-called “qui tam” actions brought by individuals or the government under the
U.S. Federal False Claims Act or under similar state and local laws, treble damages can be awarded. In addition, any or all of our government contracts could be
terminated, we could be suspended or debarred from all government contract work, or payment of our costs could be disallowed. The occurrence of any of these
actions could harm our reputation and have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Many of our federal government contracts require us to have security clearances, which can be difficult and time consuming to obtain. If our employees or
our facilities are unable to obtain or retain the necessary security clearances, our clients could terminate or not renew existing contracts or award us new contracts,
which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations could be negatively impacted.

Our use of joint ventures and partnerships exposes us to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control.

As is common in our industry, we perform certain contracts as a member of joint ventures, partnerships, and similar arrangements. This situation exposes
us to a number of risks, including the risk that our partners may be unable to fulfill their obligations to us or our clients.

Further, we have limited ability to control the actions of our joint venture partners, including with respect to nonperformance, default, bankruptcy or legal
or regulatory compliance. Our partners may be unable or unwilling to provide the required levels of financial support to the partnerships. If these circumstances
occur, we may be liable for claims and losses attributable to the partner by operation of law or contract. These circumstances could also lead to disputes and
litigation with our partners or clients, all of which could have a material adverse impact on our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

We depend on the management effectiveness of our joint venture partners. Differences in views among the joint venture participants may result in delayed
decisions or in failures to agree on major issues, which could materially affect the business and operations of these ventures. In addition, in many of the countries in
which we engage in joint ventures, it may be difficult to enforce our contractual rights under the applicable joint venture agreement. If we are not able to enforce
our contractual rights, we may not be able to realize the benefits of the joint venture or we may be subject to additional liabilities.

We participate in joint ventures and similar arrangements in which we are not the controlling partner. In these cases, we have limited control over the
actions of the joint venture. These joint ventures may not be subject to the same requirements regarding internal controls and internal control over financial
reporting that we follow. To the extent the controlling partner makes decisions that negatively impact the joint venture or internal control problems arise within the
joint venture, it could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The failure by a joint venture partner to comply with applicable laws, regulations or client requirements could negatively impact our business and, for
government clients, could result in fines, penalties, suspension or even debarment being imposed on us, which could have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are dependent on third parties to complete many of our contracts.

Third-party subcontractors we hire perform much of the work performed under our contracts. We also rely on third-party equipment manufacturers or
suppliers to provide much of the equipment and materials used for projects. If we are unable to hire
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qualified subcontractors or find qualified equipment manufacturers or suppliers, our ability to successfully complete a project could be impaired. If we are not able
to locate qualified third-party subcontractors or the amount we are required to pay for subcontractors or equipment and supplies exceeds what we have estimated,
especially in a lump sum or a fixed-price contract, we may suffer losses on these contracts. If a subcontractor, supplier, or manufacturer fails to provide services,
supplies or equipment as required under a contract for any reason, we may be required to source these services, equipment or supplies to other third parties on a
delayed basis or on less favorable terms, which could impact contract profitability. There is a risk that we may have disputes with our subcontractors relating to,
among other things, the quality and timeliness of work performed, customer concerns about the subcontractor, or our failure to extend existing task orders or issue
new task orders under a contract. In addition, faulty workmanship, equipment or materials could impact the overall project, resulting in claims against us for failure
to meet required project specifications.

In an uncertain or downturn economic environment, third parties may find it difficult to obtain sufficient financing to help fund their operations. The
inability to obtain financing could adversely affect a third party’s ability to provide materials, equipment or services which could have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, a failure by a third party subcontractor, supplier or manufacturer to comply with applicable
laws, regulations or client requirements could negatively impact our business and, for government clients, could result in fines, penalties, suspension or even
debarment being imposed on us, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Negative conditions in the credit and financial markets and delays in receiving client payments could result in liquidity problems, adversely affecting our cost
of borrowing and our business.

Although we finance much of our operations using cash provided by operations, at times we depend on the availability of credit to grow our business and
to help fund business acquisitions. Instability in the credit markets in the U.S. or abroad could cause the availability of credit to be relatively difficult or expensive
to obtain at competitive rates, on commercially reasonable terms or in sufficient amounts. This situation could make it more difficult or more expensive for us to
access funds, refinance our existing indebtedness, enter into agreements for new indebtedness, or obtain funding through the issuance of securities or such
additional capital may not be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all. We may also enter into business acquisition agreements that require us to access credit,
which if not available at the closing of the acquisition could result in a breach of the acquisition agreement and a resulting claim for damages by the sellers of such
business. In addition, market conditions could negatively impact our clients’ ability to fund their projects and, therefore, utilize our services, which could have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, we are subject to the risk that the counterparties to our credit agreements may go bankrupt if they suffer catastrophic demand on their liquidity
that will prevent them from fulfilling their contractual obligations to us. We also routinely enter into contracts with counterparties including vendors, suppliers and
subcontractors that may be negatively impacted by events in the credit markets. If those counterparties are unable to perform their obligations to us or our clients,
we may be required to provide additional services or make alternate arrangements on less favorable terms with other parties to ensure adequate performance and
delivery of services to our clients. These circumstances could also lead to disputes and litigation with our partners or clients, which could have a material adverse
impact on our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Some of our customers, suppliers and subcontractors depend on access to commercial financing and capital markets to fund their operations. Disruptions
of the credit or capital markets could adversely affect our clients’ ability to finance projects and could result in contract cancellations or suspensions, project delays
and payment delays or defaults by our clients. In addition, clients may be unable to fund new projects, may choose to make fewer capital expenditures or otherwise
slow their spending on our services or to seek contract terms more favorable to them. Our government clients may face budget deficits that prohibit them from
funding proposed and existing projects or that cause them to exercise their right to terminate our contracts with little or no prior notice. In addition, any financial
difficulties suffered by our subcontractors or suppliers could increase our cost or adversely impact project schedules. These disruptions could materially impact our
backlog and have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we typically bill our clients for our services in arrears and are, therefore, subject to our clients delaying or failing to pay our invoices after we
have already committed resources to their projects. In weak economic environments, we may experience increased delays and failures due to, among other reasons,
our clients’ unwillingness to pay for alleged poor performance or to preserve their own working capital. If one or more clients delays in paying or fails to pay us a
significant amount of our outstanding receivables, it could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, our cash balances and short-term investments are maintained in accounts held by major banks and financial institutions located primarily in
North America, Europe, South America, Australia and Asia. Some of our accounts hold deposits in
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amounts that exceed available insurance. Although none of the financial institutions in which we hold our cash and investments have gone into bankruptcy or
forced receivership, or have been seized by their governments, there is a risk that such events may occur in the future. If any such events were to occur, we would
be at risk of not being able to access our cash, which may result in a temporary liquidity crisis that could impede our ability to fund our operations, which could
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Maintaining adequate bonding and letter of credit capacity is necessary for us to successfully bid on and win some contracts.

In line with industry practice, we are often required to provide performance or payment bonds or letters of credit to our customers. These instruments
indemnify the customer should we fail to perform our obligations under the contract. If a bond or a letter of credit is required for a particular project and we are
unable to obtain an appropriate bond or letter of credit, we cannot pursue that project. Historically, we have had adequate bonding and letter of credit capacity but,
as is typically the case, the issuance of a bond is at the surety’s sole discretion and the issuance of a letter of credit is based on the Company's credit-worthiness.
Because of an overall lack of worldwide bonding capacity, we may find it difficult to find sureties who will provide required levels of bonding or such bonding
may only be available at significant additional cost. There can be no assurance that our bonding capacity will continue to be available to us on reasonable terms. In
addition, future projects may require us to obtain letters of credit that extend beyond the term of our existing credit facilities. Our inability to obtain adequate
bonding and, as a result, to bid on new contracts that require such bonding or letter of credit could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

There can be no assurance that we will pay dividends on our common stock.

Our Board of Directors initiated a quarterly cash dividend program in fiscal 2017 under which we have paid, and intend to continue paying, regular
quarterly dividends. The declaration, amount and timing of such dividends are subject to capital availability and determinations by our Board of Directors that cash
dividends are in the best interest of our stockholders and are in compliance with all respective laws and applicable agreements.  Our ability to pay dividends will
depend upon, among other factors, our cash balances and potential future capital requirements for strategic transactions, including acquisitions, debt service
requirements, results of operations, financial condition and other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant.  A reduction in or elimination of our
dividend payments and/or our dividend program could have a material negative effect on our stock price.

Past and future environmental, health, and safety laws could impose significant additional costs and liabilities.

We are subject to a variety of environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations governing, among other things, discharges to air and water, the
handling, storage and disposal of hazardous or waste materials and the remediation of contamination associated with the releases of hazardous substances, and
human health and safety. These laws and regulations and the risk of attendant litigation can cause significant delays to a project and add significantly to its cost.
Violations of these regulations could subject us and our management to civil and criminal penalties and other liabilities.

Various U.S. federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations may impose liability for property damage and costs of investigation and
cleanup of hazardous or toxic substances on property currently or previously owned by us or arising out of our waste management or environmental remediation
activities. These laws may impose responsibility and liability without regard to knowledge of or causation of the presence of contaminants. The liability under
these laws may be joint and several. We have potential liabilities associated with our past waste management and other activities and with our current and prior
ownership of various properties. The discovery of additional contaminants or the imposition of unforeseen clean-up obligations at these or other sites could have a
material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

When we perform our services, our personnel and equipment may be exposed to radioactive and hazardous materials and conditions. We may be subject
to liability claims by employees, customers and third parties as a result of such exposures. In addition, we may be subject to fines, penalties or other liabilities
arising under environmental or safety laws. A claim, if not covered or only partially covered by insurance, could have a material adverse impact on our results of
operations and financial condition.

Health, safety, and environmental laws and regulations and policies are reviewed periodically and any changes thereto could affect us in substantial and
unpredictable ways. Such changes could, for example, relax or repeal laws and regulations relating to the environment, which could result in a decline in the
demand for our environmental services and, in turn, could negatively impact our revenue. Changes in the environmental laws and regulations, remediation
obligations, enforcement actions, stricter interpretations of existing requirements, future discovery of contamination or claims for damages to persons, property,
natural resources or the environment could result in material costs and liabilities that we currently do not anticipate. If we fail to
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comply with any environmental, health, or safety laws or regulations, whether actual or alleged, we could be exposed to fines, penalties or potential litigation
liabilities, including costs, settlements and judgments, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we and many of our clients operate in highly regulated environments, which may require us or our clients to obtain, and to comply with,
federal, state and local government permits and approvals. Any of these permits or approvals may be subject to denial, revocation or modification under various
circumstances. Failure to obtain or comply with, or the loss or modification of, the conditions of permits or approvals may subject us to penalties or other liabilities,
which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and result of operations.

If we fail to comply with federal, state, local or foreign governmental requirements, our business may be adversely affected.

We are subject to U.S. federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations that affect our business. For example, our global operations require importing
and exporting goods and technology across international borders which requires full compliance with both export regulatory laws and International Trafficking in
Arms Regulations (“ITAR”). Although we have policies and procedures to comply with U.S. and foreign international trade laws, the violation of such laws could
subject the Company and its employees to civil or criminal penalties, including substantial monetary fines, or other adverse actions including denial of import or
export privileges or debarment from participation in U.S. government contracts, and could damage our reputation and our ability to do business.

Employee, agent or partner misconduct or our overall failure to comply with laws or regulations could weaken our ability to win contracts, which could result
in reduced revenues and profits.

Misconduct, fraud, non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, or other improper activities by one of our employees, agents or partners could
have a significant negative impact on our business and reputation. Such misconduct could include the failure to comply with government procurement regulations,
regulations regarding the protection of classified information, regulations prohibiting bribery and other corrupt practices, regulations regarding the pricing of labor
and other costs in government contracts, regulations on lobbying or similar activities, regulations pertaining to the internal controls over financial reporting,
regulations pertaining to export control, environmental laws, employee wages, pay and benefits, and any other applicable laws or regulations. For example, we
routinely provide services that may be highly sensitive or that relate to critical national security matters; if a security breach were to occur, our ability to procure
future government contracts could be severely limited. The precautions we take to prevent and detect these activities may not be effective and we could face
unknown risks or losses. Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations, or acts of misconduct, could subject us to fines and penalties, cancellation of
contracts, loss of security clearance and suspension or debarment from contracting, which could weaken our ability to win contracts and result in reduced revenues
and profits and could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws.

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010, and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions generally prohibit
companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Our policies mandate compliance with
these anti-bribery laws, including the requirements to maintain accurate information and internal controls. We operate in many parts of the world that have
experienced governmental corruption to some degree and in certain circumstances; strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and
practices. Despite our training and compliance programs, there is no assurance that our internal control policies and procedures will protect us from acts committed
by our employees or agents. If we are found to be liable for FCPA or other violations (either due to our own acts or our inadvertence, or due to the acts or
inadvertence of others), we could suffer from civil and criminal penalties or other sanctions, including contract cancellations or debarment and loss of reputation,
any of which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The loss of or a significant reduction in business from one or a few customers could have a material adverse impact on us.

A few clients have in the past and may in the future account for a significant portion of our revenue and/or backlog in any one year or over a period of
several consecutive years. For example, in fiscal 2018 , 2017 and 2016 , approximately 23% , 19% and 21% , respectively, of our revenue was earned directly or
indirectly from agencies of the U.S. federal government. Although we have long-standing relationships with many of our significant clients, our clients may
unilaterally reduce, delay or cancel their contracts at any time. Our loss of or a significant reduction in business from a significant client could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Our international operations are exposed to additional risks and uncertainties, including unfavorable political developments and weak foreign economies.

For fiscal 2018 , approximately 36% of our revenue was earned from clients outside the U.S. Our business is dependent on the continued success of our
international operations, and we expect our international operations to continue to account for a significant portion of our total revenues. Our international
operations are subject to a variety of risks, including:

• Recessions and other economic crises in other regions, such as Europe, or specific foreign economies and the impact on our costs of doing
business in those countries;

• Difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including logistical and communication challenges;
• Unexpected changes in foreign government policies and regulatory requirements;
• Potential non-compliance with a wide variety of laws and regulations, including anti-corruption, export control and anti-boycott laws and similar

non-U.S. laws and regulations;
• Potential non-compliance with regulations and evolving industry standards regarding consumer protection and data use and security, including

the General Data Protection Regulation approved by the European Union;
• Lack of developed legal systems to enforce contractual rights;
• Expropriation and nationalization of our assets in a foreign country;
• Renegotiation or nullification of our existing contracts;
• The adoption of new, and the expansion of existing, trade or other restrictions;
• Embargoes, duties, tariffs or other trade restrictions, including sanctions;
• Changes in labor conditions;
• Acts of war, civil unrest, force majeure, and terrorism;
• The ability to finance efficiently our foreign operations;
• Social, political, and economic instability;
• Expropriation of property;
• Changes to tax policy;
• Currency exchange rate fluctuations;
• Limitations on the ability to repatriate foreign earnings; and
• U.S. government policy changes in relation to the foreign countries in which we operate.

The lack of a well-developed legal system in some of these countries may make it difficult to enforce our contractual rights. In addition, military action,
geopolitical shifts or continued unrest, particularly in the Middle East, could impact the supply or pricing of oil, disrupt our operations in the region and elsewhere
and increase our security costs. To the extent our international operations are affected by unexpected or adverse economic, political and other conditions, our
business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We work in international locations where there are high security risks, which could result in harm to our employees or unanticipated cost.

Some of our services are performed in high-risk locations, where the country or location is subject to political, social or economic risks, or war, terrorism
or civil unrest. In those locations where we have employees or operations, we may expend significant efforts and incur substantial security costs to maintain the
safety of our personnel. Despite these activities, in these locations, we cannot guarantee the safety of our personnel and we may suffer future losses of employees
and subcontractors. Acts of terrorism and threats of armed conflicts in or around various areas in which we operate could limit or disrupt markets and our
operations, including disruptions resulting from the evacuation of personnel, cancellation of contracts, or the loss of key employees, contractors or assets.

Foreign exchange risks may affect our ability to realize a profit from certain projects.

Our reported financial condition and results of operations are exposed to the effects (both positive and negative) that fluctuating exchange rates have on
the process of translating the financial statements of our international operations, which are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, into the U.S.
dollar. While we generally attempt to denominate our contracts in the currencies of our expenditures, we do enter into contracts that expose us to currency risk,
particularly to the extent contract revenue is denominated in a currency different than the contract costs. We attempt to minimize our exposure from currency risks
by obtaining escalation provisions for projects in inflationary economies or entering into derivative (hedging) instruments, when

Page 23



there is currency risk exposure that is not naturally mitigated via our contracts. These actions, however, may not always eliminate currency risk exposure. The
governments of certain countries have or may in the future impose restrictive exchange controls on local currencies and it may not be possible for us to engage in
effective hedging transactions to mitigate the risks associated with fluctuations in a particular currency. Based on fluctuations in currency, the U.S. dollar value of
our backlog may from time to time increase or decrease significantly. We may also be exposed to limitations on our ability to reinvest earnings from operations in
one country to fund the financing requirements of our operations in other countries.

Our operations may be impacted by the United Kingdom’s proposed exit from the European Union.

In June 2016, the U.K. held a referendum in which voters approved an exit from the E.U., commonly referred to as “Brexit.” As a result of the U.K.’s exit
from the E.U., there may be greater restrictions on imports and exports between the U.K. and E.U. countries and increased regulatory complexities. These changes
may adversely affect our relationships with our existing and future customers, suppliers, employees, and subcontractors, or otherwise have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. The ongoing negotiations between the U.K. and the E.U. as to the terms upon which the U.K. will exit from
the E.U. and the uncertainty as to their future trade agreement continues to create economic uncertainty, which may cause our customers to closely monitor their
costs, terminate or reduce the scope of existing contracts, decrease or postpone currently planned contracts, or negotiate for more favorable deal terms, each of
which may have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our business strategy relies in part on acquisitions to sustain our growth. Acquisitions of other companies present certain risks and uncertainties.

Our business strategy involves growth through, among other things, the acquisition of other companies. Acquiring companies, including CH2M HILL
Companies, Ltd., which we acquired in December 2017, presents a number of risks, including:

• Assumption of liabilities of an acquired business, including liabilities that were unknown at the time the acquisition was negotiated;
• Failure of the acquired business to comply with U.S. federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations and/or contractual requirements with

government clients;
• Valuation methodologies may not accurately capture the value of the acquired business;
• Failure to realize anticipated benefits, such as cost savings, synergies, business opportunities and growth opportunities;
• The loss of key customers or suppliers, including as a result of any actual or perceived conflicts of interest;
• Difficulties or delays in obtaining regulatory approvals, licenses and permits;
• Difficulties relating to combining previously separate entities into a single, integrated, and efficient business;
• The effects of diverting management’s attention from day-to-day operations to matters involving the integration of acquired companies;
• Potentially substantial transaction costs associated with business combinations;
• Potential impairment resulting from the overpayment for an acquisition or post-acquisition deterioration in an acquired business;
• Difficulties relating to assimilating the management, personnel, benefits, services, and systems of an acquired business and to assimilating

marketing and other operational capabilities;
• Difficulties retaining key personnel of an acquired business;
• Increased burdens on our staff and on our administrative, internal control and operating systems, which may hinder our legal and regulatory

compliance activities;
• Difficulties in applying and integrating our system of internal controls to an acquired business;
• Increased financial and accounting challenges and complexities in areas such as tax planning, treasury management, financial reporting and

internal controls;
• The potential requirement for additional equity or debt financing, which may not be available, or if available, may not have favorable terms; and
• The risks discussed in this Item 1A. Risk Factors that may relate to the activities of the acquired business prior to the acquisition.

While we may obtain indemnification rights from the sellers of acquired businesses and/or insurance that could mitigate certain of these risks, such rights
may be difficult to enforce, the losses may exceed any dedicated escrow funds and the
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indemnitors may not have the ability to financially support the indemnity, or the insurance coverage may be unavailable or insufficient to cover all losses.

If our management is unable to successfully integrate acquired companies or implement our growth strategy, our operating results could be harmed. In
addition, even if the operations of an acquisition are integrated successfully, we may not realize the full benefits of an acquisition, including the synergies, cost
savings, or sales or growth opportunities that we expect. These benefits may not be achieved within the anticipated time frame, or at all. Moreover, we cannot
assure that we will continue to successfully expand or that growth or expansion will result in profitability.

In addition, there is no assurance that we will continue to locate suitable acquisition targets or that we will be able to consummate any such transactions
on terms and conditions acceptable to us. Existing cash balances and cash flow from operations, together with borrowing capacity under our credit facilities, may
be insufficient to make acquisitions. Future acquisitions may require us to obtain additional equity or debt financing, which may not be available on attractive
terms, or at all. Acquisitions may also bring us into businesses we have not previously conducted and expose us to additional business risks that are different than
those we have traditionally experienced.

In the event we issue stock as consideration for certain acquisitions we may make, we could dilute share ownership.

One method of acquiring companies or otherwise funding our corporate activities is through the issuance of additional equity securities. If we issue
additional equity securities, such issuances could have the effect of diluting our earnings per share as well as our existing shareholders’ individual ownership
percentages in the Company.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting which, if not timely remediated, may adversely affect the accuracy and
reliability of our financial statements, and our reputation, business and the price of our common stock, as well as lead to a loss of investor confidence in us.

As described under Item 9A. “Controls and Procedures” below, management has concluded that a material weakness in our internal control over financial
reporting, specifically regarding the accounting for income taxes in connection with the CH2M business combination, existed as of September 28, 2018 and,
accordingly, internal control over financial reporting and our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of such date. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

We will take immediate action to remediate this material weakness. While we believe the steps described under Item 9A below will improve the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and remediate the identified deficiencies, if our remediation efforts are insufficient to address the
material weakness or we identify additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting in the future, our ability to analyze, record and
report financial information accurately, to prepare our financial statements within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the SEC and to otherwise
comply with our reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and our long-term debt agreements will likely be adversely affected. The occurrence of, or
failure to remediate, this material weakness and any future material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting may adversely affect the accuracy
and reliability of our financial statements and have other consequences that could materially and adversely affect our business, including an adverse impact on the
market price of our common stock, potential actions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, possible defaults under our debt agreements,
shareholder lawsuits, a loss of investor confidence and damage to our reputation.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate significantly, which could have a material negative effect on the price of our common stock.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly or fall below the expectations of securities analysts, which could have a material adverse
impact on the price of our common stock. Fluctuations are caused by a number of factors, including:

• Legal proceedings, disputes and/or government investigations;
• Fluctuations in the spending patterns of our government and commercial customers;
• The number and significance of projects executed during a quarter;
• Unanticipated changes in contract performance, particularly with contracts that have funding limits;
• The timing of resolving change orders, requests for equitable adjustments, and other contract adjustments;
• Delays incurred in connection with a project;
• Changes in prices of commodities or other supplies;
• Changes in foreign currency exchange rates;
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• Weather conditions that delay work at project sites;
• The timing of expenses incurred in connection with acquisitions or other corporate initiatives;
• The decision by the Board of Directors to begin or cease paying a dividend, and the expectation that if the Company pays dividends, it would

declare dividends at the same or higher levels in the future;
• Natural disasters or other crises;
• Staff levels and utilization rates;
• Changes in prices of services offered by our competitors; and
• General economic and political conditions.

Our actual results could differ from the estimates and assumptions used to prepare our financial statements.

In preparing our financial statements, our management is required under U.S. GAAP to make estimates and assumptions as of the date of the financial
statements. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported values of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
Areas requiring significant estimates by our management include:

• Recognition of contract revenue, costs, profit or losses in applying the principles of percentage of completion accounting;
• Estimated amounts for expected project losses, warranty costs, contract close-out or other costs;
• Recognition of recoveries under contract change orders or claims;
• Collectability of billed and unbilled accounts receivable and the need and amount of any allowance for doubtful accounts;
• Estimates of other liabilities, including litigation and insurance revenues/reserves and reserves necessary for self-insured risks;
• Accruals for estimated liabilities, including litigation reserves;
• Valuation of assets acquired, and liabilities, goodwill, and intangible assets assumed, in acquisitions;
• Valuation of stock-based compensation;
• The determination of liabilities under pension and other post-retirement benefit programs; and
• Income tax provisions and related valuation allowances.

Our actual business and financial results could differ from our estimates of such results, which could have a material adverse impact on our financial
condition and results of operations.

An impairment charge on our goodwill could have a material adverse impact on our financial position and results of operations.

Because we have grown in part through acquisitions, goodwill and intangible assets represent a substantial portion of our assets. Under U.S. GAAP, we
are required to test goodwill carried in our Consolidated Balance Sheets for possible impairment on an annual basis based upon a fair value approach. As of
September 28, 2018 , we had $6.10 billion of goodwill, representing 48.3% of our total assets of $12.65 billion . We have chosen to perform our annual impairment
reviews of goodwill at the end of the third quarter of our fiscal year. We also are required to test goodwill for impairment between annual tests if events occur or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce our enterprise fair value below its book value. These events or circumstances could include a
significant change in the business climate, including a significant sustained decline in a reporting unit’s market value, legal factors, operating performance
indicators, competition, sale or disposition of a significant portion of our business, potential government actions toward our facilities and other factors.

If our market capitalization drops significantly below the amount of net equity recorded on our balance sheet, it might indicate a decline in our fair value
and would require us to further evaluate whether our goodwill has been impaired. If the fair value of our reporting units is less than their carrying value, we could
be required to record an impairment charge. The amount of any impairment could be significant and could have a material adverse impact on our financial position
and results of operations for the period in which the charge is taken. For a further discussion of goodwill impairment testing, please see Item 7- Management’s
Discussion
and
Analysis
of
Financial
Condition
and
Results
of
Operations
below.

We may be required to contribute additional cash to meet any underfunded benefit obligations associated with retirement and post-retirement benefit plans we
manage.
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We have various employee benefit plan obligations that require us to make contributions to satisfy, over time, our underfunded benefit obligations, which
are generally determined by calculating the projected benefit obligations minus the fair value of plan assets. For example, as of September 28, 2018 and
September 29, 2017 , our defined benefit pension and post-retirement benefit plans were underfunded by $339.3 million and $252.0 million , respectively. See Note
10- Pension
and
Other
Postretirement
Benefit
Plans
in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for additional disclosure. In the future, our benefit plan obligations may increase or decrease depending on changes in the levels of interest rates, pension plan asset
performance and other factors. If we are required to contribute a significant amount of the deficit for underfunded benefit plans, our cash flows could be materially
and adversely affected.

Rising inflation, interest rates, and/or construction costs could reduce the demand for our services as well as decrease our profit on our existing contracts, in
particular with respect to our fixed-price contracts.

Rising inflation, interest rates, or construction costs could reduce the demand for our services. In addition, we bear all of the risk of rising inflation with
respect to those contracts that are fixed-price. Because a significant portion of our revenues are earned from cost-reimbursable type contracts (approximately 76%
during fiscal 2018), the effects of inflation on our financial condition and results of operations over the past few years have been generally minor. However, if we
expand our business into markets and geographic areas where fixed-price and lump-sum work is more prevalent, inflation may have a larger impact on our results
of operations in the future. Therefore, increases in inflation, interest rates or construction costs could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We may be affected by market or regulatory responses to climate change.

Growing concerns about climate change may result in the imposition of additional environmental regulations. Legislation, international protocols,
regulation or other restrictions on emissions could result in increased compliance costs for us and our clients and have other impacts on our clients, including those
who are involved in the exploration, production or refining of fossil fuels, emit greenhouse gases through the combustion of fossil fuels or emit greenhouse gases
through the mining, manufacture, utilization or production of materials or goods. Such policy changes could increase the costs of projects for our clients or, in
some cases, prevent a project from going forward, thereby potentially reducing the need for our services, which would in turn have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations. However, these changes could also increase the pace of projects, such as carbon capture or storage
projects, that could have a positive impact on our business. We cannot predict when or whether any of these various proposals may be enacted or what their effect
will be on us or on our customers.

Our effective tax rate may increase or decrease.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision
for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. We are
regularly under audit by tax authorities. Although we believe that our tax estimates and tax positions are reasonable, they could be materially affected by many
factors including the final outcome of tax audits and related litigation, the introduction of new tax accounting standards, legislation, regulations and related
interpretations, our global mix of earnings, the realizability of deferred tax assets and changes in uncertain tax positions. An increase or decrease in our effective
tax rate, or an ultimate determination that the Company owes more taxes than the amounts previously accrued, could have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition and results of operations.

Systems and information technology interruption or failure and data security or privacy breaches could adversely impact our ability to operate or expose us to
significant financial losses and reputational harm.

We rely heavily on computer, information and communications technology and related systems in order to properly operate our business. From time to
time, we experience occasional system interruptions and delays. In the event we are unable to regularly deploy software and hardware, effectively upgrade our
systems and network infrastructure and take other steps to maintain or improve the efficiency and efficacy of our systems, the operation of such systems could be
interrupted or result in the loss, corruption, or release of data. In addition, our computer and communication systems and operations could be damaged or
interrupted by natural disasters, force majeure events, telecommunications failures, power loss, acts of war or terrorism, computer viruses, malicious code, physical
or electronic security breaches, intentional or inadvertent user misuse or error or similar events or disruptions. Any of these or other events could cause
interruptions, delays, loss of critical and/or sensitive data or similar effects, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition,
protection of intellectual property and results of operations, as well as those of our clients.
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In addition, we face the threat to our computer systems of unauthorized access, computer hackers, computer viruses, malicious code, ransomware,
organized cyber-attacks and other security problems and system disruptions, including possible unauthorized access to and disclosure of our and our clients’
proprietary or classified information.
 

While we have security measures and technology in place to protect our and our clients’ proprietary or classified information, if these measures fail as a
result of a cyber-attack, other third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, and someone obtains unauthorized access to our or our clients’
information, our reputation could be damaged, our business may suffer and we could incur significant liability. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized
access or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not identified until they are launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these
techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. As a result, we may be required to expend significant resources to protect against the threat of system
disruptions and security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by these disruptions and breaches. Any of these events could damage our reputation and have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, new laws and regulations governing data privacy and the unauthorized disclosure of confidential information, including the European Union
General Data Protection Regulation, pose increasingly complex compliance challenges and potentially elevate costs, and any failure to comply with these laws and
regulations could result in significant penalties and legal liability.

We continuously evaluate the need to upgrade and/or replace our systems and network infrastructure to protect our computing environment, to stay
current on vendor supported products and to improve the efficiency of our systems and for other business reasons. The implementation of new systems and
information technology could adversely impact our operations by imposing substantial capital expenditures, demands on management time and risks of delays or
difficulties in transitioning to new systems. In addition, our systems implementations may not result in productivity improvements at the levels anticipated.
Systems implementation disruption and any other information technology disruption, if not anticipated and appropriately mitigated, could have an adverse effect on
our business.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property or that of our clients.

Our technology and intellectual property provide us, in certain instances, with a competitive advantage. Although we protect our property through
registration, licensing, contractual arrangements, security controls and similar mechanisms, we may not be able to successfully preserve our rights and they could
be invalidated, circumvented, challenged or become obsolete. Trade secrets are generally difficult to protect. Our employees and contractors are subject to
confidentiality obligations, but this protection may be inadequate to deter or prevent misappropriation of our confidential information and/or infringement of our
intellectual property. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries in which we operate do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the U.S. If
we are unable to protect and maintain our intellectual property rights or if there are any successful intellectual property challenges or infringement proceedings
against us, our ability to differentiate our service offerings could be reduced. Litigation to determine the scope of intellectual property rights, even if ultimately
successful, could be costly and could divert management’s attention away from other aspects of our business.

We also hold licenses from third parties which may be utilized in our business operations.  If we are no longer able to license such technology on
commercially reasonable terms or otherwise, our business and financial performance could be adversely affected.

If our intellectual property rights or work processes become obsolete, we may not be able to differentiate our service offerings and some of our
competitors may be able to offer more attractive services to our customers. Our competitors may independently attempt to develop or obtain access to technologies
that are similar or superior to our technologies.

Our clients or other third parties may also provide us with their technology and intellectual property. There is a risk we may not sufficiently protect our or
their information from improper use or dissemination and, as a result, could be subject to claims and litigation and resulting liabilities, loss of contracts or other
consequences that could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our businesses could be materially and adversely affected by events outside of our control.

Extraordinary or force majeure events beyond our control, such as natural or man-made disasters, could negatively impact our ability to operate. As an
example, from time to time we face unexpected severe weather conditions which may result in weather-related delays that are not always reimbursable under a
fixed-price contract; evacuation of personnel and curtailment of
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services; increased labor and material costs in areas resulting from weather-related damage and subsequent increased demand for labor and materials for repairing
and rebuilding; inability to deliver materials, equipment and personnel to job sites in accordance with contract schedules; and loss of productivity. We may remain
obligated to perform our services after any such natural or man-made event, unless a force majeure clause or other contractual provision provides us with relief
from our contractual obligations. If we are not able to react quickly to such events, or if a high concentration of our projects are in a specific geographic region that
suffers from a natural or man-made catastrophe, our operations may be significantly affected, which could have a material adverse impact on our operations. In
addition, if we cannot complete our contracts on time, we may be subject to potential liability claims by our clients which may reduce our profits.

We are subject to professional standards, duties and statutory obligations on professional reports and opinions we issue, which could subject us to monetary
damages.

We issue reports and opinions to clients based on our professional engineering expertise as well as our other professional credentials that subject us to
professional standards, duties and obligations regulating the performance of our services. For example, we issue opinions and reports to government clients in
connection with securities offerings. If a client or another third party alleges that our report or opinion is incorrect or it is improperly relied upon and we are held
responsible, we could be subject to significant monetary damages. In addition, our reports and other work product may need to comply with professional standards,
licensing requirements, securities regulations and other laws and rules governing the performance of professional services in the jurisdiction where the services are
performed. We could be liable to third parties who use or rely upon our reports and other work product even if we are not contractually bound to those third parties.
These events could in turn result in monetary damages and penalties.

Delaware law and our charter documents may impede or discourage a takeover or change of control.

We are a Delaware corporation. Certain anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware general corporation law impose restrictions on the ability of others to
acquire control of us. In addition, certain provisions of our charter documents may impede or discourage a takeover. For example:

• Only our Board of Directors can fill vacancies on the board;
• There are various restrictions on the ability of a shareholder to nominate a director for election; and
• Our Board of Directors can authorize the issuance of preferred shares.

These types of provisions, as well as our ability to adopt a shareholder rights agreement in the future, could make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire control of us, even if the acquisition would be beneficial to our shareholders. Accordingly, shareholders may be limited in the ability to obtain a premium
for their shares.

Risks Relating to the Sale of Our ECR Business

If the sale of our ECR business to WorleyParsons Limited is not completed, we will have incurred substantial expenses without our stockholders realizing the
expected benefits.

On October 21, 2018, we entered into a Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with WorleyParsons Limited, a company
incorporated in Australia (“Buyer”), pursuant to which, subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions therein, we will sell and assign to Buyer our energy,
chemicals and resources businesses (the “ECR Business”). Completion of the transaction is subject to closing conditions including, but not limited to, various
regulatory approvals. We currently expect that the transaction will be completed during the first half of calendar 2019. It is possible, however, that factors outside
of our control including, but not limited to, Buyer’s ability to secure the financing it needs to complete the transaction, could require the parties to complete the
transaction at a later time, or not to complete the transaction at all. In the event that the transaction is not consummated for any reason, we will be subject to certain
risks, including the costs related to the transaction, such as legal, accounting and advisory fees, which must be paid even if the transaction is not completed. If the
transaction is not consummated, the market price of our common stock could decline. We also could be subject to litigation related to any failure to complete the
transaction or related to any enforcement proceeding commenced against us to perform our obligations under the Purchase Agreement. Additionally, if the
transaction is not consummated, there may not be an alternative party interested in and able to purchase the ECR Business and if an alternative party is identified,
such alternative transaction may not result in a comparable aggregate purchase price to what is proposed in this transaction.

We will be subject to business uncertainties and contractual restrictions while the transaction is pending.
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The pursuit of the transaction and the preparation for the integration of the related assets with Buyer may place a significant burden on management and
internal resources. Additionally, our continued success depends, in part, upon our ability to retain the talents and dedication of our employees and employees may
decide not to remain with us while the transaction is pending. Any significant diversion of management and employee attention away from ongoing business, loss
of employees and difficulties encountered in the transition and integration process could affect our financial results.

In addition, the Purchase Agreement generally requires that we operate the ECR Business in theordinary course of business and restricts us from taking
certain actions, including selling any assets of the ECR Business, prior to the consummation of the transaction or termination of the Purchase Agreement without
Buyer’s consent. These restrictions may prevent us from pursuing attractive business opportunities that may arise prior to the completion of the transaction.
Additionally, as a result of these business uncertainties, our current and potential business partners may decide to delay, defer or cancel entering into new business
arrangements with us pending completion or termination of the transaction.

Regulatory  approvals,  including  antitrust  approval,  necessary  for  closing  the  Purchase  Agreement  may  not  be  received,  may  take  longer  than  expected  or
impose conditions that are not presently anticipated.

Before the transaction may be completed, certain approvals or consents must be obtained from the various regulatory authorities in the United States and
in certain foreign jurisdictions in which the ECR Business operates, including the expiration or termination of the waiting period applicable under the Hart-Scott-
Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the “HSR Act”), the approvals required pursuant to or in connection with the competition laws of certain
foreign jurisdictions in which the ECR Business operates and the receipt of approval from the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (“CFIUS”).
There can be no assurance as to whether regulatory approvals will be received or the timing of the approvals. Buyer is only required to take commercially
reasonable efforts to assist us in obtaining regulatory approvals of the transaction.

Under the Purchase Agreement, we will be responsible for indemnifying Buyer with respect to certain liabilities in a manner that could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition.

We have agreed to indemnify Buyer for damages resulting from or arising out of any liabilities relating to the ECR Business not assumed by Buyer in the
transaction and for certain other matters. Significant indemnification claims by Buyer could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Any event
that results in a right for Buyer to seek indemnity from us under the Purchase Agreement could result in a substantial payment from us to Buyer and could
adversely affect our results of operations.

We may be held liable to Buyer if we fail to perform certain services under the transition services agreement, and the performance of such services may
negatively impact our business and operations.

We have agreed to enter into a transition services agreement with Buyer in connection with the transaction pursuant to which we will provide Buyer, on
an interim, transitional basis, various services, including, but not limited to, executive consultation services, employee benefits administration, human resources
and payroll services, tax services, financial and accounting services, information technology services, regulatory services, project management services for certain
client contracts, general administrative services and other support services. If we do not satisfactorily perform our obligations under the agreement, we may be
required to re-perform such services at no additional cost. In addition, during the transition services period, our management and employees may be required to
divert their attention away from our business in order to provide services to Buyer, which could adversely affect our business.

Because the share consideration component of the purchase price is fixed and the market price of Buyer’s ordinary shares and the exchange rate between U.S.
and Australian dollars may fluctuate, we cannot be sure of the value of Buyer’s ordinary shares that we will receive on the closing date or at the time we seek
to sell the ordinary shares.

Upon completion of the transaction, we will receive 58,197,867 Buyer’s ordinary shares. The number of Buyer’s ordinary shares that we will receive in
the transaction is fixed and will not be adjusted for changes in the market price of Buyer’s ordinary shares or for any changes in the exchange rate between U.S.
and Australian dollars, which will both likely fluctuate before and after the completion of the transaction. Fluctuations in the value of the Buyer’s ordinary shares
could result from changes in their business or the ECR Business’ operations or prospects, regulatory considerations, general market and economic conditions and
other factors both within and beyond the control of us or Buyer prior to or following the closing of the transaction. Additionally, under the terms of the Purchase
Agreement, the Buyer’s ordinary shares we receive will be subject to a six-month lock-up period following the transaction’s closing during which time we will be
unable to sell the ordinary shares and during which time the market price of Buyer’s ordinary shares and the exchange rate between U.S. and Australian dollars will
likely fluctuate for the
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forgoing reasons, which could result in the ordinary shares we receive having a lower value compared to the value of the ordinary shares at the time we entered into
the Purchase Agreement.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

Our properties consist primarily of office space within general, commercial office buildings located in major cities primarily in the following countries:
United States; Argentina; Armenia; Australia; Bahrain; Belgium; Brazil; Canada; Chile; China; Egypt; France; Germany; Greenland; Hong Kong; India; Indonesia;
Iraq; Ireland; Italy; Kazakhstan; Korea (Republic of); Malaysia; Mexico; The Netherlands; New Zealand; Oman; Peru; The Philippines; Poland; Qatar; Romania;
Russian Federation; Saudi Arabia; Singapore; South Africa; Spain; Sweden; Taiwan (Province of China); Thailand; Trinidad and Tobago; United Arab Emirates;
United Kingdom and Vietnam. We also lease smaller offices located in certain other countries. Such space is used for operations (providing technical, professional,
and other home office services), sales and administration. Most of our properties are leased. In addition, we have fabrication facilities located in Canada in
Pickering, Ontario; St. John, New Brunswick; and Edmonton, Alberta and Lamont, Alberta. The total amount of space used by us for all of our operations is
approximately 14.2 million square feet.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required by this Item 3 is included in Note 15 — Contractual
Guarantees,
Litigation,
Investigations
and
Insurance
of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Section 1503 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) requires domestic mine operators to disclose
violations and orders issued under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the “Mine Act”) by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration. Under
the Mine Act, an independent contractor, such as Jacobs, that performs services or construction of a mine is included within the definition of a mining operator. We
do not act as the owner of any mines.

Information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Act and Item 104 of Regulation
S-K is included in Exhibit 95.
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PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Jacobs’ common stock is listed on the NYSE and trades under the symbol JEC. We provided to the NYSE, without qualification, the required annual
certification of our Chief Executive Officer regarding compliance with the NYSE’s corporate governance listing standards. The following table sets forth the low
and high sales prices of a share of our common stock during each of the fiscal quarters presented, based on the NYSE Composite Price History:  

  
Low Sales 

Price  
High Sales 

Price
Fiscal 2018:     

First quarter  $ 57.21  $ 69.35
Second quarter  $ 55.42  $ 72.18
Third quarter  $ 55.21  $ 66.72
Fourth quarter  $ 62.79  $ 77.91

Fiscal 2017:     
First quarter  $ 49.16  $ 63.42
Second quarter  $ 52.39  $ 62.20
Third quarter  $ 50.53  $ 55.97
Fourth quarter  $ 49.31  $ 58.51

Shareholders

According to the records of our transfer agent, there were 3,684 shareholders of record as of November 12, 2018.

Share Repurchases

On July 23, 2015, the Board of Directors approved a program to repurchase up to $500.0 million of the Company’s common stock, to expire on July 31,
2018. On July 19, 2018, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the continuation of this share repurchase program for an additional three years, to expire on
July 31, 2021. The following table summarizes the activity under this program during fiscal 2018 :

Average Price Per
Share  (1)  

Shares
Repurchased  

Total Shares
Retired

$500,000,000 $60.77  49,074  49,074
(1) Includes commissions paid and calculated at the average price per share.

Share repurchases may be executed through various means including, without limitation, open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions or
otherwise. The share repurchase program does not obligate the Company to purchase any shares. The authorization for the share repurchase program may be
terminated, increased or decreased by the Company’s Board of Directors in its discretion at any time. The timing of share repurchases may depend upon market
conditions, other uses of capital, and other factors.

Dividends

On December 1, 2016, the Company announced that the Board of Directors approved the initiation of a cash dividend program. In the fourth fiscal quarter
of 2017, the Company declared a dividend of $0.15 per share of the Company’s common stock that was paid in the first fiscal quarter of 2018. In the second, third
and fourth fiscal quarters of 2018, the Company declared and paid a dividend of $0.15 per share of the Company’s common stock, for a total of $0.60 per share
paid during the year ended September 28, 2018 . On September 11, 2018, the Company's Board of Directors declared a dividend of $0.15 per share of the
Company's common stock that was paid on October 26, 2018 to shareholders of record on the close of business on September 28, 2018 . Future dividend
declarations are subject to review and approval by the Company’s Board of Directors.
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

None.

Performance Graph

The following graph and table shows the changes over the five-year period ended September 28, 2018 in the value of $100 as of the close of market on
September 30, 2013 in (1) the common stock of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., (2) the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, and (3) the Dow Jones Heavy
Construction Group Index. The values of each investment are based on share price appreciation, with reinvestment of all dividends, provided any were paid. The
investments are assumed to have occurred at the beginning of the period presented. The stock performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of
future stock price performance.

    

 2013  2014  2015  2016  2017  2018
Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 100.00  83.91  64.33  88.90  100.99  134.11
S&P 500 100.00  119.73  119.00  137.36  162.92  192.10
Dow Jones US Heavy Construction 100.00  95.45  70.89  80.42  86.92  93.30

Note: The above information was provided by Research Data Group, Inc.
 

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table presents selected financial data for each of the last five fiscal years. This selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the
Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Dollar amounts are presented in thousands,
except for per share information:
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 2018 (a)  2017 (b)  2016 (c)  2015 (d)  2014 (e)
Results of Operations:          

Revenues $ 14,984,646  $ 10,022,788  $ 10,964,157  $ 12,114,832  $ 12,695,157
Net earnings attributable to Jacobs $ 163,431  $ 293,727  $ 210,463  $ 302,971  $ 328,108

Financial Position:          
Current ratio 1.45 to 1  1.56 to 1  1.61 to 1  1.58 to 1  1.58 to 1
Working capital $ 1,410,891  $ 1,069,953  $ 1,081,784  $ 1,141,512  $ 1,372,332
Current assets $ 4,556,584  $ 2,996,180  $ 2,864,470  $ 3,122,678  $ 3,722,178
Total assets $ 12,645,795  $ 7,380,859  $ 7,360,022  $ 7,785,926  $ 8,453,659
Cash $ 793,358  $ 774,151  $ 655,716  $ 460,859  $ 732,647
Long-term debt $ 2,146,877  $ 235,000  $ 385,330  $ 584,434  $ 764,075
Total Jacobs stockholders’ equity $ 5,854,345  $ 4,428,352  $ 4,265,276  $ 4,291,745  $ 4,469,255
Return on average equity 3.18%  6.76%  4.92%  6.92%  7.56%

Backlog: $ 27,298,614  $ 19,788,613  $ 18,760,529  $ 18,806,570  $ 18,380,034
Per Share Information:          

Basic earnings per share $ 1.18  $ 2.43  $ 1.75  $ 2.42  $ 2.51
Diluted earnings per share $ 1.17  $ 2.42  $ 1.73  $ 2.40  $ 2.48
Stockholders’ equity $ 42.21  $ 36.78  $ 35.26  $ 34.85  $ 33.92

Average Number of Shares of Common Stock
and Common Stock Equivalents Outstanding
(Diluted) 138,712  120,147  121,483  126,110  132,371
Common Shares Outstanding At Year End 142,218  120,386  120,951  123,153  131,753
Cash Dividends Declared Per Common Share $ 0.60  $ 0.60  $ —  $ —  $ —

(a) Includes costs of $ 140.1 million , or $ 1.01 per diluted share, related to the Company's restructuring and other initiatives during fiscal 2018 , which includes $21.0 million
in loss related to the sale of the Company's investment in Guimar Engenharia Ltda. Also included in fiscal 2018 are after-tax charges of $60.7 million , or $0.44 per diluted
share, in professional fees and related costs associated with the CH2M acquisition and pending ECR sale and $259.2 million , or $1.86 per diluted share, in benefits related
to tax reform.

(b) Includes costs of $ 87.9 million, or $ 0.73 per diluted share, related to the Company's restructuring and other initiatives during fiscal 2017 .  Also included in the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2017 are after-tax charges of $ 10.6 million, or $ 0.09 per diluted share, respectively, in professional fees and related costs associated with the CH2M
acquisition. 

(c) Includes costs of $ 135.6 million, or $ 1.12 per diluted share, related to the Company's restructuring initiatives during fiscal 2016 .  Also included in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2016 are (i) a loss on sale of our French subsidiary of $ 17.1 million or $ 0.14 per diluted share; and (ii) a non-cash write-off on an equity investment of $ 10.4
million or $ 0.09 per diluted share.  

(d) Includes costs of $ 107.9 million, or $ 0.86 per diluted share, related to the Company's restructuring initiatives during fiscal 2015 .
(e) Includes costs of $ 109.2 million, or $ 0.82 per diluted share, related to the Company's restructuring initiatives during fiscal 2014.

Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In order to better understand the changes that occur to key elements of our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, a reader of this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be aware of the critical accounting policies we apply
in preparing our consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements contained in this report were prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our consolidated financial
statements and the financial statements of any business performing long-term engineering and construction-type contracts requires management to make certain
estimates and judgments that affect both the entity’s results of operations and the carrying values of its assets and liabilities. Although our significant accounting
policies are described in Note 2 - Significant
Accounting
Policies
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, the following discussion is intended to highlight and describe those accounting policies that are especially critical to the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.
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Revenue
Accounting
for
Contracts
- We recognize revenue earned on our technical professional and field services projects under the percentage-of-
completion method described in ASC 605-35, Construction-Type
and
Production-Type
Contracts
. In general, we recognize revenues at the time we provide
services. Pre-contract costs are generally expensed as incurred, unless they are directly associated with an anticipated contract and recoverability from that contract
is probable. Contracts are generally segmented between types of services, such as engineering and construction, and accordingly, gross margin related to each
activity is recognized as those separate services are rendered. For multiple contracts with a single customer we account for each contract separately.

The percentage-of-completion method of accounting is applied by comparing contract costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion.
Contract losses are provided for in their entirety in the period they become known, without regard to the percentage-of-completion.

Unapproved change orders are included in the contract price to the extent it is probable that such change orders will result in additional contract revenue
and the amount of such additional revenue can be reliably estimated. Claims meeting these recognition criteria are included in revenues only to the extent of the
related costs incurred.

Certain cost-reimbursable contracts include incentive-fee arrangements. These incentive fees can be based on a variety of factors but the most common
are the achievement of target completion dates, target costs, and/or other performance criteria. Failure to meet these targets can result in unrealized incentive fees.
We recognize incentive fees based on expected results using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. As the contract progresses and more information
becomes available, the estimate of the anticipated incentive fee that will be earned is revised as necessary. We bill incentive fees based on the terms and conditions
of the individual contracts. In certain situations, we are allowed to bill a portion of the incentive fees over the performance period of the contract. In other
situations, we are allowed to bill incentive fees only after the target criterion has been achieved. Incentive fees which have been recognized but not billed are
included in receivables in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Certain cost-reimbursable contracts with government customers as well as certain commercial clients provide that contract costs are subject to audit and
adjustment. In this situation, revenues are recorded at the time services are performed based upon the amounts we expect to realize upon completion of the
contracts. In those situations where an audit indicates that we may have billed a client for costs not allowable under the terms of the contract, we estimate the
amount of such nonbillable costs and adjust our revenues accordingly.

When we are directly responsible for subcontractor labor or third-party materials and equipment, we reflect the costs of such items in both revenues and
costs (and we refer to such costs as “pass-through” costs). On those projects where the client elects to pay for such items directly and we have no associated
responsibility for such items, these amounts are not reflected in either revenues or costs.

Joint
Ventures
-
As is common to the industry, we execute certain contracts jointly with third parties through various forms of joint ventures. Although the
joint ventures own and hold the contracts with the clients, the services required by the contracts are typically performed by us and our joint venture partners, or by
other subcontractors under subcontracting agreements with the joint ventures. Many of these joint ventures are formed for a specific project. The assets of our joint
ventures generally consist almost entirely of cash and receivables (representing amounts due from clients), and the liabilities of our joint ventures generally consist
almost entirely of amounts due to the joint venture partners (for services provided by the partners to the joint ventures under their individual subcontracts) and
other subcontractors. In general, at any given time, the equity of our joint ventures represents the undistributed profits earned on contracts the joint ventures hold
with clients. Very few of our joint ventures have employees or third-party debt or credit facilities. The debt held by the joint ventures is non-recourse to the general
credit of Jacobs. The assets of a joint venture are restricted for use to the obligations of the particular joint venture and are not available for general operations of
the Company.  Our risk of loss on these arrangements is usually shared with our partners. The liability of each partner is usually joint and several, which means that
each partner may become liable for the entire risk of loss on the project. Furthermore, on some of our projects, the Company has granted guarantees which may
encumber both our contracting subsidiary company and the Company for the entire risk of loss on the project. See Note 15- Contractual
Guarantees,
Litigation,
Investigations
and
Insurance
for further discussion.

Many of the joint ventures are deemed to be variable interest entities (“VIE”) because they lack sufficient equity to finance the activities of the joint
venture. The Company uses a qualitative approach to determine if the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE, which considers factors that indicate a party
has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the joint venture’s economic performance. These factors include the composition of the
governing board, how board decisions are approved, the powers granted to the operational manager(s) and partner that holds that position(s), and to a certain
extent, the partner’s economic interest in the joint venture. The Company analyzes each joint venture initially to determine if it should be consolidated or
unconsolidated.

Page 35



• Consolidated if the Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, or holds the majority of voting interests of a non-VIE (and no significant
participative rights are available to the other partners).

• Unconsolidated if the Company is not the primary beneficiary of a VIE, or does not hold the majority of voting interest of a non-VIE.

Share-Based
Payments
- We measure the value of services received from employees and directors in exchange for an award of an equity instrument based
on the grant-date fair value of the award. The computed value is recognized as a non-cash cost on a straight-line basis over the period the individual provides
services, which is typically the vesting period of the award (with the exception of awards containing an internal performance measure which are recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period subject to the probability of meeting the performance requirements and adjusted for the number of shares expected to be
earned).

Accounting
for
Pension
Plans
- The accounting for pension plans requires the use of assumptions and estimates in order to calculate periodic pension cost
and the value of the plans’ assets and liabilities. These assumptions include discount rates, investment returns and projected salary increases, among others. The
actuarial assumptions used in determining the funded statuses of the plans are provided in Note 10 - Pension
and
Other
Postretirement
Benefit
Plans
of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The expected rates of return on plan assets for fiscal 2019 range from 2.9% to 7.5% and were 3.5% to 8.5% for fiscal 2018 . We believe the range of rates
selected for fiscal 2019 reflects the long-term returns expected on the plans’ assets, considering recent market conditions, projected rates of inflation, the
diversification of the plans’ assets, and the expected real rates of market returns. The discount rates used to compute plan liabilities were changed from a range of
1.3% to 7.0% in fiscal 2017 to a range of 1.3% to 8.1% in fiscal 2018 . These assumptions represent the Company’s best estimate of the rates at which its pension
obligations could be effectively settled.

Changes in the actuarial assumptions often have a material effect on the values assigned to plan assets and liabilities, and the associated pension expense.
For example, if the discount rate used to value the net pension benefit obligation (“PBO”) at September 28, 2018 , was higher by 0.5%, the PBO would have been
lower at that date by approximately $180.2 million for non-U.S. plans, and by approximately $21.9 million for U.S. plans. If the expected return on plan assets was
higher by 1.0%, the net periodic pension cost for fiscal 2018 would be lower by approximately $18.7 million for non-U.S. plans, and by approximately $3.7 million
for U.S. plans. Differences between actuarial assumptions and actual performance (i.e., actuarial gains and losses) that are not recognized as a component of net
periodic pension cost in the period in which such differences arise are recorded to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are recognized as part of net
periodic pension cost in future periods in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Management monitors trends in the marketplace within which our pension plans operate in
an effort to assure the fairness of the actuarial assumptions used.

Contractual
Guarantees,
Litigation,
Investigations,
and
Insurance
- In the normal course of business, we make contractual commitments, some of which
are supported by separate guarantees; and on occasion we are a party in a litigation or arbitration proceeding. The litigation in which we are involved includes
personal injury claims, professional liability claims, and breach of contract claims. In most cases, we are the defendant. Where we provide a separate guarantee, it
is strictly in support of the underlying contractual commitment. Guarantees take various forms including surety bonds required by law, or standby letters of credit
("LOC") (also referred to as “bank guarantees”) or corporate guarantees given to induce a party to enter into a contract with a subsidiary. Standby LOCs are also
used as security for advance payments or in various other transactions. The guarantees have various expiration dates ranging from an arbitrary date to completion
of our work (e.g., engineering only) to completion of the overall project. We maintain insurance coverage for most insurable aspects of our business and operations.
Our insurance programs have varying coverage limits depending upon the type of insurance, and include certain conditions and exclusions which insurance
companies may raise in response to any claim that the Company brings. We have also elected to retain a portion of losses and liabilities that occur through the use
of various deductibles, limits, and retentions under our insurance programs. As a result, we may be subject to a future liability for which we are only partially
insured or completely uninsured. We intend to mitigate any such future liability by continuing to exercise prudent business judgment in negotiating the terms and
conditions of the contracts which the Company enters with its clients. Our insurers are also subject to business risk and, as a result, one or more of them may be
unable to fulfill their insurance obligations due to insolvency or otherwise.

Additionally, as a contractor providing services to the U.S. federal government we are subject to many types of audits, investigations, and claims by, or on
behalf of, the government including with respect to contract performance, pricing, cost allocations, procurement practices, labor practices, and socioeconomic
obligations. Furthermore, our income, franchise, and similar tax returns and filings are also subject to audit and investigation by the Internal Revenue Service, most
states within the U.S., as well as by various government agencies representing jurisdictions outside the U.S.
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Our Consolidated Balance Sheets include amounts representing our probable estimated liability relating to such claims, guarantees, litigation, audits, and
investigations. We perform an analysis to determine the level of reserves to establish for insurance-related claims that are known and have been asserted against us,
as well as for insurance-related claims that are believed to have been incurred based on actuarial analysis, but have not yet been reported to our claims
administrators as of the respective balance sheet dates. We include any adjustments to such insurance reserves in our consolidated results of operations.

Testing
Goodwill
for
Possible
Impairment
- The goodwill carried on our Consolidated Balance Sheets is tested annually for possible impairment, and on
an interim basis if indicators of possible impairment exist. For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is assigned to the applicable reporting units based on the
current reporting structure. In performing the annual impairment test, we evaluate our goodwill at the reporting unit level. The Company performs the annual
goodwill impairment test for the reporting units at the end of the third quarter of our fiscal year. However, during the quarter ended September 28, 2018 , the
Company voluntarily changed the date of its annual goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment testing from the last day of the fiscal third quarter to
the first day of the fourth quarter. This voluntary change is expected to result in better alignment of the Company's annual impairment test with the Company’s
strategic planning and forecasting process. The voluntary change in accounting principle related to the annual testing date will not delay, accelerate or avoid an
impairment charge. It would be impracticable to apply this change retrospectively because retrospective application would require reliance on significant estimates
and assumptions with the use of hindsight. Accordingly, this change will only be applied prospectively.

Additionally, during the second quarter of fiscal 2018 , we reorganized our operating and reporting structure around three global lines of business
(“LOBs”), which also serve as the Company’s operating segments: (i) Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear, (ii) Buildings, Infrastructure and
Advanced Facilities, and (iii) Energy, Chemicals and Resources. This reorganization occurred in conjunction with the integration of CH2M into the Company's
legacy businesses, and was intended to better serve our global clients, leverage our workforce, help streamline operations, and provide enhanced growth
opportunities. The Company’s LOB leadership and internal reporting structures report to the Chief Executive Officer, who is also the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM”), and enable the CODM to evaluate the performance of each of these segments and make appropriate resource allocations among each of the
segments. For purposes of the Company’s goodwill impairment testing, it has been determined that the Company’s operating segments are also its reporting units
based on management’s conclusion that the components comprising each of its operating segments share similar economic characteristics and meet the aggregation
criteria for reporting units in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles-Goodwill
and
Other.

U.S. GAAP does not prescribe a specific valuation method for estimating the fair value of reporting units. Any valuation technique used to estimate the
fair value of a reporting unit requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including revenue growth rates, operating margins, discount rates and future
market conditions, among others.

We used an income approach to test our goodwill for possible impairment which requires us to make estimates and judgments. Under the income
approach, fair value is determined by using the discounted cash flows of our reporting units. The Company’s discount rate reflects a weighted average cost of
capital (“WACC”) for a peer group of companies representative of the Company’s respective reporting units. The fair values for each reporting unit exceeded the
respective book values ranging from 31% to 132%.

It is possible that changes in market conditions, economy, facts and circumstances, judgments and assumptions used in estimating the fair value could
change, resulting in possible impairment of goodwill in the future. The fair values resulting from the valuation techniques used are not necessarily representative of
the values we might obtain in a sale of the reporting units to willing third parties.

We have determined that the fair value of our reporting units substantially exceeded their respective carrying values for the Consolidated Balance Sheets
presented.

Restructuring and Other Charges

During the fourth fiscal quarter of 2017, the Company implemented certain restructuring and pre-integration plans associated with the closing of its
acquisition of CH2M, which occurred on December 15, 2017. The restructuring activities and related costs under these plans were comprised mainly of severance
and lease abandonment programs, while the pre-integration activities and costs were mainly related to the engagement of consulting services and internal personnel
and other related costs dedicated to the Company’s acquisition integration management efforts.

Following the closing of the CH2M acquisition, these activities have continued into fiscal 2018 and include restructuring activities amounting to
approximately $101.7 million in pre-tax charges during the year ended September 28, 2018 . Combined with $89.2 million in integration activities for the same
period, the total cost of these restructuring and integration activities approximated
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$190.8 million for the year ended September 28, 2018 . These activities are expected to continue through fiscal 2019 . These activities are not expected to involve
the exit of any service types or client end-markets. Also during fiscal 2018 the Company disposed of its investment in Guimar in order to resolve potential conflicts
arising from the CH2M acquisition, which resulted in a loss as discussed below.

During the second fiscal quarter of 2017, the Company entered into strategic business restructuring activities associated with realignment of its Europe,
United Kingdom ("U.K.") and Middle East regional operations in our BIAF segment. Pre-tax net charges of $22.6 million were recorded associated mainly with net
realizable value write-offs on contract accounts receivable of $16.5 million , with additional charges recorded for statutory redundancy and severance costs of $1.4
million and other liabilities of $4.7 million .

During the second fiscal quarter of 2015, the Company began implementing a series of initiatives intended to improve operational efficiency, reduce costs,
and better position itself to drive growth of the business in the future. We refer to these initiatives, in the aggregate, as the “2015 Restructuring”. These activities
evolved and developed over time as management identified and evaluated opportunities for changes in the Company’s operations (and related areas of potential
cost savings), as economic conditions changed and as the realignment of the Company’s operations into its global LOB structure was implemented. Actions related
to the 2015 Restructuring included involuntary terminations, the abandonment of certain leased offices, combining operational organizations, and the colocation of
employees into other existing offices. These activities did not involve the exit of any service types or client end-markets. The 2015 Restructuring was completed in
fiscal 2017, although cash payments continue to be made under the related accruals recorded in connection with these activities.

Collectively, the above mentioned restructuring activities are referred to as “Restructuring and other charges”.

The following table summarizes the impacts of the Restructuring and other charges (or recoveries, which primarily relate to the reversals of lease
abandonment accruals related to previously vacated facilities which are now planned to be utilized) on the Company's reportable segment income by line of

business in connection with the CH2M acquisition for the year ended September 28, 2018 and the 2015 Restructuring and realignment of the Company's BIAF
Europe, U.K. and Middle East regional operations for the years ended September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear $ 20,254  $ 2,356  $ 8,210
Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities 56,238  47,743  24,566
Energy, Chemicals and Resources 37,166  42,558  113,315
Corporate 77,148  42,781  41,816

Total $ 190,806  $ 135,438  $ 187,907

The activity in the Company’s accrual for the Restructuring and other charges for the year ended September 28, 2018 is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at September 29, 2017 $ 142,767
CH2M Acquisition Assumed Liabilities 31,576
CH2M Charges 190,806
Payments & Usage (189,673)

Balance at September 28, 2018 $ 175,476

The following table summarizes the Restructuring and other charges by major type of costs in connection with the CH2M acquisition for the year ended
September 28, 2018 and the 2015 Restructuring and realignment of the Company's Europe, U.K. and Middle East regional operations for the years ended
September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):
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September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Lease Abandonments $ 53,914  $ 55,647  $ 92,643
Involuntary Terminations 37,063  43,667  85,599
Outside Services 36,308  4,236  7,398
Other (1) 63,521  31,888  2,267

Total $ 190,806  $ 135,438  $ 187,907

(1) Includes $21.0 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018 relating to the loss on the sale of our Guimar joint venture investment recognized in other income (expense).

Cumulative amounts incurred to date for Restructuring and other charges by each major type of costs as of September 28, 2018 are as follows (in
thousands):

Lease Abandonments $ 292,773
Involuntary Terminations 221,642
Outside Services 60,677
Other 96,252

Total $ 671,344

JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016
(In
thousands,
except
per
share
information)

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Revenues $ 14,984,646  $ 10,022,788  $ 10,964,157

Direct cost of contracts (12,156,276)  (8,250,536)  (9,196,326)
Gross profit 2,828,370  1,772,252  1,767,831

Selling, general and administrative expenses (2,180,399)  (1,379,983)  (1,429,233)
Operating Profit 647,971  392,269  338,598
Other Income (Expense):      

Interest income 8,984  8,748  7,848
Interest expense (76,760)  (12,035)  (15,260)
Gain (Loss) on disposal of business and investments (20,967)  10,880  (41,410)
Miscellaneous income (expense), net (4,523)  (6,645)  (3,053)
Total other (expense) income, net (93,266)  948  (51,875)

Earnings Before Taxes 554,705  393,217  286,723
Income Tax Expense (381,563)  (105,842)  (72,208)
Net Earnings of the Group 173,142  287,375  214,515
Net (Earnings) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests (9,711)  6,352  (4,052)
Net Earnings Attributable to Jacobs $ 163,431  $ 293,727  $ 210,463
Net Earnings Per Share:      

Basic $ 1.18  $ 2.43  $ 1.75
Diluted $ 1.17  $ 2.42  $ 1.73

2018 Overview

The Company's net earnings for fiscal 2018 were $163.4 million (or $1.17 per diluted share), a decrease of $130.3 million , or 44.4% , from $293.7
million (or $2.42 per diluted share) for the corresponding period last year. Included in the Company’s operating
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results were $ 140.1 million (or $1.01 per share) in after tax Restructuring and other charges, $60.7 million in CH2M and ECR transaction costs and $259.2 million
in income tax charges associated with the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“the Act”) enacted on December 22, 2017. Our fiscal 2017 results included $87.9 million (or
$0.72 per share) in after tax charges associated with Restructuring and other charges and $10.6 million in CH2M transaction costs. Income taxes for fiscal 2018
were $381.6 million , an increase of $275.7 million , or 260.5% , from $105.8 million due mainly to the impacts from the provisional remeasurement of the
deferred tax items and other impacts from U.S. Tax Reform.

On December 15, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of CH2M, an international provider of engineering, construction and technical services,
by acquiring 100 % of the outstanding shares of CH2M common stock and preferred stock. The purpose of the acquisition was to further diversify the Company’s
market presence in the water, nuclear and environmental remediation sectors and to further the Company’s growth strategy. The Company paid total consideration
of approximately $ 1.8  billion in cash (excluding $ 315.2 million of cash acquired) and issued approximately $ 1.4  billion of Jacobs’ common stock to the former
stockholders and certain equity award holders of CH2M.

Backlog at September 28, 2018 was $27.3 billion , up $7.5 billion , from $19.8 billion for the corresponding period last year. New prospects and new sales
remain strong and the Company continues to have a positive outlook for many of the industry groups and markets in which our clients operate.

Results of Operations

As previously noted by Company management, the Company was continuing to finalize its year end audit processes, including with respect to income
taxes, at the time of its 4th quarter earnings release.  In that regard, the Company’s 2018 income tax expense also includes approximately $15.0 million in deferred
income taxes associated with final one-time adjustments with respect to valuation allowances on foreign tax credits associated with the acquisition of the CH2M
business that had not been included in the Company’s fourth quarter fiscal 2018 earnings release furnished on Form 8-K on November 20, 2018.  The impact of
these adjustments was $.10 per share for the year ended September 28, 2018.

Fiscal 2018 Compared to Fiscal 2017

Total revenues for the year ended September 28, 2018 , were $14.98 billion , an increase of $4.96 billion , or 49.5% , from $10.02 billion for the
corresponding period last year. The increase in revenues was due primarily to favorable impacts from the CH2M acquisition, which contributed approximately
$3.81 billion in incremental revenues for fiscal 2018 . Higher volumes in our legacy ATEN, BIAF and ECR businesses also contributed to the increase.

Pass-through costs included in revenues for the year ended September 28, 2018 were $3.06 billion in comparison to $2.54 billion in the prior year. These
year-over-year increases are due primarily to impacts from the CH2M acquisition as well as to pass-through costs in revenues from the ATEN businesses. In
general, pass-through costs are more significant on projects that have a higher content of field services activities. Pass-through costs are generally incurred at
specific points during the life cycle of a project and are highly dependent on the needs of our individual clients and the nature of the clients’ projects. However,
because we have hundreds of projects which start at various times within a fiscal year, the effect of pass-through costs on the level of direct costs of contracts can
vary between fiscal years without there being a fundamental or significant change to the underlying business.

Gross profit for the year ended September 28, 2018 was $2.83 billion , up $1.06 billion , or 59.6% from $1.77 billion from the corresponding period in
2017 . Our gross profit margins were 18.9% and 17.7% for the years ended September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 , respectively. The higher volume impacts
seen in our ATEN, BIAF and ECR businesses, incremental benefits of the CH2M businesses acquired, and our continuing strategic focus on realigning our
portfolio to higher margin businesses and project execution drove improving gross profit and margins for the year over year periods.

Selling, general & administrative expenses for the year ended September 28, 2018 were $2.18 billion , an increase of $800.4 million , or 58.0% , from
$1.38 billion for the corresponding period last year. The increase in SG&A expenses is due mainly to incremental SG&A expense from the CH2M businesses
acquired of approximately $650.3 million during the 2018 period, which included $99.3 million of restructuring and other charges and deal related costs, as well as
higher personnel related costs year over year and charges associated with a legal matter of $ 15.0 million. Also, unfavorable impacts from foreign exchange
(mainly from the stronger Australian Dollar and Indian Rupee) approximated $ 16.0 million.

Net interest expense for the year ended September 28, 2018 was $67.8 million , an increase of $64.5 million from $3.3 million for the corresponding
period last year. The increases in net interest expense as compared to the corresponding periods last year was due primarily to higher levels of average debt
balances outstanding related to financing activities for the acquisition of CH2M, which was partially funded with term loan financing of $ 1.5 billion and revolving
credit line borrowings of $ 850 million.
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Miscellaneous expense, net for the year ended September 28, 2018 was $4.5 million , a decrease of $2.1 million as compared to $6.6 million for the
corresponding period last year. The increases were due primarily to unfavorable year over year impacts from unrealized gains and losses from foreign exchange.

Gain/(Loss) on disposal of business and investments was $(21.0) million and $10.9 million for the years ended September 28, 2018 and September 29,
2017 , respectively. The reported loss amounts for fiscal 2018 were associated mainly with the Company's divestiture of its equity investment in the Guimar joint
venture. The 2017 gain amount was associated mainly with the Company’s divestiture of its equity investment in Neste Jacobs Oy, a joint venture between the
Company and Neste Corporation.

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate is generally higher than the U.S. statutory rate of 24.60010276% primarily due to the impacts
related to U.S. Tax Reform and the integration of CH2M's tax attributes. The following table reconciles total income tax expense using the statutory U.S. federal
income tax rate to the consolidated income tax expense shown in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended September 28, 2018
and September 29, 2017 (dollars in thousands):

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  %  September 29, 2017  %
Statutory amount $ 136,458  24.6 %  $ 137,626  35.0 %
State taxes, net of the federal benefit 7,587  1.4 %  8,955  2.3 %
Exclusion of tax on non-controlling interests (2,389)  (0.4)%  2,223  0.6 %
Foreign:       
Difference in tax rates of foreign operations 9,860  1.8 %  (16,987)  (4.3)%
Benefit from valuation allowance 
   release (5,105)  (0.9)%  (3,085)  (0.8)%
U.K. tax rate change on deferred tax assets —  —  —  —
Nontaxable income from foreign affiliate —  —  (3,280)  (0.8)%
U.S. tax cost of foreign operations 6,577  1.2 %  18,612  4.7 %
Tax differential on foreign earnings 11,332  2.0 %  (4,740)  (1.2)%
Foreign tax credits (21,729)  (3.9)%  (20,454)  (5.2)%
Tax Reform 154,150  27.8 %  —  —
Valuation Allowance 104,221  18.8 %  —  —
Uncertain tax positions (1,297)  (0.2)%  (5,779)  (1.5)%
Other items:       
IRS §179D deduction (4,520)  (0.8)%  (3,351)  (0.8)%
IRS §199D deduction —  —  (2,113)  (0.5)%
Foreign partnership loss (3,990)  (0.7)%  (9,861)  (2.5)%
Other items - net 1,740  0.3 %  3,336  0.7 %
Total other items (6,770)  (1.2)%  (11,989)  (3.1)%

Taxes on income $ 381,563  68.8 %  $ 105,842  26.9 %

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate for the year ended September 28, 2018 increased to 68.788% % from 26.9% in fiscal 2017 . Key
drivers for this year over year increase include the impacts from the provisional remeasurement of the deferred tax items and other impacts from U.S. Tax Reform.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted in the United States. The Act reduces the top corporate U.S. federal statutory tax rate from
35% to 21% starting on January 1, 2018, resulting in a blended statutory tax rate for fiscal year filers. The Company’s blended federal statutory tax rate for fiscal
2018 is 24.6% . It also requires companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries, places limitations and exclusions on varied
tax deductions and creates new taxes on certain foreign sourced earnings. The majority of the tax provisions are effective for the first tax year beginning after
January 1, 2018, which will be the Company’s taxable year beginning fiscal 2019 .

Fiscal 2017 Compared to Fiscal 2016
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Total revenues for the year ended September 29, 2017 , were $10.02 billion , decrease of $941.4 million , or 8.6% , from $10.96 billion for the
corresponding period last year. The decrease in revenues was due primarily to lower volumes in the ECR and ATEN LOBs. These lower volumes were driven
mainly by lower field services volume, primarily with ECR customers and the timing of project completions versus new project timing.

Pass-through costs included in revenues for the year ended September 29, 2017 were $2.54 billion in comparison to $2.49 billion in line with amounts in
the corresponding period last year. In general, pass-through costs are more significant on projects that have a higher content of field services activities. Pass-
through costs are generally incurred at specific points during the life cycle of a project and are highly dependent on the needs of our individual clients and the
nature of the clients’ projects. However, because we have hundreds of projects which start at various times within a fiscal year, the effect of pass-through costs on
the level of direct costs of contracts can vary between fiscal years without there being a fundamental or significant change to the underlying business.

Gross profit for the year ended September 29, 2017 was $1.77 billion , an increase of $4.4 million , or 0.25% from the corresponding period in 2016 . Our
gross profit margins were 17.7% and 16.1% for the years ended September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 , respectively. Our continuing strategic focus on
realigning our portfolio to higher margin businesses and project execution drove improving gross profit and margins for the year over year periods.

Selling, general & administrative expenses for the year ended September 29, 2017 were $1.38 billion , decrease of $49.2 million , or 3.44% , from $1.43
billion for the corresponding period last year. The decrease in SG&A expenses for the comparative annual periods was due mainly to lower Restructuring and other
charges of $75.9 million and related savings from the 2015 Restructuring.  These decreases were offset in part by higher year over year spending mainly in
personnel related costs and professional service fees, including an additional $ 17.1 million associated with CH2M professional service fees and integration costs.

Net interest expense for the year ended September 29, 2017 was $3.3 million , a decrease of $4.1 million from $7.4 million for the corresponding period
last year. The decrease in interest expense for the year ended September 29, 2017 as compared to the corresponding period last year was due primarily to the
reversal of $ 2.5 million of accrued interest expense related to the statute expiration of a foreign tax reserve as well as higher levels of interest income.

Miscellaneous expense, net for the year ended September 29, 2017 was $6.6 million , an increase as compared to $3.1 million million for the
corresponding period last year. This change was due primarily to a reversal in fiscal 2016 of $ 5.1 million of accrued penalties related to the statute expiration of a
foreign tax reserve, which did not recur in fiscal 2017, offset in part by other miscellaneous charges.  

Gain (loss) on disposal of business and investments was $10.9 million and $(41.4) million for the years ended September 29, 2017 and September 30,
2016 , respectively.  The reported amounts for fiscal 2017 were associated mainly with the Company’s divestiture of its equity investment in Neste Jacobs Oy, a
joint venture between the Company and Neste Corporation. The $(41.4) million loss on disposal in fiscal 2016 was mainly attributable to the Company’s loss on
the sale of our French subsidiary of $ 24.4 million, and a non-cash write-off on an equity investment of $ 17.0 million.

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate is generally lower than the U.S. statutory rate of 35% primarily due to the impacts of favorable tax
rate differences in our foreign operations. The following table reconciles total income tax expense using the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to the
consolidated income tax expense shown in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended September 29, 2017 and September 30,
2016 (dollars in thousands):

Page 42



 For the Years Ended
 September 29, 2017  %  September 30, 2016  %

Statutory amount $ 137,626  35 %  $ 100,353  35.0 %
State taxes, net of the federal benefit 8,955  2.3 %  7,853  2.7 %
Exclusion of tax on non-controlling interests 2,223  0.6 %  (1,418)  (0.5)%
Foreign:        
Difference in tax rates of foreign operations (16,987)  (4.3)%  (17,184)  (6.0)%
Benefit from foreign valuation allowance release (3,085)  (0.8)%  (11,182)  (3.9)%
U.K. tax rate change on deferred tax assets —  — %  8,853  3.1 %
Nontaxable income from foreign affiliate (3,280)  (0.8)%  —  — %
U.S. tax cost of foreign operations 18,612  4.7 %  30,850  10.9 %
Tax differential on foreign earnings (4,740)  (1.2)%  11,337  4.1 %
Foreign tax credits (20,454)  (5.2)%  (44,018)  (15.4)%
Uncertain tax positions (5,779)  (1.5)%  1,449  0.5 %
Other items:        
IRS §179D deduction (3,351)  (0.8)%  (2,153)  (0.8)%
IRS §199D deduction (2,113)  (0.5)%  (2,800)  (1.0)%
Foreign partnership loss (9,861)  (2.5)%  (2,658)  (0.9)%
Other items - net 3,336  0.7 %  4,263  1.5 %
Total other items (11,989)  (3.1)%  (3,348)  (1.2)%

Taxes on income $ 105,842  26.9 %  $ 72,208  25.2 %

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate for the year ended September 29, 2017 increased to 26.9% from 25.2% for fiscal 2016 .  Key
drivers for this year over year increase include the impacts of lower foreign tax credit benefits and lower benefits from valuation allowance releases on foreign
deferred tax assets, partly offset by favorable impacts of U.S. tax cost of foreign operations, the non-recurrence of 2016 tax rate change impacts on deferred income
tax assets in the UK and favorable impacts from change in uncertain tax positions.
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Segment Financial Information

The following tables present total revenues and segment operating profit for each reportable segment (in thousands) and includes a reconciliation of
segment operating profit to total U.S. GAAP operating profit by including certain corporate-level expenses and expenses relating to the Restructuring and other
charges and transaction costs associated with the CH2M transaction and integration costs and the ECR sale (in thousands). Prior period information has been recast
to reflect the current period presentation.

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Revenues from External Customers:      

Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear $ 4,372,008  $ 2,464,363  $ 2,845,913
Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities 6,184,883  3,830,697  3,419,505
Energy, Chemicals and Resources 4,427,755  3,727,728  4,698,739

              Total $ 14,984,646  $ 10,022,788  $ 10,964,157

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Segment Operating Profit:      

Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear (1) $ 311,871  $ 200,179  $ 215,119
Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities (2) 482,277  263,679  217,412
Energy, Chemicals and Resources 218,109  161,312  153,797

Total Segment Operating Profit 1,012,257  625,170  586,328
Other Corporate Expenses (113,702)  (81,595)  (60,100)
Restructuring and Other Charges (170,148)  (134,206)  (187,630)
Transaction Costs (80,436)  (17,100)  —

Total U.S. GAAP Operating Profit 647,971  392,269  338,598
Gain (Loss) on disposal of business and investments (20,967)  10,880  (41,410)
Total Other (Expense) Income, net (3) (72,299)  (9,932)  (10,465)

Earnings Before Taxes $ 554,705  $ 393,217  $ 286,723

(1) Includes $15.0 million in charges during the year ended September 28, 2018 associated with a legal matter.
(2) Excludes $23.8 in restructuring and other charges for the year ended September 29, 2017 . See Note 8, Restructuring
and
Other
Charges
.
(3) Includes amortization of deferred financing fees related to the CH2M acquisition of $1.8 million for the year ended September 28, 2018 . Also, includes $1.2 million and

$277 thousand of restructuring and other charges for the years ended September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 , respectively.

In evaluating the Company’s performance by operating segment, the CODM reviews various metrics and statistical data for each LOB but focuses
primarily on revenues and operating profit. As discussed above, segment operating profit includes not only local SG&A expenses but the SG&A expenses of the
Company’s support groups that have been allocated to the segments. In addition, the Company attributes each LOB’s specific incentive compensation plan costs to
the LOBs. The revenues of certain LOBs are more affected by pass-through revenues than other LOBs. The methods for recognizing revenue, incentive fees,
project losses and change orders are consistent among the LOBs. 

During the fourth fiscal quarter of 2017, the Company implemented certain restructuring activities (primarily severance related activities) associated with
the Company’s acquisition of CH2M. Following the closing of the CH2M acquisition, these activities have continued into fiscal 2018 and include associated
charges for professional services, personnel costs, severance and costs associated with co-locating Jacobs and CH2M offices, amounting to approximately $190.8
million in pre-tax charges during fiscal 2018. These activities are expected to continue through 2019. These activities are not expected to involve the exit of any
service types or client end-markets.

Transaction costs associated with the CH2M acquisition in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings for the years ended September 28, 2018
and September 29, 2017 are comprised of the following (in millions):
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 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Personnel costs $ 50.2  $ 2.2
Professional services and other expenses 27.5  14.9

Total $ 77.7  $ 17.1

Personnel costs above include change of control payments and related severance costs. In evaluating the Company’s performance by operating segment,
the CODM reviews revenues and operating profit. As discussed above, segment operating profit includes not only local SG&A expenses but the SG&A expenses
of the Company’s support groups that have been allocated to the segments. In addition, the Company attributes each LOB’s specific incentive compensation plan
costs to the LOBs. The revenues of certain LOBs are more affected by pass-through revenues than other LOBs. The methods for recognizing revenue, incentive
fees, project losses and change orders are consistent among the LOBs.

Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Revenue $ 4,372,008  $ 2,464,363  $ 2,845,913
Operating Profit $ 311,871  $ 200,179  $ 215,119

Fiscal 2018 vs. 2017

Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear segment revenues for the year ended September 28, 2018 were $4.37 billion , up $1.91 billion , or
77.4% , from $2.46 billion for the corresponding period last year. The increase in revenues were due in large part to nuclear and environmental revenue resulting
from the CH2M acquisition. Also, our revenues were positively impacted by year over year revenue volume growth across our legacy portfolio, highlighted by
increased spending by customers in the U.S. government business sector and our nuclear and defense unit in the U.K. Impacts on revenues from favorable foreign
currency were approximately $23.8 million for fiscal year 2018 .

Operating profit for the segment was $311.9 million for the year ended September 28, 2018 , up $111.7 million , or 55.8% , from $200.2 million for the
corresponding period last year. In addition to incremental operating profit benefits from the CH2M acquisition, the increase from the prior year was primarily
attributable to continued growth in profits from our U.S. governmental business sector and improvements in our nuclear and defense unit in the U.K. and fee
income with our U.K. joint venture. SG&A for the ATEN segment increased for fiscal 2018 attributable mainly to incremental SG&A associated with the CH2M
acquisition during the fiscal 2018 and additional charges of $15.0 million associated with a legal matter incurred during fiscal 2018.

Fiscal 2017 vs. 2016

Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear segment revenues for the year ended September 29, 2017 were $2.46 billion , down $381.6 million ,
or 13.4% , from $2.85 billion for the corresponding period in 2016. The decrease in revenues was mainly in our U.S. government business sector, where rebid
losses and small business award preferences drove the declines. Unfavorable foreign currency impacts of approximately $13.0 million also contributed to this year
over year decline. These unfavorable items were partially offset by positive gains from organic growth and improvement in our telecommunications sector, our
NASA projects and our projects for the Ministry of Defense in Australia.

Operating profit for the ATEN segment was $200.2 million for the year ended September 29, 2017 , down $14.9 million , or 6.9% , from $215.1 million
for the year ended September 30, 2016 . This decrease in profitability was due primarily to the revenue declines in the U.S. government business sector mentioned
above, as well as lower equity income from our U.K. joint venture for the comparative periods mainly associated with year over year declines in project funding.

Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities
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 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Revenue $ 6,184,883  $ 3,830,697  $ 3,419,505
Operating Profit $ 482,277  $ 263,679  $ 217,412

Fiscal 2018 vs. 2017

Revenues for the Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities segment for the year ended September 28, 2018 were $6.18 billion , up $2.35 billion ,
or 61.5% , from $3.83 billion for the corresponding period last year. The increase in revenues was due in part to favorable impacts from the CH2M acquisition of
approximately $2.22 billion together with revenue increases across all our businesses with strong investment in Life Sciences, Electronics, Water and Transport
Infrastructure markets. Impacts on revenues from favorable foreign currency were approximately $59.6 million for fiscal 2018 .

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 28, 2018 was $482.3 million , an increase of $218.6 million , or 82.9% , from $263.7
million for the comparative period in 2017 . The increase in operating profit was in part due to favorable impacts from the CH2M acquisition, together with
positive impacts from the higher year over year revenues for the segment. SG&A for the BIAF segment increased for fiscal 2018, with this increase being
attributable mainly to incremental SG&A associated with the CH2M acquisition during fiscal 2018.

Fiscal 2017 vs. 2016

Revenues for the Buildings, Infrastructure and Advances Facilities segment for the year ended September 29, 2017 were $3.83 billion , an increase of
$411.2 million , or 12.0% , versus $3.42 billion for the corresponding period in 2016 . The year over year increases in revenues was due mainly to U.S. client
spending level increases in the PMCM market and increased client major capex spending in the Life Sciences business. Year over year impacts on revenues from
unfavorable foreign currency were approximately $36.0 million.

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 29, 2017 was $263.7 million , up $46.3 million , or 21.3% , compared to $217.4 million for
2016 . Excluded from the presented operating profit amounts for the year ending September 29, 2017 were $23.8 million in Restructuring and other charges related
to strategic business restructuring activities in our U.K, Middle East and Europe businesses. Increases in profitability for the period in 2017 over 2016 were due
mainly to higher revenue from the U.S. PMCM projects and higher levels of professional service and project procurement business in the Life Sciences business,
partially offset by charges from a contract settlement of $6.0 million.

Energy, Chemicals and Resources

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 28, 2018
Revenue $ 4,427,755  $ 3,727,728  $ 4,698,739
Operating Profit $ 218,109  $ 161,312  $ 153,797

Fiscal 2018 vs. 2017

Energy, Chemicals and Resources revenues for the year ended September 28, 2018 were $4.43 billion , an increase of $700.0 million , or 18.8% , from
$3.73 billion for the corresponding period last year. The increase in revenues was due primarily to the ongoing execution of several large petrochemical projects
with significant pass-through costs, growth in the construction operations and maintenance market as clients focus on capital efficiency, the continued recovery of
mining and minerals market as clients begin the transition from feasibility studies into the investment phase of projects, and the increasing trend among oil
producers to drive downstream investments to refining and chemicals. Also, the CH2M acquisition added approximately $284.4 million during fiscal year 2018.
Additionally, foreign currency impacts were favorable by approximately $56.4 million for fiscal 2018 versus the corresponding periods of 2017 .

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 28, 2018 was $ 218.1 million , an increase of $56.8 million or 35.2% from $161.3 million
for the corresponding period last year. The increase in profitability was due to higher revenue and favorable mix across the portfolio. SG&A for the segment was
up $77.0 million for fiscal 2018 versus the 2017 periods, due
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mainly to incremental operating general and administrative expense coming with the CH2M acquisition. Additionally, included in the prior fiscal year was a one-
time $9.9 million benefit associated with benefit plan changes in our India operations.

Fiscal 2017 vs. 2016

Energy, Chemicals and Resources revenues for the year ended September 29, 2017 were $3.73 billion , a decrease of $971.0 million , or 20.7% , versus
$4.70 billion for the corresponding period in 2016 . The decrease in revenues was primarily due to the completion or wind-down of several projects with significant
pass-through revenue as well as award delays of large post front-end engineering and design projects, as clients continue to evaluate their capital spending plans as
oil prices remained low and weaker market conditions in the Mining and Minerals business. These factors resulted in lower field service revenues compared with
the prior year periods, while client investment spending continues primarily on compliance, maintenance and sustaining capital programs. Additionally, foreign
currency impacts were unfavorable of approximately $18.0 million on year over year revenue comparisons for fiscal 2017 versus fiscal 2016 .

Operating profit for the segment for the year ended September 29, 2017 was $161.3 million , up $7.5 million , or 4.9% , compared to $153.8 million for
2016 . Increases in profitability for the period in 2017 over 2016 were due mainly to improved project performance in the Minings & Minerals business and SG&A
savings from restructuring efforts and a one-time $9.9 million benefit associated with benefit plan changes in our India operations offset by revenue declines from
lower business volumes as mentioned above, offset by revenue declines from lower business volumes mentioned previously.

Other Corporate Expenses

Other corporate expense were $113.7 million , $81.6 million and $60.1 million for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and
September 30, 2016 . These increases were due primarily to increased intangible asset amortization relating to the CH2M acquisition, higher professional service
fees, personnel related costs, settlement charges associated with certain of the Company's pension plans and higher depreciation associated with increased corporate
technology investments, partially offset by savings associated with the 2015 Restructuring program.

Included in other corporate expenses in the above table are costs and expenses which relate to general corporate activities as well as corporate-managed
benefit and insurance programs. Such costs and expenses include: (i) those elements of SG&A expenses relating to the business as a whole; (ii) those elements of
our incentive compensation plans relating to corporate personnel whose other compensation costs are not allocated to the LOBs; (iii) the amortization of intangible
assets acquired as part of business combinations; (iv) the quarterly variances between the Company’s actual costs of certain of its self-insured integrated risk and
employee benefit programs and amounts charged to the LOBs; and (v) certain adjustments relating to costs associated with the Company’s international defined
benefit pension plans. In addition, other corporate expenses may also include from time to time certain adjustments to contract margins (both positive and negative)
associated with projects where it has been determined, in the opinion of management, that such adjustments are not indicative of the performance of the related
LOB.

Backlog Information

Backlog is not a defined measure and our methodology for determining backlog may vary from the methodology used by other companies. Currently, we
report a combined backlog number based upon the legacy reporting methodologies used by Jacobs and the acquired business of CH2M prior to the acquisition
while we work to harmonize these reporting methodologies as part of the Company's integration activities underway.

We include in backlog the total dollar amount of revenues we expect to record in the future as a result of performing work under contracts that have been
awarded to us. Our policy with respect to O&M contracts, however, is to include in backlog the amount of revenues we expect to receive for one succeeding year,
regardless of the remaining life of the contract. For national government programs (other than national government O&M contracts, which are subject to the same
policy applicable to all other O&M contracts), our policy is to include in backlog the full contract award, whether funded or unfunded, excluding option periods.
Because of variations in the nature, size, expected duration, funding commitments and the scope of services required by our contracts, the timing of when backlog
will be recognized as revenues can vary greatly between individual contracts.

Consistent with industry practice, substantially all of our contracts are subject to cancellation or termination at the option of the client, including our U.S.
government work. While management uses all information available to it to determine backlog, at any given time our backlog is subject to changes in the scope of
services to be provided as well as increases or decreases in costs relating to the contracts included therein. Backlog is not necessarily an indicator of future
revenues.
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Because certain contracts (e.g., contracts relating to large EPC projects as well as national government programs) can cause large increases to backlog in
the fiscal period in which we recognize the award, and because many of our contracts require us to provide services that span over a number of fiscal quarters (and
sometimes over fiscal years), we evaluate our backlog on a year-over-year basis, rather than on a sequential, quarter-over-quarter basis.

Please refer to Item 1A- Risk
Factors
, above, for a discussion of other factors that may cause backlog to ultimately convert into revenues at different
amounts.

The following table summarizes our backlog for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in millions):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear $ 8,857  $ 6,358  $ 4,472
Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities 11,376  6,789  7,063
Energy, Chemicals and Resources 7,066  6,642  7,226

            Total $ 27,299  $ 19,789  $ 18,761

The increase in backlog in Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear for the years presented were primarily the result of new awards from the
U.S. federal government and the CH2M acquisition in fiscal year 2018.

The increase in backlog in Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities for the years presented were primarily the result of new awards in Australia
and the U.S. markets and the CH2M acquisition in fiscal year 2018.

The increase in backlog in Energy, Chemicals and Resources from fiscal year 2017 to 2018 was due to the CH2M acquisition offset in part by work off of
projects in the Americas with significant pass-through cost. The decrease seen in from fiscal year 2017 to 2016 was primarily due to the weakness in the upstream
market, partly offset by strong performance in chemicals backlog.

Backlog relating to work to be performed either directly or indirectly for the U.S. federal government and its agencies totaled approximately $6.8 billion
(or 24.9% of total backlog), $4.6 billion (or 23.2% of total backlog) and $4.8 billion (or 25.4% of total backlog) at September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and
September 30, 2016 , respectively. Most of our federal government contracts require that services be provided beyond one year. In general, these contracts must be
funded annually (i.e., the amounts to be spent under the contract must be appropriated by the U.S. Congress to the procuring agency, and then the agency must allot
these sums to the specific contracts).

We estimate that approximately $9.9 billion, or 36%, of total backlog at September 28, 2018 will be realized as revenues within the next fiscal year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At September 28, 2018 , our principal sources of liquidity consisted of $ 793.4 million in cash and cash equivalents, $1,448.4 million of available
borrowing capacity under our $1.6 billion 2014 revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and cash flows from operating activities. Additional
information regarding the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan Facility is set forth in Note 9 - Borrowings
in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We finance much of our operations and growth through cash generated by our operations.

On December 15, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. (CH2M), an international provider of engineering,
construction, and technical services, by acquiring 100% of the outstanding shares of CH2M common stock and preferred stock. The Company paid total
consideration of approximately $1.8 billion in cash (excluding $315.2 million in cash acquired) and issued approximately $1.4 billion of Jacobs’ common stock to
the former stockholders and certain equity award holders of CH2M. In connection with the acquisition, the Company also assumed CH2M’s revolving credit
facility and second lien notes, including a $20.0 million prepayment penalty, which totaled approximately $700.0 million. Immediately following the effective time
of the acquisition, the Company repaid CH2M’s revolving credit facility and second lien notes including the related prepayment penalty. The Company financed
the cash consideration for the CH2M acquisition, the repayment of CH2M’s outstanding indebtedness and other transaction expenses with a combination of cash on
hand and debt financing, which included borrowings under the Term Loan Facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1.5 billion and additional borrowings
under the Revolving Credit Facility.
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At September 28, 2018 , our cash and cash equivalents were $793.4 million , an increase of $ 19.1 million from $774.2 million at September 29, 2017 .

This increase was due to cash flows provided by operations of $481.2 million and favorable cash flows from financing activities of $1.1 billion , partly
offset by $1.6 billion in cash flows used in investing activities and exchange rate effects on cash of $(26.8) million .

Our cash flow from operations of $481.2 million during fiscal 2018 was comparatively lower than the $574.9 million in cash flow from operations for the
corresponding period in fiscal 2017 , due mainly to higher levels of working capital (mainly in accounts receivable), lower net earnings attributable to the group,
cash used for payments on the opening balance sheet liabilities and post acquisition costs incurred in connection with the CH2M acquisition and payments
associated with obligations from Restructuring and other charges.

With respect to the Company’s working capital accounts, the Company’s cash flows from operations are greatly affected by the cost-plus nature of our
customer contracts. Because such a high percentage of our revenues are earned on cost-plus type contracts, and due to the significance of revenues relating to pass-
through costs, most of the costs we incur are included in invoices we send to clients. Although we continually monitor our accounts receivable, we manage the
operating cash flows of the Company by managing the working capital accounts in total, rather than by the individual elements. The primary elements of the
Company’s working capital accounts are accounts receivable, accounts payable and billings in excess of cost. Accounts payable consist of obligations to third
parties relating primarily to costs incurred for projects which are generally billable to clients. Accounts receivable consist of amounts due from our clients of which
a substantial portion are for project-related costs. Billings in excess of cost consist of billings to and payments from our clients for costs yet to be incurred.

This relationship between revenues and costs, and between receivables and payables, is unique to our industry, and facilitates review of our liquidity at the
total working capital level.

Our cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2018 of $1.6 billion was comparatively higher than the $236.2 million cash used in investing activities for
the corresponding period in fiscal 2017 which was primarily driven by cash used for the CH2M acquisition, net of cash amounts acquired from the acquisition of
$315.2 million. Additions to property and equipment were slightly down from the comparative period.

Our cash from financing activities of $1.1 billion for fiscal 2018 resulted mainly from proceeds from borrowings of $5.8 billion , most of which was used
in connection with financing of the CH2M acquisition. Repayments of long-term debt of $4.6 billion during first half of fiscal 2018 were up compared to $1.8
billion in fiscal 2017 , with this increase due mainly to the payoff of CH2M’s legacy debt balances in connection with the closing of the acquisition. Comparatively
lower cash flows from proceeds from issuances of common stock during fiscal 2018 were offset by lower cash outflows for common stock repurchases. The
Company paid $86.6 million in dividends, including to noncontrolling interests of $ 4.6 million , during the year, with $58.8 million in dividends paid in the
comparative prior year period.

At September 28, 2018 , the Company had approximately $342.9 million in cash and cash equivalents held in the U.S. and $450.5 million held outside of
the U.S. (primarily in the U.K., the Eurozone, Chile and India), which is used primarily for funding operations in those regions. Other than the tax cost of
repatriating funds to the U.S. (see Note 13- Income
Taxes
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K), there are no material impediments to repatriating these funds to the U.S.

The Company had $446.6 million in letters of credit outstanding at September 28, 2018 . Of this amount, $2.5 million was issued under the Revolving
Credit Facility and $444.1 million was issued under separate, committed and uncommitted letter-of-credit facilities.

On October 21, 2018, Jacobs and WorleyParsons Limited, a company incorporated in Australia (“Buyer”), entered into a Stock and Asset Purchase
Agreement pursuant to which Buyer agreed to acquire the Company’s ECR business for a purchase price of $3.3 billion consisting of (i) $2.6 billion in cash plus
(ii) ordinary shares of the Buyer equal to $700 million, subject to adjustments for changes in working capital and certain other items (the “Transaction”). The
Transaction, which has been approved by the boards of directors of the Company and Buyer, is expected to close in the first half of calendar year 2019.

We believe we have adequate liquidity and capital resources to fund our operations and support our debt service, and also to make discretionary payments
such as the payment of dividends and buyback of shares and to support our ongoing acquisition strategy for the next twelve months based on the liquidity provided
by our cash and cash equivalents on hand, our borrowing capacity
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remaining under the Revolving Credit Facility and our continuing cash from operations. We were in compliance with all of our debt covenants at September 28,
2018 .

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth certain information about our contractual obligations as of September 28, 2018 (in thousands):

 Payments Due by Fiscal Period

 Total  
1 Year
or Less  1 - 3 Years  3 - 5 Years  

More than 5
Years

Debt obligations $ 2,151,877  $ 941  $ 1,650,936  $ —  $ 500,000
Operating leases (1) 1,219,521  215,375  346,009  251,605  406,532
Obligations under defined benefit pension plans (2) 359,074  34,150  71,404  75,753  177,767
Obligations under nonqualified deferred
compensation plans (3) 258,901  38,015  80,697  84,778  55,410
Purchase obligations (4) 2,693,034  2,596,228  96,806  —  —
Interest (5) 176,080  61,302  85,158  29,620  —

Total $ 6,858,487  $ 2,946,011  $ 2,331,010  $ 441,756  $ 1,139,709

(1) Assumes the Company will make the end of lease term residual value guarantee payment of $62.4 million in 2025 with respect to the lease of an office building in Houston,
Texas. Please refer to Note 14- Commitments
and
Contingencies
and
Derivative
Financial
Instruments
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-
1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Assumes that future contributions will be consistent with amounts projected to be contributed in fiscal 2018 , allowing for certain growth based on rates of inflation and
salary increases, but limited to the amount recorded as of September 28, 2018 . Actual contributions will depend on a variety of factors, including amounts required by
local laws and regulations, and other funding requirements.

(3) Assumes that future payments will be consistent with amounts paid in fiscal 2018 . Due to the non-qualified nature of the plans, and the fact that benefits are based in part
on years of service, the payments included in the schedule were limited to the amount recorded as of September 28, 2018 .

(4) Represents those liabilities estimated to be under firm contractual commitments as of September 28, 2018 ; primarily accounts payable, accrued payroll and accrued
dividends.

(5) Determined based on borrowings outstanding at the end of fiscal 2018 using the interest rates in effect at that time and, for our outstanding long-term debt, concluding with
the expiration date of the debt facilities, as defined below.

Effects of Inflation and Changing Prices

The effects of inflation and changing prices on our business is discussed in Item 1A- Risk
Factors
, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We are party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the form of guarantees not reflected in our balance sheet that arise in the normal course
of business. However, such off-balance sheet arrangements are not reasonably likely to have an effect on our financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or resources that are material to investors. See Note 14 - Commitments
and
Contingencies
and
Derivative
Financial
Instruments
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

New Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issues accounting standards updates (each an “ASU”) to its Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”), which constitutes the primary source of U.S. GAAP. The Company regularly monitors ASUs as they are issued and considers
their applicability to its business. All ASUs applicable to the Company are adopted by the due date and in the manner prescribed by the FASB.

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09 Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers
. The new guidance provided by ASU 2014-09 is intended to
remove inconsistencies and perceived weaknesses in the existing revenue requirements, provide a more robust framework for addressing revenue issues, improve
comparability, provide more useful information and simplify the preparation
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of financial statements. The effective date for ASU 2014-09 is for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods therein.

The Company’s adoption activities have been performed over three phases: (i) assessment, (ii) design and (iii) implementation. As part of these phases,
the Company has identified the following potentially significant differences to date:

Performance
Obligations

Under current U.S. GAAP, the Company typically segments contracts that contain multiple services by service type - for instance, engineering,
procurement and construction services - for purposes of revenue recognition. Under ASU 2014-09, multiple-service contracts where the Company is responsible
for providing a single deliverable (e.g., a constructed asset) will be treated as a single performance obligation for purposes of revenue recognition and thus no
longer will be segmented. Typically, this will occur when the company is contracted to perform both engineering and construction on a project. In these
circumstances, the timing and pattern of revenue recognition will change. The remainder of the Company's contracts will continue to be treated as having discrete
units of account because they either contain only one service or because the Company has determined that the component services in the contract are distinct.

Contract
Modifications

In many instances, the Company enters into separate contracts for related services (e.g., engineering and construction) but is held responsible for
providing a single deliverable (“Phased Projects”). Under ASU 2014-09, the separate contracts may be required to be combined and treated as a single contract
with one performance obligation. This modification or combination of contracts may result in a cumulative catchup adjustment, which will have an immediate
impact on the Company’s results of operations in the period the contract combination or modification occurs. In addition, it will change the timing and pattern of
revenue recognition after the period the contracts have been combined or modified.

Based on the two noted changes above, the Company has identified selected changes to our systems, processes and internal controls and designed updates
for each to meet the standard's revised reporting and disclosure requirements. The Company has also assessed the impact of ASU 2014-09 to the recently acquired
CH2M business. We will align CH2M's accounting policies, processes and controls with the policies, processes and controls being implemented across the
Company.

The Company will adopt the new standard using the Modified Retrospective application for periods beginning with the first fiscal quarter of 2019. This
standard will impact the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and will its administrative operations. The impact will depend on the magnitude of the
items discussed above. While the Company will continue to evaluate the impact through the implementation phase, we expect a reduction of retained earnings in
our consolidated financial statements in the period of adoption due to revenue recognition timing for certain engineering and construction contracts shifting as a
result of being accounted for as a single performance obligation. This adjustment will create a corresponding adjustment in the Company's consolidated financial
statements to accounts receivable and unbilled receivables and to billings in excess of costs.

Lease Accounting

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 Leases
. ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for most leases. ASU 2016-02
is effective for public entity financial statements for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early
adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The new guidance currently requires a modified retrospective transition approach for leases that
exist or are entered into after the beginning of the earliest comparative period in the financial statements. ASU 2016-02 was further clarified and amended within
ASU 2017-13, ASU 2018-01, ASU 2018-10 and ASU 2018-11 which included provisions that would provide us with the option to adopt the provisions of the new
guidance using a modified retrospective transition approach, without adjusting the comparative periods presented. The Company is evaluating the impact of the
new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. This standard could have a significant administrative impact on its operations, and the Company will further
assess the impact through its implementation program.

Other Pronouncements

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12, Derivatives
and
Hedging
(Topic
815):
Targeted
Improvements
to
Accounting
for
Hedging
Activities.
ASU 2017-12 provides financial reporting improvements related to hedging relationships to better portray the economic results of an entity’s risk management
activities in its financial statements. Additionally, ASU No. 2017-12 makes certain targeted improvements to simplify the application of the hedge accounting
guidance. The revised guidance becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating
the impact of
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the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. It is not expected that the updated guidance will have a significant impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

ASU 2017-04, Simplifying
the
Test
for
Goodwill
Impairment,
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 with early adoption
permitted. ASU 2017-04 removes the second step of the goodwill impairment test, which requires a hypothetical purchase price allocation. An entity will now
recognize a goodwill impairment charge for the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the amount of goodwill
allocated to the reporting unit. Management does not expect the adoption of ASU 2017-04 to have any impact on the Company's financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-07, Compensation-
Retirement
Benefits
(Topic
715):
Improving
the
Presentation
of
Net
Periodic
Pension
Cost
and
Net
Periodic
Postretirement
Benefit
Cost
. This new standard intends to improve the presentation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost. The new standard requires the service cost component of net periodic cost be reported in the same line item(s) as other employee
compensation costs and all other components of the net periodic cost be reported in the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income below
operating income. ASU 2017-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 for public companies and early adoption is permitted. Management
is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2017-07 will have on the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading, speculation or other purposes that would expose the Company to market risk. In the
normal course of business, our results of operations are exposed to risks associated with fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

Please see the Note 9- Borrowings
in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on Page F-1 of this Annual report on Form 10-K, which is
incorporated herein by reference, for a discussion of the Revolving Credit Facility, Term Loan Facility and Note Purchase Agreement.

Our Term Loan Facility, Revolving Credit Facility, and certain other debt obligations are subject to variable rate interest which could be adversely
affected by an increase in interest rates. As of September 28, 2018 , we had an aggregate of $1.65 billion in outstanding borrowings under our Term Loan Facility
and our Revolving Credit Facility. Interest on amounts borrowed under these agreements is subject to adjustment based on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the credit agreements governing the Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility). Depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage
Ratio, borrowings under the Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a Eurocurrency rate plus a margin of between 1.0% and 1.5% or a
base rate plus a margin of between 0% and 0.5%. Additionally, if our consolidated leverage ratio exceeds a certain amount, the interest on the Senior Notes may
increase by 75 basis points.

For the year ended September 28, 2018 , our weighted average floating rate borrowings were approximately $ 2.0 billion. If floating interest rates had
increased by 1.00%, our interest expense for the year ended September 28, 2018 would have increased by approximately $ 20.4 million.

Foreign Currency Risk

In situations where our operations incur contract costs in currencies other than their functional currency, we attempt to have a portion of the related
contract revenues denominated in the same currencies as the costs. In those situations, where revenues and costs are transacted in different currencies, we
sometimes enter into foreign exchange contracts in order to limit our exposure to fluctuating foreign currencies. We follow the provisions of ASC No. 815,
Derivatives
and
Hedging
in accounting for our derivative contracts. The Company does not currently have exchange rate sensitive instruments that would have a
material effect on our consolidated financial statements or results of operations.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by this Item 8 is submitted as a separate section beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated
herein by reference.  
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.   

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined by Rule 13a-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) as of
September 28, 2018 , the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Evaluation Date”). Based on that evaluation, and as a result of the
material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting described below under Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) under the Exchange Act) were not functioning effectively as of the Evaluation Date to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be
disclosed by the Company in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As permitted by SEC guidance for newly acquired businesses, management’s assessment of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures did not
include an assessment of those disclosure controls and procedures of CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. (CH2M) that are subsumed by internal control over financial
reporting. CH2M accounted for approximately 42% of total assets as of September 28, 2018, and 25% of revenues and 30% of operating profit for the fiscal year
ended on September 28, 2018.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining for the Company adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Exchange Act. Management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has assessed the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of the Evaluation Date based on the framework established in “Internal
Control—Integrated
Framework,”
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on this assessment and the material weakness
identified below, management has concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of the Evaluation Date was ineffective. As permitted
by SEC guidance for newly acquired businesses, management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting did not include an
assessment of internal control over financial reporting of CH2M. CH2M accounted for approximately 42% of total assets as of September 28, 2018, and 25% of
revenues and 30% of operating profit for the fiscal year ended on September 28, 2018.

Management has identified the following material weakness as of September 28, 2018: A material weakness related to internal control deficiencies over
the accounting for income taxes in connection with a business combination, specifically related to the ineffective design and operating effectiveness of controls
over the completeness and accuracy of deferred taxes and the evaluation of the recoverability of deferred taxes associated with the CH2M acquisition. 

The material weakness did not result in any material misstatements to the Company’s previously issued financial statements, nor in the financial
statements included in this Form 10-K.

The Company's independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, that audited the Company's consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, also audited the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 28, 2018, as stated in
their report included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Remediation Plan

The Company's management is committed to maintaining a strong internal control environment. In response to the identified material weakness,
management, with the oversight of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, will take comprehensive actions to remediate the material weakness in internal
control over financial reporting, including implementing additional specific enhanced control procedures for the review, analysis and reporting of its deferred
income tax accounts, including control procedures relating to the recoverability of deferred taxes associated with acquired businesses in a business combination.
The Company has commenced its remediation plan, with the goal of remediating this material weakness as soon as possible, subject to the conclusion by
management that the enhanced internal control over financial reporting is operating effectively following appropriate testing. The
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remediation efforts are intended both to address the identified material weakness and to enhance our overall financial control environment. As management
continues to evaluate and work to improve the Company's disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, the Company may take
additional measures to address these deficiencies or modify certain of the remediation measures described above.

Changes in Internal Control

Subject to the above, there were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the Company’s fiscal quarter ended
September 28, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

The Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that its disclosure controls and
procedures or its system of internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed or
operated, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system of internal control are met. The design of the Company’s
control system reflects the fact that there are resource constraints, and that the benefits of such control systems must be considered relative to their costs. Further,
because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control failures and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns
can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the intentional acts of individuals, by collusion of two or more people,
or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events,
and there can be no assurance that the design of any particular control will always succeed in achieving its objective under all potential future conditions.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons

The information required by Paragraph (a), and Paragraphs (c) through (g) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K (except for information required by Paragraph
(e) of that Item to the extent the required information pertains to our executive officers) and Item 405 of Regulation S-K is set forth under the captions “Members
of the Board of Directors,” “Corporate Governance” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed
with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference. The information required by
Paragraph (b) of Item 401 of Regulation S-K, as well as the information required by Paragraph (e) of that Item to the extent the required information pertains to our
executive officers, is set forth in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Chief Executive Officer and senior financial officers; a code of business conduct and ethics for members of our
Board of Directors and corporate governance guidelines. The full text of these codes of ethics and corporate governance guidelines are available at our website at
www.jacobs.com. In the event we make any amendment to, or grant any waiver from, a provision of the code of ethics that applies to the principal executive
officer, principal financial officer or principal accounting officer that requires disclosure under applicable SEC rules, we will disclose such amendment or waiver
and the reasons therefor on our website. We will provide any person without charge a copy of any of the aforementioned codes of ethics upon receipt of a written
request. Requests should be addressed to: Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., 1999 Bryan Street, Suite 1200, Dallas, Texas 75201, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

Corporate Governance

The information required by Items 407(d)(4) and (d)(5) of Regulation S-K is set forth under the caption “Corporate Governance” in our definitive proxy
statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Corporate Governance,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Compensation
Discussion and Analysis” and “Executive Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days
after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table presents certain information about our equity compensation plans as of September 28, 2018 :
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Column A  Column B  Column C

Plan Category

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,

warrants, and rights  

Weighted- average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants, and rights  

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance under

equity compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected in

Column A)
Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders (a) 1,766,759  $ 45.53  5,631,371
Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders —  —  —

Total 1,766,759  45.53  5,631,371

(a) The number in Column A excludes purchase rights accruing under our two, broad-based, shareholder-approved employee stock purchase plans: The Jacobs Engineering
Group Inc. 1989 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated (the “1989 ESPP”), and the Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated (the
“GESPP”). These plans give employees the right to purchase shares at an amount and price that are not determinable until the end of the specified purchase periods, which
occur monthly. Our shareholders have authorized a total of 32.3  million shares of common stock to be issued through the 1989 ESPP and the GESPP. From the inception
of the 1989 ESPP and the GESPP through September 28, 2018 , a total of 28.0  million shares have been issued, leaving 4.3  million shares of common stock available for
future issuance at that date.

The information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K is set forth under the caption “Security Ownership” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed
with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Members of The Board of Directors,” “Corporate Governance,” and “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions” in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of
our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is set forth under the captions “Report of the Audit Committee” and “Audit and Non-Audit Fees” in our definitive
proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the close of our fiscal year and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:
(1) The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 and for each of the three years in the

period ended September 28, 2018 , and the notes thereto, together with the report of the independent auditors on those Consolidated
Financial Statements are hereby filed as part of this report, beginning on page F-1.

(2) Financial statement schedules – no financial statement schedules are presented as the required information is either not applicable, or is
included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(3) See Exhibit Index below.

(b) Exhibit Index:
 

2.1

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated August 1, 2017, by and among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd.
and Basketball Merger Sub Inc.  Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on August 2, 2017 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   
2.2

 

Voting and Support Agreement, dated August 1, 2017, by and among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., Basketball Merger Sub Inc.
and AP VIII CH2 Holdings, L.P.  Filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on August 2, 2017 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   
2.3

 

Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 21, 2018, by and among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and
WorleyParsons Limited. Filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K on October 22, 2018 and incorporated
herein by reference.

   
3.1

 
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K on January 28, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
3.2

 
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., dated December 18, 2017. Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K on December 18, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
4.1  See Sections 5 through 18 of Exhibit 3.1.

   
4.2  See Article II, Section 3.03 of Article III, Article VI and Sections 8.04 and 8.06 of Article VIII of Exhibit 3.2.

   
4.3  See Exhibit 10.7 .

   
10.1

 

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 7, 2014 among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and certain of its
subsidiaries as borrowers, and the Bank of America, N.A. (as Administrative Agent); Bank of America, N.A., BNP Paribas, and
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (as Co-Syndication Agents); The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, LTD, and TD Bank, N.A. (as Co-
Documentation Agents); Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated (as Sole Book Manager); and Merrill Lynch,
Pierce,  Fenner & Smith Incorporated, BNP Paribas Securities Corp, and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (as Joint Lead Arrangers).
Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on February 11, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.2

 

Amendment No. 1, dated as of March 4, 2015, among Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc. and the lenders thereto, and Bank of America,
N.A., as administrative agent, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 7, 2014, by and among Jacobs
Engineering Group, Inc., the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent. Filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on March 5, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.3

 

Amendment No. 2, dated as of September 28, 2017, among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and the lenders thereto, and Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 7, 2014, by and among
Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent.  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on September 29, 2017 and incorporated herein by
reference.

   
10.4

 

Credit Agreement, dated as of September 28, 2017, among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and the lenders thereto, and BNP Paribas,
as administrative agent.  Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on September 29, 2017 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.5

 

Term Loan Commitment Letter, dated August 1, 2017, by and among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., BNP Paribas, BNP Paribas
Securities Corp. and The Bank of Nova Scotia.  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on August 2,
2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.6

 

Revolver Backstop Commitment Letter, dated August 1, 2017, by and among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., BNP Paribas, BNP
Paribas Securities Corp. and The Bank of Nova Scotia.  Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on
August 2, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.7

 

Note Purchase Agreement, dated March 12, 2018, by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and the Purchasers identified
therein. Filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on March 13, 2018, and incorporated herein by
reference.

   

10.8

 

First Amendment to the Note Purchase Agreement, dated May 11, 2018, by and among Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and the
Purchasers identified therein. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on May 15, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.9#
 

Offer Letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Steven J. Demetriou, dated July 10, 2015. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on July 16, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.10#

 

Offer Letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Kevin C. Berryman, effective November 12, 2014. Filed as Exhibit
99.1 to Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A on November 17, 2014 and incorporated herein by
reference.

   

10.11#
 

Offer letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Robert V. Pragada, dated January 28, 2016. Filed as Exhibit 10.61 to
the Registrant’s fiscal 2016 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.12#
 

Offer letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Michael Tyler dated May 28, 2013. Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal 2013 and incorporated herein by reference

   

10.13#
 

Offer letter by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and William Benton Allen, Jr. dated October 4, 2016. Filed as Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on October 14, 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.14#
 

Retirement Agreement by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Phillip J. Stassi dated June 1, 2016. Filed as Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the third quarter of fiscal 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.15#

 

Amended and Restated Separation Agreement by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Lori Sundberg, dated July 26,
2017.  Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal 2017 and incorporated
herein by reference.

   

10.16#

 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Gary Mandel, effective as of
December 30, 2017. Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.17†#  Retirement Transition Agreement by and between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and Gary Mandel, dated November 20, 2018.
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10.18#

 

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and certain of its officers and
directors.  Filed as Exhibit10.1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal 2012 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.19#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 401(k) Plus Savings Plan and Trust, as amended and restated April 1, 2003. Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to
the Registrant’s fiscal 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.20#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1989 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended and restated on January 19, 2017).  Filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 24, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.21#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended and restated on January 19, 2017).  Filed as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on January 24, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.22#
 

The Executive Security Program of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2014 Annual
Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.23#
 

Amendment to the Executive Security Program of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., dated December 23, 2008. Filed as Exhibit 10.3
to the Registrant’s fiscal 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.24#
 

Amendment to the Executive Security Program of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., dated May 31, 2009. Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the
Registrant’s fiscal 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.25#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1991 Executive Deferral Plan, effective June 1, 1991. Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s fiscal
2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.26#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1993 Executive Deferral Plan, effective December 1, 1993. Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s
fiscal 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.27#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1995 Executive Deferral Plan, effective January 1, 1995. Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s
fiscal 2014 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.28#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 2005 Executive Deferral Plan, effective January 1, 2005. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.29#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Amended and Restated Executive Deferral Plan. Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2012
Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.30#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Executive Deferral Plan, effective January 1, 2018.  Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K on October 2, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.31#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Directors Deferral Plan, effective January 1, 2018.  Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K on October 2, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.32#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Management Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective November 19, 2015. Filed as an
exhibit to the Registrant’s fiscal 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference .

   

10.33#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K on January 28, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.34#
 

Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Outside Director Stock Plan, as Amended and Restated. Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2016 and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.35#

 
Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, effective January 18, 2018. Filed as Exhibit
10.10 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.36#

 
Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Outside Director Stock Plan, as amended and restated. Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Registrant's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.37#  
Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Executive Severance Plan, effective May 2, 2018. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K on May 4, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.38#

 
CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. Supplemental Executive Retirement and Retention Plan, effective September 19, 2014. Filed as
Exhibit 10.6 to CH2M's Annual Report on Form 10-K on February 25, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.39#

 
CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan, effective November 13, 2014. Filed as Exhibit
10.5 to CH2M’s Annual Report on Form 10-K on February 25, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.40#

 

CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended effective December 15, 2017. Filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by
reference.

   
10.41#

 

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Outside Directors Stock
Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2016 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.42#

 

Form of non-qualified Stock Option Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive
Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2015 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.43#

 

Form of non-qualified Stock Option Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive
Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 and incorporated
herein by reference.

   

10.44#
 

Form of non-qualified Stock Option Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive
Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.49 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.45#

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive
Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2012 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.46#
 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan).
Filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.47#

 

Summary Description of Amendment to Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering
Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan).  Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second
quarter of fiscal 2017 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.48#  

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (with dividend equivalent rights) (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.
1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant's fiscal 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated
herein by reference.

   

10.49#

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Shares - TSR - 2014 Award) (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs
Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
third quarter of fiscal 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.
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10.50#  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Performance Shares - Net Earnings Growth – 2015 Award) (awarded pursuant to
the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.51#

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares - Earnings Per Share Growth – 2016 Award) (awarded pursuant to
the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.46 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2015 Annual Report
on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.52#

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – TSR – 2016 Award) (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering
Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.53#  

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – Earnings Per Share Growth – 2017 Award) (awarded pursuant to
the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.45 to the Registrant's fiscal 2017 Annual Report
on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.54#  

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares – ROIC – 2017 Award) (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs
Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.46 to the Registrant's fiscal 2017 Annual Report on Form
10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.55#  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Cash Settled Non-US Employees) (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group
Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.48 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.56#  Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan).
Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K on June 1, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.57#  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2012 and incorporated herein by
reference.

   

10.58#  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as
Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrant’s fiscal 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.59#  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Outside Directors
Stock Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the third quarter of fiscal 2016 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.60#  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Outside Directors
Stock Plan).  Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the second quarter of fiscal 2017 and
incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.61#  

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares - Earnings Per Share Growth - 2018 Award) (awarded pursuant to
the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

   

10.62#  

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance Shares - ROIC - 2018 Award) (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering
Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter
of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
10.63#

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Time-Based Vesting) (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999
Stock Incentive Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference.
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10.64#

 

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (awarded pursuant to the Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc. 1999 Outside Director Stock
Plan). Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated
herein by reference.  

   

10.65#  
Form of Summary Description of Amendment to CH2M 2017 Long-Term Incentive Plan Award Agreements. Filed as Exhibit 10.8
to the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and incorporated herein by reference.

   
21†  List of Subsidiaries of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.

   

23†  Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
   

31.1†  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   

31.2†  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   

32.1†
 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

   

32.2†
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

   

95†  Mine Safety Disclosure.
   

101.INS†  XBRL Instance Document
   

101.SCH†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
   

101.CAL†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
   

101.DEF†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
   

101.LAB†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
   

101.PRE†  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

† Being filed herewith.

# Management contract or
compensatory plan or
arrangement.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

    JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC.
Dated:  November 21, 2018  By:  /S/ Steven J. Demetriou
      Steven J. Demetriou

      
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
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Signature  Title  Date

/S/ Steven J. Demetriou  
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (Principal

Executive Officer)  November 21, 2018
Steven J. Demetriou     

/S/ Joseph R. Bronson  Director  November 21, 2018
Joseph R. Bronson     

/S/ Juan Jose Suarez Coppel  Director  November 21, 2018
Juan Jose Suarez Coppel     

/S/ Robert C. Davidson, Jr.  Director  November 21, 2018
Robert C. Davidson, Jr.     
/S/ Ralph E. Eberhart  Director  November 21, 2018

Ralph E. Eberhart     
/S/ Dawne S. Hickton  Director  November 21, 2018

Dawne S. Hickton     
/S/ Linda Fayne Levinson  Director  November 21, 2018

Linda Fayne Levinson     
/S/ Robert A. McNamara  Director  November 21, 2018

Robert A. McNamara     
/S/ Peter J. Robertson  Director  November 21, 2018

Peter J. Robertson     
/S/ Christopher M.T. Thompson  Director  November 21, 2018

Christopher M.T. Thompson     
/S/ Barry Williams  Director  November 21, 2018

Barry Williams     

/S/ Kevin C. Berryman  

Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)  November 21, 2018
Kevin C. Berryman     

/S/ William B. Allen  
Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)  November 21, 2018
William B. Allen     
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JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In
thousands,
except
share
information)

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
ASSETS    
Current Assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 793,358  $ 774,151
Receivables 3,554,930  2,102,543
Prepaid expenses and other 208,296  119,486

Total current assets 4,556,584  2,996,180
Property, Equipment and Improvements, net 457,706  349,911
Other Noncurrent Assets:    

Goodwill 6,103,856  3,009,826
Intangibles, net 655,957  332,920
Miscellaneous 871,692  692,022

Total other noncurrent assets 7,631,505  4,034,768

 $ 12,645,795  $ 7,380,859
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current Liabilities:    

Notes payable $ 4,954  $ 3,071
Accounts payable 1,127,671  683,605
Accrued liabilities 1,488,629  939,687
Billings in excess of costs 524,439  299,864

Total current liabilities 3,145,693  1,926,227
Long-term Debt 2,146,877  235,000
Other Deferred Liabilities 1,408,871  732,281
Commitments and Contingencies  
Stockholders’ Equity:    

Capital stock:    
                Preferred stock, $1 par value, authorized - 1,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding - none —  —
                Common stock, $1 par value, authorized - 240,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding—142,217,933
  shares and 120,385,544 shares as of September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017, respectively 142,218  120,386

Additional paid-in capital 2,708,839  1,239,782
Retained earnings 3,809,991  3,721,698
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (806,703)  (653,514)

Total Jacobs stockholders’ equity 5,854,345  4,428,352
Noncontrolling interests 90,009  58,999

Total Group stockholders’ equity 5,944,354  4,487,351

 $ 12,645,795  $ 7,380,859

See
the
accompanying
Notes
to
Consolidated
Financial
Statements.
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JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016
(In
thousands,
except
per
share
information)

 
September 28,

2018  
September 29,

2017  
September 30,

2016
Revenues $ 14,984,646  $ 10,022,788  $ 10,964,157

Direct cost of contracts (12,156,276)  (8,250,536)  (9,196,326)
Gross profit 2,828,370  1,772,252  1,767,831

Selling, general and administrative expenses (2,180,399)  (1,379,983)  (1,429,233)
Operating Profit 647,971  392,269  338,598
Other Income (Expense):      

Interest income 8,984  8,748  7,848
Interest expense (76,760)  (12,035)  (15,260)
Gain (Loss) on disposal of business and investments (20,967)  10,880  (41,410)
Miscellaneous income (expense), net (4,523)  (6,645)  (3,053)
Total other (expense) income, net (93,266)  948  (51,875)

Earnings Before Taxes 554,705  393,217  286,723
Income Tax Expense (381,563)  (105,842)  (72,208)
Net Earnings of the Group 173,142  287,375  214,515
Net (Earnings) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests (9,711)  6,352  (4,052)
Net Earnings Attributable to Jacobs $ 163,431  $ 293,727  $ 210,463
Net Earnings Per Share:      

Basic $ 1.18  $ 2.43  $ 1.75
Diluted $ 1.17  $ 2.42  $ 1.73

See
the
accompanying
Notes
to
Consolidated
Financial
Statements.
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JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016
(In
thousands)

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Net Earnings of the Group $ 173,142  $ 287,375  $ 214,515
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):      

Foreign currency translation adjustment (109,877)  (140,527)  (46,515)
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges 118  (1,350)  (1,403)
Change in pension liabilities (27,231)  123,427  (111,488)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before taxes (136,990)  (18,450)  (159,406)

Income Tax (Expense) Benefit:      
Cash flow hedges 859  (90)  273
Change in pension liabilities (17,058)  (24,380)  13,303

Income Tax (Expense) Benefit: (16,199)  (24,470)  13,576
Net other comprehensive income (loss) (153,189)  (42,920)  (145,830)
Net Comprehensive Income (Loss) of the Group 19,953  244,455  68,685
Net (Earnings) Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests (9,711)  6,352  (4,052)
Net Comprehensive Income (Loss) Attributable to Jacobs $ 10,242  $ 250,807  $ 64,633

See
the
accompanying
Notes
to
Consolidated
Financial
Statements
including
the
Company's
note
on
Other
Comprehensive
Income
for
a
presentation
of
amounts
reclassified
to
net
income
during
the
period.
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JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016
(In
thousands)

 

 Common Stock  
Additional

Paid-in Capital  
Retained
Earnings  

Accumulated
Other Comp-

rehensive
Income (Loss)  

Total Jacobs
Stock-holders’

Equity  

Non-
controlling
Interests  

Total Group
Stock-holders’

Equity

Balances at October 2, 2015 $ 123,153  $ 1,137,144  $ 3,496,212  $ (464,764)  $ 4,291,745  $ 64,713  $ 4,356,458
Net earnings —  —  210,463  —  210,463  4,052  214,515
Foreign currency translation adjustments —  —  —  (46,516)  (46,516)  —  (46,516)
Pension liability, net of deferred taxes of $13,303 —  —  —  (98,185)  (98,185)  —  (98,185)

Loss on derivatives, net of deferred taxes of $274 —  —  —  (1,129)  (1,129)  —  (1,129)

Noncontrolling interest acquired / consolidated —  (127)  —  —  (127)  (1,150)  (1,277)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests —  —  (3,146)  —  (3,146)  (2,709)  (5,855)
Issuances of equity securities, net of 

   deferred taxes of $3,382 1,351  72,055  —  —  73,406  —  73,406
Repurchases of equity securities (3,553)  (40,800)  (116,882)  —  (161,235)  —  (161,235)

Balances at September 30, 2016 $ 120,951  $ 1,168,272  $ 3,586,647  $ (610,594)  $ 4,265,276  $ 64,906  $ 4,330,182
Net earnings —  —  293,727  —  293,727  (6,352)  287,375
Foreign currency translation adjustments —  —  —  (140,527)  (140,527)  —  (140,527)
Pension liability, net of deferred taxes 

   of $24,380 —  —  —  99,047  99,047  —  99,047
Loss on derivatives, net of deferred 

   taxes of $90 —  —  —  (1,440)  (1,440)  —  (1,440)
Noncontrolling interest acquired / 

   consolidated —  —  —  —  —  445  445
Dividends —  —  (72,765)  —  (72,765)  —  (72,765)
Distributions to noncontrolling interests —  —  (4,559)  —  (4,559)  —  (4,559)
Issuances of equity securities, net of 

   deferred taxes of $1,015 1,468  99,117  —  —  100,585  —  100,585
Repurchases of equity securities (2,033)  (27,607)  (81,352)  —  (110,992)  —  (110,992)

Balances at September 29, 2017 $ 120,386  $ 1,239,782  $ 3,721,698  $ (653,514)  $ 4,428,352  $ 58,999  $ 4,487,351

Net earnings —  —  163,431  —  163,431  9,711  173,142

Foreign currency translation adjustments —  —  —  (109,877)  (109,877)  —  (109,877)
Pension liability, net of deferred taxes 

   of $17,058 —  —  10,160  (44,289)  (34,129)  —  (34,129)
Gain on derivatives, net of deferred 

   taxes of $(859) —  —  —  977  977  —  977
Noncontrolling interest acquired / 

   consolidated —  3,456  —  —  3,456  33,690  37,146

Dividends —  —  (85,608)  —  (85,608)  —  (85,608)

Distributions to noncontrolling interests —  —  7,705  —  7,705  (12,391)  (4,686)

Stock based compensation —  81,196  (1,954)  —  79,242  —  79,242

Issuances of equity securities 21,881  1,385,316  (3,420)  —  1,403,777  —  1,403,777

Repurchases of equity securities (49)  (911)  (2,021)  —  (2,981)  —  (2,981)

Balances at September 28, 2018 $ 142,218  $ 2,708,839  $ 3,809,991  $ (806,703)  $ 5,854,345  $ 90,009  $ 5,944,354

See
the
accompanying
Notes
to
Consolidated
Financial
Statements.
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JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Fiscal Years Ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016

(In
thousands)

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:      

Net earnings attributable to the Group $ 173,142  $ 287,375  $ 214,515

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash flows provided by operations:      

Depreciation and amortization:      

Property, equipment and improvements 117,856  76,418  82,363

Intangible assets 80,731  46,095  47,608

      (Gain) loss on sales of businesses and investments 20,967  (10,058)  41,410

Stock based compensation 79,242  38,764  32,370

Tax deficiency from stock based compensation —  (2,877)  (377)

Equity in earnings of operating ventures, net (2,639)  (7,788)  (11,892)

(Gain) Losses on disposals of assets, net 17,491  14,876  10,680

Loss (gain) on pension plan changes 5,414  (9,955)  —

Deferred income taxes 288,126  36,663  (27,407)

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of businesses acquired:      

Receivables (435,198)  75,441  397,268

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (19,134)  (23,755)  17,906

Accounts payable 183,057  153,961  (44,214)

Accrued liabilities (37,746)  (56,279)  (71,930)

Billings in excess of costs 6,268  (31,976)  33,347

Income taxes payable 68,970  4,264  (4,586)

Other deferred liabilities (79,280)  (33,547)  (37,605)

Other, net 13,885  17,259  717

Net cash (used for) provided by operating activities 481,152  574,881  680,173

Cash Flows Used for Investing Activities:      

Additions to property and equipment (94,884)  (118,060)  (67,688)

Disposals of property and equipment 3,293  2,387  10,479

Purchases of intangibles —  —  (10,027)

Distributions of capital from (contributions to) equity investees (5,416)  31,701  (3,403)

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (1,488,336)  (150,190)  (49,943)

Proceeds (payments) related to sales of businesses 7,736  (2,036)  (19,039)

Net cash used for investing activities (1,577,607)  (236,198)  (139,621)

Cash Flows Provided by Financing Activities:      

Proceeds from long-term borrowings 5,784,355  1,694,023  1,649,653

Repayments of long-term borrowings (4,572,182)  (1,846,797)  (1,840,789)

Proceeds from short-term borrowings 712  1,347  3,040

Repayments of short-term borrowings (3,391)  (702)  (14,042)

Proceeds from issuances of common stock 53,584  62,645  43,140

Common stock repurchases (2,981)  (97,180)  (152,550)

Excess tax benefits from stock based compensation —  2,877  377

Taxes paid on vested restricted stock (31,108)  —  —

Cash dividends, including to noncontrolling interests (86,569)  (58,793)  (5,855)

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities 1,142,420  (242,580)  (317,026)

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes (26,758)  22,332  (28,669)

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 19,207  118,435  194,857

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Period 774,151  655,716  460,859

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Period $ 793,358  $ 774,151  $ 655,716

See
the
accompanying
Notes
to
Consolidated
Financial
Statements.
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JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation

Description of Business

We provide a broad range of technical, professional and construction services including engineering, design and architectural services; construction and
construction management services; operations and maintenance services; and process, scientific and systems consulting services. We provide our services through
offices and subsidiaries located primarily in North America, South America, Europe, the Middle East, India, Australia, Africa and Asia. We provide our services
under cost-reimbursable and fixed-price contracts. The percentage of revenues realized from each of these types of contracts for the fiscal years ended
September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 was as follows:

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Cost-reimbursable 76%  81%  82%
Fixed-price 24%  19%  18%

Basis of Presentation, Definition of Fiscal Year, and Other Matters

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("U.S. GAAP") and include the accounts of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and its subsidiaries and affiliates which it controls. All intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Friday closest to September 30 (determined on the basis of the number of workdays) and, accordingly, an
additional week of activity is added every five -to- six years.  Fiscal 2015 included an extra week of activity.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018 , we reorganized our operating and reporting structure around three lines of business (“LOBs”).  This
reorganization occurred in conjunction with the integration of CH2M into the Company's legacy businesses, and was intended to better serve our global clients,
leverage our workforce, help streamline operations and provide enhanced growth opportunities. The three global LOBs are as follows: Aerospace, Technology,
Environmental and Nuclear ("ATEN"); Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities ("BIAF"); and Energy, Chemicals and Resources ("ECR"). Previously,
the Company operated its business around four global lines of businesses. For a further discussion of our segment information, please refer to Note 17- Segment
Information
.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Accounting for Contracts

We recognize revenue earned on our technical professional and field services projects under the percentage-of-completion method described in ASC 605-
35, Construction-Type
and
Production-Type
Contracts
. In general, we recognize revenues at the time we provide services. Pre-contract costs are generally
expensed as incurred, unless they are directly associated with an anticipated contract and recoverability from that contract is probable. Contracts are generally
segmented between types of services, such as engineering and construction, and accordingly, gross margin related to each activity is recognized as those separate
services are rendered. For multiple contracts with a single customer we account for each contract separately.

The percentage-of-completion method of accounting is applied by comparing contract costs incurred to date to the total estimated costs at completion.
Contract losses are provided for in their entirety in the period they become known, without regard to the percentage-of-completion.

Unapproved change orders are included in the contract price to the extent it is probable that such change orders will result in additional contract revenue
and the amount of such additional revenue can be reliably estimated. Claims meeting these recognition criteria are included in revenues only to the extent of the
related costs incurred.

Certain cost-reimbursable contracts include incentive-fee arrangements. These incentive fees can be based on a variety of factors but the most common
are the achievement of target completion dates, target costs, and/or other performance criteria. Failure to meet these targets can result in unrealized incentive fees.
We recognize incentive fees based on expected results using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. As the contract progresses and more information
becomes available, the estimate of the anticipated incentive fee that will be earned is revised as necessary. We bill incentive fees based on the terms and conditions
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of the individual contracts. In certain situations, we are allowed to bill a portion of the incentive fees over the performance period of the contract. In other
situations, we are allowed to bill incentive fees only after the target criterion has been achieved. Incentive fees which have been recognized but not billed are
included in receivables in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Certain cost-reimbursable contracts with government customers as well as certain commercial clients provide that contract costs are subject to audit and
adjustment. In this situation, revenues are recorded at the time services are performed based upon the amounts we expect to realize upon completion of the
contracts. In those situations where an audit indicates that we may have billed a client for costs not allowable under the terms of the contract, we estimate the
amount of such nonbillable costs and adjust our revenues accordingly.

Direct costs of contracts include all costs incurred in connection with and directly for the benefit of client contracts, including depreciation and
amortization relating to assets used in providing the services required by the related projects. The level of direct costs of contracts may fluctuate between reporting
periods due to a variety of factors, including the amount of pass-through costs we incur during a period. On those projects where we are responsible for subcontract
labor or third-party materials and equipment, we reflect the amounts of such items in both revenues and costs (and we refer to such costs as “pass-through costs”).
On other projects where the client elects to pay for such items directly and we have no associated responsibility for such items, these amounts are not considered
pass-through costs and are, therefore, not reflected in either revenues or costs. To the extent that we incur a significant amount of pass-through costs in a period,
our direct costs of contracts are likely to increase as well.

The following table sets forth pass-through costs included in revenues in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings (in millions):

For the Years Ended
September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016

$ 3,058.6  $ 2,539.3  $ 2,489.9

Joint Ventures and VIEs

As is common to the industry, we execute certain contracts jointly with third parties through various forms of joint ventures. Although the joint ventures
own and hold the contracts with the clients, the services required by the contracts are typically performed by us and our joint venture partners, or by other
subcontractors under subcontracting agreements with the joint ventures. Many of these joint ventures are formed for a specific project. The assets of our joint
ventures generally consist almost entirely of cash and receivables (representing amounts due from clients), and the liabilities of our joint ventures generally consist
almost entirely of amounts due to the joint venture partners (for services provided by the partners to the joint ventures under their individual subcontracts) and
other subcontractors. In general, at any given time, the equity of our joint ventures represents the undistributed profits earned on contracts the joint ventures hold
with clients. Very few of our joint ventures have employees or third-party debt or credit facilities. The debt held by the joint ventures is non-recourse to the general
credit of Jacobs. The assets of a joint venture are restricted for use to the obligations of the particular joint venture and are not available for general operations of
the Company.  Our risk of loss on these arrangements is usually shared with our partners. The liability of each partner is usually joint and several, which means that
each partner may become liable for the entire risk of loss on the project. Furthermore, on some of our projects, the Company has granted guarantees which may
encumber both our contracting subsidiary company and the Company for the entire risk of loss on the project. See Note 15- Contractual
Guarantees,
Litigation,
Investigations
and
Insurance
for further discussion.

Many of the joint ventures are deemed to be variable interest entities (“VIE”) because they lack sufficient equity to finance the activities of the joint
venture. The Company uses a qualitative approach to determine if the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE, which considers factors that indicate a party
has the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the joint venture’s economic performance. These factors include the composition of the
governing board, how board decisions are approved, the powers granted to the operational manager(s) and partner that holds that position(s), and to a certain
extent, the partner’s economic interest in the joint venture. The Company analyzes each joint venture initially to determine if it should be consolidated or
unconsolidated.

• Consolidated if the Company is the primary beneficiary of a VIE, or holds the majority of voting interests of a non-VIE (and no significant
participative rights are available to the other partners).

• Unconsolidated if the Company is not the primary beneficiary of a VIE, or does not hold the majority of voting interest of a non-VIE.

See Note 7- Joint
Ventures
and
VIEs
for further discussion.
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Fair Value Measurements

Certain amounts included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented at “fair value.” Fair value is defined as the price that would
be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the date fair value is determined (the
“measurement date”). When determining fair value, we consider the principal or most advantageous market in which we would transact, and we consider only
those assumptions we believe a typical market participant would consider when pricing an asset or liability. In measuring fair value, we use the following inputs in
the order of priority indicated:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, such as (i) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; (ii)
quoted prices in markets that have insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (e.g., less active markets); and (iii) model-driven valuations in which all
significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from, or corroborated with, observable market data for substantially the full term of the asset or
liability.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the fair value measurement.

The net carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and payables and notes payable approximate fair value due to the short-term
nature of these instruments. See Note 9- Borrowings
for a discussion of the fair value of long-term debt.

Certain other assets and liabilities, such as forward contracts and interest rate swap agreements we purchased as cash-flow hedges discussed in Note 14-
Commitments
and
Contingencies
and
Derivative
Financial
Instruments
are required to be carried in our Consolidated Financial Statements at Fair Value.

The fair value of the Company’s reporting units (used for purposes of determining whether there is an indication of possible impairment of the carrying
value of goodwill) is determined using both an income approach and a market approach. Both approaches require us to make certain estimates and judgments.
Under the income approach, fair value is determined by using the discounted cash flows of our reporting units. Under the market approach, the fair values of our
reporting units are determined by reference to guideline companies that are reasonably comparable to our reporting units; the fair values are estimated based on the
valuation multiples of the invested capital associated with the guideline companies. In assessing whether there is an indication that the carrying value of goodwill
has been impaired, we utilize the results of both valuation techniques and consider the range of fair values indicated.

With respect to equity-based compensation (i.e., share-based payments), we estimate the fair value of stock options granted to employees and directors
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Like all option-pricing models, the Black-Scholes model requires the use of subjective assumptions including (i) the
expected volatility of the market price of the underlying stock, and (ii) the expected term of the award, among others. Accordingly, changes in assumptions and any
subsequent adjustments to those assumptions can cause different fair values to be assigned to our future stock option awards. For restricted stock awards (including
restricted stock units) containing market conditions, compensation expense is based on the fair value of such awards using a Monte Carlo simulation. For restricted
stock awards (including restricted stock units) containing service and performance conditions, compensation expense is based on the closing stock price on the date
of grant.

The fair values of the assets owned by the various pension plans that the Company sponsors are determined based on the type of asset, consistent with
U.S. GAAP. Equity securities are valued by using market observable data such as quoted prices. Publicly traded corporate equity securities are valued at the last
reported sale price on the last business day of the year. Securities not traded on the last business day are valued at the last reported bid price. Fixed income
investment funds categorized as Level 2 are valued by the trustee using pricing models that use verifiable observable market data (e.g., interest rates and yield
curves observable at commonly quoted intervals), bids provided by brokers or dealers, or quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics. Real estate
consists primarily of common or collective trusts, with underlying investments in real estate. These investments are valued using the best information available,
including quoted market price, market prices for similar assets when available, internal cash flow estimates discounted at an appropriate interest rate, or
independent appraisals, as appropriate. Management values insurance contracts and hedge funds using actuarial assumptions and certain values reported by fund
managers.

The methodologies described above and elsewhere in these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements may produce a fair value measure that may not be
indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent
with other market participants, the use of different
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methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement.

Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments with original maturities of less than three months to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents at September 28,
2018 and September 29, 2017 consisted primarily of money market mutual funds and overnight bank deposits.

Receivables and Billings in Excess of Costs

Receivables include billed receivables, unbilled receivables and retentions receivable. Amounts billed, net consist of amounts invoiced to clients in
accordance with the terms of our client contracts and are shown net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. We anticipate that substantially all of such billed
amounts will be collected over the next twelve months.

Unbilled receivables and other and retentions receivable generally represent reimbursable costs, profit and amounts earned under contracts in progress, or
in some cases completed, as of the respective balance sheet dates. Such amounts become billable according to the contract terms, which usually provide that such
amounts become billable upon the passage of time, achievement of certain milestones or completion of the project. We anticipate that substantially all of such
unbilled amounts will be billed and collected over the next fiscal year.

Certain contracts allow us to issue invoices to clients in advance of providing services. Billings in excess of costs represent billings to, and cash collected
from, clients in advance of work performed. We anticipate that substantially all such amounts will be earned over the next twelve months.

Claims receivable are included in receivables in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and represent certain costs incurred on contracts to the
extent it is probable that such claims will result in additional contract revenue and the amount of such additional revenue can be reliably estimated.

Property, Equipment, and Improvements

Property, equipment and improvements are carried at cost, and are shown net of accumulated depreciation and amortization in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Depreciation and amortization is computed primarily by using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
The cost of leasehold improvements is amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the remaining term of the
related lease. Estimated useful lives range from 20 to 40 years for buildings, from 3 to 10 years for equipment and from 4 to 10 years for leasehold improvements.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired business over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired. Goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized; instead, on an annual basis we test goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives for possible
impairment. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of those assets.

During the quarter ended September 28, 2018 , the Company voluntarily changed the date of its annual goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset
impairment testing from the last day of the fiscal third quarter to the first day of the fourth quarter. This voluntary change is preferable under the circumstances as it
results in better alignment with the Company’s strategic planning and forecasting process and provides the Company with additional time to complete its annual
impairment testing. The voluntary change in accounting principle related to the annual testing date will not delay, accelerate or avoid an impairment charge. This
change is not applied retrospectively as it is impracticable to do so because retrospective application would require application of significant estimates and
assumptions with the use of hindsight. Accordingly, the change will be applied prospectively.

Interim testing for impairment is performed if indicators of potential impairment exist. For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is assigned to the
applicable reporting units based on the current reporting structure. We have determined that our operating segments are also our reporting units based on
management’s conclusion that the components comprising each of our operating segments share similar economic characteristics and meet the aggregation criteria
in accordance with ASC 350.

When testing goodwill for impairment quantitatively, the Company first compares the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the
carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, a second step is performed to measure the amount of potential impairment. In the second step, the
Company compared the implied fair value of the reporting unit
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goodwill with the carrying amount of the reporting unit's goodwill. If the carrying amount of reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that
goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. During 2018 , we completed our annual goodwill impairment test and quantitatively determined that none of our
goodwill was impaired. We have determined that the fair value of our reporting units substantially exceeded their respective carrying values for the Consolidated
Balance Sheets presented. The range of fair values (both ends of the range) for each reporting unit exceeded the respective book values by 31% to 132% . See Note
6- Goodwill
and
Intangibles
.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements, it is necessary to translate the financial statements of our subsidiaries operating outside the U.S.,
which are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, into the U.S. dollar. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, revenues and expenses of operations outside
the U.S. are translated into U.S. dollars using weighted-average exchange rates for the applicable periods being translated while the assets and liabilities of
operations outside the U.S. are generally translated into U.S. dollars using period-end exchange rates. The net effect of foreign currency translation adjustments is
included in stockholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Share-Based Payments

We measure the value of services received from employees and directors in exchange for an award of an equity instrument based on the grant-date fair
value of the award. The computed value is recognized as a non-cash cost on a straight-line basis over the period the individual provides services, which is typically
the vesting period of the award with the exception of awards containing an internal performance measure, such as EPS growth and ROIC, which is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period subject to the probability of meeting the performance requirements and adjusted for the number of shares expected to be
earned. The cost of these awards is recorded in selling, general and administrative expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

During fiscal 2018, the Company adopted ASU No 2016-09, Improvements
to
Employee
Share
Based
Payment
Accounting
. As a result, the cash paid by
the Company to taxing authorities as a result of withholding shares for the exercise of employee stock awards is classified as financing activity and this change is
adopted retrospectively. Additionally, all excess tax benefits related to share-based payments in our provision for income taxes are now classified as an operating
activity along with other income taxes in the statement of cash flows and this change is applied prospectively. These items were historically recorded in additional
paid-in capital and in financing activities. The amount recognized by the Company in excess tax benefits related to share-based payments in our provision for
income taxes for the fiscal year ended September 28, 2018 was not material. Finally, we have elected to begin accounting for share-based compensation award
forfeitures when they occur instead of estimating the number of forfeitures expected in accordance with the new guidance. This change in accounting policy for
share-based compensation award forfeitures resulted in a $1.8 million cumulative effect of change in accounting principle to retained earnings in the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Our cash balances and cash equivalents are maintained in accounts held by major banks and financial institutions located in North America, South
America, Europe, the Middle East, India, Australia, Africa and Asia. In the normal course of business, and consistent with industry practices, we grant credit to our
clients without requiring collateral. Concentrations of credit risk is the risk that, if we extend a significant amount of credit to clients in a specific geographic area
or industry, we may experience disproportionately high levels of default if those clients are adversely affected by factors particular to their geographic area or
industry. Concentrations of credit risk relative to trade receivables are limited due to our diverse client base, which includes the U.S. federal government and multi-
national corporations operating in a broad range of industries and geographic areas. Additionally, in order to mitigate credit risk, we continually evaluate the credit
worthiness of our major commercial clients.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to employ estimates and make assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of certain assets and liabilities; the revenues and expenses reported for the periods covered by the financial statements; and certain amounts disclosed in
these Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Although such estimates and assumptions are based on management’s most recent assessment of the
underlying facts and circumstances utilizing the most current information available and past experience, actual results could differ significantly from those
estimates and assumptions. Our estimates, judgments and assumptions are evaluated periodically and adjusted accordingly.

Earlier in these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements we discussed three significant accounting policies that rely on the application of estimates and
assumptions: revenue recognition for long-term contracts; the process for testing goodwill for
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possible impairment; and the accounting for share-based payments to employees and directors. The following is a discussion of certain other significant accounting
policies that rely on the use of estimates:

Accounting
for
Pensions
- We use certain assumptions and estimates in order to calculate periodic pension cost and the value of the assets and liabilities of
our pension plans. These assumptions involve discount rates, investment returns and projected salary increases, among others. Changes in the actuarial assumptions
may have a material effect on the plans’ liabilities and the projected pension expense.

Accounting
for
Income
Taxes
- We determine our consolidated income tax expense using the asset and liability method prescribed by U.S. GAAP. Under
this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and income tax purposes. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted, as appropriate, to reflect changes in tax rates expected to be in
effect when the temporary differences reverse. If and when we determine that a deferred tax asset will not be realized for its full amount, we will recognize and
record a valuation allowance with a corresponding charge to earnings. Judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes. In the normal course of
business, we may engage in numerous transactions every day for which the ultimate tax outcome (including the period in which the transaction will ultimately be
included in taxable income or deducted as an expense) is uncertain. Additionally, we file income, franchise, gross receipts and similar tax returns in many
jurisdictions. Our tax returns are subject to audit and investigation by the Internal Revenue Service, most states in the U.S., and by various government agencies
representing many jurisdictions outside the U.S.

Contractual
Guarantees,
Litigation,
Investigations
and
Insurance
- In the normal course of business we are subject to certain contractual guarantees and
litigation. We record in the Consolidated Balance Sheets amounts representing our estimated liability relating to such guarantees, litigation and insurance claims.
We perform an analysis to determine the level of reserves to establish for both insurance-related claims that are known and have been asserted against us as well as
for insurance-related claims that are believed to have been incurred based on actuarial analysis, but have not yet been reported to our claims administrators as of the
respective balance sheet dates. We include any adjustments to such insurance reserves in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings. In addition, as a contractor
providing services to various agencies of the U.S. federal government, we are subject to many levels of audits, investigations, and claims by, or on behalf of, the
U.S. federal government with respect to contract performance, pricing, costs, cost allocations and procurement practices. We adjust revenues based upon the
amounts we expect to realize considering the effects of any client audits or governmental investigations.

Accounting
for
Business
Combinations
- U.S. GAAP requires that the purchase price paid for business combinations accounted for using the acquisition
method be allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired based on their respective Fair Values. Determining the Fair Value of contract assets and liabilities acquired
often requires estimates and judgments regarding, among other things, the estimated cost to complete such contracts. The Company must also make certain
estimates and judgments relating to other assets and liabilities acquired as well as any identifiable intangible assets acquired.

During the first fiscal quarter of 2018, the Company acquired CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. ("CH2M"). During the fourth fiscal quarter of 2017, the
Company acquired Blue Canopy LLC. During the second fiscal quarter of 2017, the Company acquired Aquenta Consulting Pty Ltd. During the first fiscal quarter
of 2016, the Company acquired J.L. Patterson & Associates. Other than the CH2M acquisition discussed in Note 5- Business
Combinations
, these acquisitions
were not material to the Company’s consolidated results for fiscal 2018 , 2017 or 2016 .

On May 19, 2017 , the Company entered into an agreement with Saudi Aramco to form a 50 /50 Saudi Arabia-based joint venture company to provide
professional program and construction management (“PMCM”) services for social infrastructure projects throughout Saudi Arabia and across the Middle East and
North Africa.  The venture commenced start-up operations in fourth quarter fiscal 2017 and initial funding commitments were made from each of the partners for $
6.0 million in capital contributions each.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09 Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers
. The new guidance provided by ASU 2014-09 is intended to
remove inconsistencies and perceived weaknesses in the existing revenue requirements, provide a more robust framework for addressing revenue issues, improve
comparability, provide more useful information and simplify the preparation of financial statements. The effective date for ASU 2014-09 is for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods therein.
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The Company’s adoption activities have been performed over three phases: (i) assessment, (ii) design and (iii) implementation. As part of these phases,
the Company has identified the following, potentially significant differences to date:

Performance
Obligations

Under current U.S. GAAP, the Company typically segments contracts that contain multiple services by service type - for instance, engineering,
procurement and construction services - for purposes of revenue recognition. Under ASU 2014-09, multiple-service contracts where the Company is responsible
for providing a single deliverable (e.g., a constructed asset) will be treated as a single performance obligation for purposes of revenue recognition and thus no
longer will be segmented. Typically, this will occur when the company is contracted to perform both engineering and construction on a project. In these
circumstances, the timing and pattern of revenue recognition will change. The remainder of the Company's contracts will continue to be treated as having discrete
units of account because they either contain only one service or because the Company has determined that the component services in the contract are distinct.

Contract
Modifications

In many instances, the Company enters into separate contracts for related services (e.g., engineering and construction) but is held responsible for
providing a single deliverable (“Phased Projects”). Under ASU 2014-09, the separate contracts may be required to be combined and treated as a single contract
with one performance obligation. This modification or combination of contracts may result in a cumulative catchup adjustment, which will have an immediate
impact on the Company’s results of operations in the period the contract combination or modification occurs. In addition, it will change the timing and pattern of
revenue recognition after the period the contracts have been combined or modified. Based on the two noted changes above, the Company has identified selected
changes to our systems, processes and internal controls and designed updates for each to meet the standard's revised reporting and disclosure requirements.

The Company will adopt the new standard using the Modified Retrospective application for periods beginning with the first fiscal quarter of 2019. This
standard will impact the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and will its administrative operations. The impact will depend on the magnitude of the
items discussed above. While the Company will continue to evaluate the impact through the implementation phase, we expect a reduction of retained earnings in
our consolidated financial statements in the period of adoption due to revenue recognition timing for certain engineering and construction contracts shifting as a
result of being accounted for as a single performance obligation. This adjustment will create a corresponding adjustment in the Company's consolidated financial
statements to accounts receivable and unbilled receivables and to billings in excess of costs.

Lease Accounting

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 Leases
. ASU 2016-02 requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for most leases. ASU 2016-02
is effective for public entity financial statements for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early
adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period. The new guidance currently requires a modified retrospective transition approach for leases that
exist or are entered into after the beginning of the earliest comparative period in the financial statements. ASU 2016-02 was further clarified and amended within
ASU 2017-13, ASU 2018-01, ASU 2018-10 and ASU 2018-11 which included provisions that would provide us with the option to adopt the provisions of the new
guidance using a modified retrospective transition approach, without adjusting the comparative periods presented. The Company is evaluating the impact of the
new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. This standard could have a significant administrative impact on its operations, and the Company will further
assess the impact through its implementation program.

Other Pronouncements

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12, Derivatives
and
Hedging
(Topic
815):
Targeted
Improvements
to
Accounting
for
Hedging
Activities
. ASU 2017-12 provides financial reporting improvements related to hedging relationships to better portray the economic results of an entity’s risk management
activities in its financial statements. Additionally, ASU No. 2017-12 makes certain targeted improvements to simplify the application of the hedge accounting
guidance. The revised guidance becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating
the impact of the new guidance on its consolidated financial statements. It is not expected that the updated guidance will have a significant impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

ASU 2017-04, Simplifying
the
Test
for
Goodwill
Impairment
, is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 with early adoption
permitted. ASU 2017-04 removes the second step of the goodwill impairment test, which requires a hypothetical purchase price allocation. An entity will now
recognize a goodwill impairment charge for the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the amount of goodwill
allocated. Management does not expect the adoption of ASU 2017-04 to have any impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-07, Compensation-
Retirement
Benefits
(Topic
715):
Improving
the
Presentation
of
Net
Periodic
Pension
Cost
and
Net
Periodic
Postretirement
Benefit
Cost
. This new standard intends to improve the presentation of net periodic pension cost and net periodic
postretirement benefit cost. The new standard requires the service cost component of net periodic cost be reported in the same line item(s) as other employee
compensation costs and all other components of the net periodic cost be reported in the consolidated statements of earnings and comprehensive income below
operating income. ASU 2017-7 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 for public companies and early adoption is permitted. Management
is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of ASU 2017-07 will have on the Company's financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

3. Employee Stock Purchase and Stock Option Plans

Broad-Based, Employee Stock Purchase Plans

Under the 1989 ESPP and the GESPP, eligible employees who elect to participate in these plans are granted the right to purchase shares of the common
stock of Jacobs at a discount that is limited to 5% of the per-share market value on the day shares are sold to employees. The following table summarizes the stock
issuance activity under the 1989 ESPP and the GESPP for the fiscal years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 :

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Aggregate Purchase Price Paid for Shares Sold:      

Under the 1989 ESPP $ 21,590,858  $ 21,084,657  $ 23,631,241
Under the GESPP 2,240,609  2,105,834  2,660,067

Total $ 23,831,467  $ 23,190,491  $ 26,291,308
Aggregate Number of Shares Sold:      

Under the 1989 ESPP 357,899  403,652  564,461
Under the GESPP 36,405  39,648  63,196

Total 394,304  443,300  627,657

On January 19, 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved an increase in the number of shares authorized by 4,350,000 shares for the 1989 ESPP and by
150,000 shares for the GESPP.

At September 28, 2018 , there remains 4,187,955 shares reserved for issuance under the 1989 ESPP and 138,575 shares reserved for issuance under the
GESPP.

Stock Incentive Plans

We also sponsor the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (the "SIP") and the 1999 Outside Director Stock Plan, as amended and restated
(the "ODSP"). The 1999 SIP provides for the issuance of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, share appreciation rights ("SARs"), restricted stock
and restricted stock units to employees. The 1999 ODSP provides for awards of shares of common stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units and grants of non-
qualified stock options to our outside (i.e., nonemployee) directors. The following table sets forth certain information about the 1999 Plans:

 1999 SIP  1999 ODSP  Total

Number of shares authorized 29,850,000  1,100,000  30,950,000
Number of remaining shares reserved for issuance at September 28, 2018 6,911,375  486,755  7,398,130
Number of shares relating to outstanding stock options at September 28, 2018 1,575,634  191,125  1,766,759
Number of shares available for future awards:      
At September 28, 2018 5,335,741  295,630  5,631,371
At September 29, 2017 7,351,946  312,412  7,664,358

Effective September 28, 2012, all grants of shares under the 1999 SIP are issued on a fungible basis.  An award other than an option or SAR are granted
on a 1.92 -to-1.00 basis (“Fungible”). An award of an option or SAR are granted on a 1 -to-1 basis (“Not Fungible”).
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The following table presents the fair value of shares (of restricted stock and restricted stock units) vested for the years ended September 28, 2018 ,
September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units (service condition) $ 64,121  $ 34,466  $ 17,481
Restricted Stock Units (service, market, and performance conditions at

target) 2,626  4,183  4,336
Total $ 66,747  $ 38,649  $ 21,817

At September 28, 2018 , the amount of compensation cost relating to non-vested awards not yet recognized in the financial statements is approximately $
93.3 million. The majority of these unrecognized compensation costs will be recognized by the first quarter of fiscal 2020 . The weighted average remaining
contractual term of options currently exercisable is 4.3 years .

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 :

 Number of Stock Options  
Weighted Average

Exercise Price
Outstanding at October 2, 2015 4,072,707  $ 46.06
Granted 460,770  $ 42.17
Exercised (412,416)  $ 40.88
Cancelled or expired (543,549)  $ 49.13
Outstanding at September 30, 2016 3,577,512  $ 45.69
Granted —  $ —
Exercised (906,648)  $ 43.79
Cancelled or expired (154,039)  $ 48.79
Outstanding at September 29, 2017 2,516,825  $ 46.19
Granted —  $ —
Exercised (636,019)  $ 46.93
Cancelled or expired (114,047)  $ 52.26
Outstanding at September 28, 2018 1,766,759  $ 45.53

Cash received from the exercise of stock options, net of tax remitted, during the year ended September 28, 2018 was $29.8 million .

Stock options outstanding at September 28, 2018 consisted entirely of non-qualified stock options. The following table presents the total intrinsic value of
stock options exercised for the fiscal years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016

$13,931  $14,713  $4,149

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercisable at September 28, 2018 was approximately $47.6 million. The following table presents certain other
information regarding our 1999 SIP and 1999 OSDP for the fiscal years ended September 28, 2018 ,
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September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 :

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
At fiscal year end:      

Range of exercise prices for options outstanding $32.51–$60.43  $32.51–$80.63  $32.51–$80.63
Number of options exercisable 1,557,900  1,992,022  2,581,421

For the fiscal year:      
Range of prices relating to options exercised $35.93–$61.26  $37.03–$55.53  $36.88–$55.00
Estimated weighted average fair values of options granted $ —  $ —  $ 12.80

The following table presents certain information regarding stock options outstanding and stock options exercisable at September 28, 2018 :

 September 28, 2018
 Options Outstanding  Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices Number  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

(years)  
Weighted

Average Price  Number  

Weighted
Average Exercise

Price
$32.51 - $37.03 153,000  3.49  $ 37.01  153,000  $ 37.01
$37.43 - $46.09 1,059,647  4.87  $ 42.69  850,788  $ 42.74
$47.11 - $55.13 513,237  4.48  $ 52.74  513,237  $ 52.74
$60.08 - $80.63 40,875  5.25  $ 60.33  40,875  $ 60.33
 1,766,759  4.65  $ 45.53  1,557,900  $ 45.93

The 1999 ODSP and the 1999 SIP allow participants to satisfy the exercise price of stock options by tendering shares of Jacobs common stock that have
been owned by the participants for at least six months. Shares so tendered are retired and canceled, and are shown as repurchases of common stock in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity. The weighted average remaining contractual term of options currently exercisable is 4.30 years.

Restricted Stock

The following table presents the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units issued as common stock under the 1999 SIP for the years
ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 :

 

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Restricted stock —  —  597,091
Restricted stock units (service condition) 1,087,724  496,951  183,131
Restricted stock units (service, market and performance conditions) 254,784  237,058  372,794

The amount of restricted stock units issued for awards with performance and market conditions in the above table are issued based on performance against
the target amount. The number of shares ultimately issued, which could be greater or less than target, will be based on achieving specific performance conditions
related to the awards.

The share amounts in the above tables reflect the Fungible share on a 1.92 -to- 1.00 basis of restricted stock and restricted stock unit issued.

The following table presents the number and weighted average grant-date fair value of restricted stock and restricted stock units at September 28, 2018 :
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Number of unvested Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock
Units: Number of Shares  

Weighted Average
Grant-Date Fair

Value

Outstanding at September 29, 2017 2,514,387  $ 49.62
Granted 1,364,128  $ 65.64
Vested (1,209,322)  $ 55.19
Cancelled (339,658)  $ 49.57
Outstanding at September 28, 2018 2,329,535  $ 56.11

The following table presents the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units canceled and withheld for taxes under the 1999 SIP for the
years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 :

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Restricted stock 284,254  365,481  512,903
Restricted stock units (service condition) 336,516  128,536  177,640
Restricted stock units (service, market and performance conditions) 95,063  86,742  275,933

The amount of unvested restricted stock units canceled for awards with service and performance conditions in the above table is based on the service
period achieved and performance against the target amount.

The share amounts in the above tables reflect the Fungible share on a 1.92 -to- 1.00 basis of restricted stock and restricted stock unit issued.

The restrictions attached to restricted stock and restricted stock units generally relate to the recipient’s ability to sell or otherwise transfer the stock or
stock units. There are also restrictions that subject the stock and stock units to forfeiture back to the Company until earned by the recipient through continued
employment or service.

The following table provides the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units outstanding at September 28, 2018 under the 1999 SIP.
Shares granted in the table below are granted on a 1.92 -to-1.00 basis (fungible):

 September 28, 2018
 Total
Restricted stock 337,805
Restricted stock units (service condition) 1,131,200
Restricted stock units (service, market and performance conditions) 735,438

The following table presents the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units issued under the 1999 ODSP for the years ended
September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 : 

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Restricted stock units (service condition) 21,620  21,123  23,090

The following table provides the number of shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units outstanding at September 28, 2018 under the 1999 ODSP:

 September 28, 2018
Restricted stock 34,000
Restricted stock units (service condition) 91,092
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All shares granted under the 1999 ODSP are issued on a 1.92 -to-1 basis. 

Modification

On January 18, 2017, the Company modified time vested outstanding restricted stock units, paid out in stock and cash, specifically to allow participants to
be entitled to dividend equivalents during the vesting period on the outstanding RSUs. Dividends will be paid out at the end of the vesting period and are forfeitable
before the vesting period concludes. This modification affected 786 employees and resulted in $1.1 million of incremental compensation cost and will be
recognized over the remaining vesting period for each grant, since dividends are forfeitable until vesting is achieved.

4. Earnings Per Share and Certain Related Information

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) are computed using the two-class method, which is an earnings allocation method that determines EPS for
common shares and participating securities. The undistributed earnings are allocated between common shares and participating securities as if all earnings had been
distributed during the period. Participating securities and common shares have equal rights to undistributed earnings. Net earnings used for the purpose of
determining basic and diluted EPS is determined by taking net earnings, less earnings available to participating securities.

The following table reconciles the denominator used to compute basic EPS to the denominator used to compute diluted EPS for the years ended
September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Numerator for Basic and Diluted EPS:      
Net income $ 163,431  $ 293,727  $ 210,463
Net income allocated to participating securities (788)  (3,077)  —
Net income allocated to common stock for EPS
calculation $ 162,643  $ 290,650  $ 210,463

      

Denominator for Basic and Diluted EPS:      
Weighted average basic shares 138,182  120,689  120,133
Shares allocated to participating securities (646)  (1,319)  —
Shares used for calculating basic EPS attributable to
common stock 137,536  119,370  120,133

      

Effect of dilutive securities:      
Stock compensation plans 1,176  777  1,350
Shares used for calculating diluted EPS attributable
to common stock 138,712  120,147  121,483

      

Basic EPS $ 1.18  $ 2.43  $ 1.75

Diluted EPS $ 1.17  $ 2.42  $ 1.73
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Share Repurchases

On July 23, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program of up to $500 million of the Company’s common stock, to
expire on July 31, 2018. On July 19, 2018, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the continuation of this share repurchase program for an additional three
years, to expire on July 31, 2021.

The following table summarizes the activity under this program during fiscal 2018 :

 Average Price Per Share  (1)  Shares Repurchased  Total Shares Retired
$500,000,000  $60.77  49,074  49,074

(1) Includes commissions paid and calculated at the average price per share since the repurchase program authorization date.

Share repurchases may be executed through various means including, without limitation, open market transactions, privately negotiated transactions or
otherwise. The share repurchase program does not obligate the Company to purchase any shares. The authorization for the share repurchase program may be
terminated, increased or decreased by the Company’s Board of Directors in its discretion at any time. The timing of share repurchases may depend upon market
conditions, other uses of capital, and other factors.

Common and Preferred Stock

Jacobs is authorized to issue two classes of capital stock designated “common stock” and “preferred stock” (each has a par value of $1.00 per share). The
preferred stock may be issued in one or more series. The number of shares to be included in a series as well as each series’ designation, relative powers, dividend
and other preferences, rights and qualifications, redemption provisions and restrictions are to be fixed by the Company’s Board of Directors at the time each series
is issued. Except as may be provided by the Company’s Board of Directors in a preferred stock designation, or otherwise provided for by statute, the holders of
shares of common stock have the exclusive right to vote for the election of directors and on all other matters requiring stockholder action. The holders of shares of
common stock are entitled to dividends if and when declared by the Company’s Board of Directors from whatever assets are legally available for that purpose.

Dividend Program

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2017 , the Company declared a dividend of $0.15 per share of the Company’s common stock that was paid in the first fiscal
quarter of 2018 . In the second, third and fourth fiscal quarters of 2018 , the Company declared and paid a dividend of $0.15 per share of the Company’s common
stock, for a total of $0.60 per share paid during the year ended September 28, 2018 . On September 11, 2018 , the Company's Board of Directors declared a
dividend of $0.15 per share of the Company's common stock that was paid on October 26, 2018 to shareholders of record on the close of business on September 28,
2018 . Future dividend declarations are subject to review and approval by the Company’s Board of Directors.

5. Business Combinations

On December 15, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. (CH2M), an international provider of engineering,
construction and technical services, by acquiring 100% of the outstanding shares of CH2M common stock and preferred stock. The purpose of the acquisition was
to further diversify the Company’s presence in the water, nuclear and environmental remediation sectors and to further the Company’s profitable growth strategy.
The Company paid total consideration of approximately $1.8 billion in cash (excluding $315.2 million of cash acquired) and issued approximately $1.4 billion of
Jacobs’ common stock, or 20.7 million shares, to the former stockholders and certain equity award holders of CH2M. In connection with the acquisition, the
Company also assumed CH2M’s revolving credit facility and second lien notes, including a $20.0 million prepayment penalty, which totaled approximately $700
million of long-term debt. Immediately following the effective time of the acquisition, the Company repaid CH2M’s revolving credit facility and second lien notes
including the related prepayment penalty.

The following summarizes the estimated fair values of CH2M assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in millions):
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Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents $ 315.2
Receivables 1,124.6
Prepaid expenses and other 72.7
Property, equipment and improvements, net 175.1
Goodwill 3,129.1
Identifiable intangible assets:  

Customer relationships, contracts and backlog 412.3
Lease intangible assets 4.4

Total identifiable intangible assets 416.7
Miscellaneous 522.9

Total Assets $ 5,756.3

  

Liabilities  
Notes payable $ 2.2
Accounts payable 309.6
Accrued liabilities 753.1
Billings in excess of costs 260.8
Identifiable intangible liabilities:  

Lease intangible liabilities 9.6
Long-term debt 706.0
Other deferred liabilities 653.0
Total Liabilities 2,694.3
Noncontrolling interests (37.3)

Net assets acquired $ 3,024.7

The purchase price allocation is based upon preliminary information and is subject to change when additional information is obtained. Goodwill
recognized results from a substantial assembled workforce, which does not qualify for separate recognition, as well as expected future synergies from combining
operations. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The Company has not completed its final assessment of the fair values
of purchased receivables, intangible assets, tax balances, contingent liabilities or acquired contracts. The final purchase price allocation will result in adjustments to
certain assets and liabilities, including the residual amount allocated to goodwill. Accrued liabilities and other deferred liabilities include approximately $385.3
million related to provisional estimates related to various legal and other pre-acquisition contingent liabilities accounted for under ASC 450. See Note 15-
Contractual
Guarantees,
Litigation,
Investigations
and
Insurance
relating to CH2M contingencies.

Since the initial preliminary estimates reported in the first quarter of 2018, the Company has updated certain provisional amounts reflected in the
preliminary purchase price allocation, as summarized in the estimated fair values of CH2M assets acquired and liabilities assumed above. Specifically, the carrying
amount of the intangible assets discussed above were decreased by $186.2 million as a result of valuation adjustments. Additionally, the carrying amount of
property, equipment and improvements, net decreased by $50.5 million to reflect its estimated fair value, receivables decreased $77.3 million and accrued liabilities
and other deferred liabilities increased $364.4 million primarily related to provisional estimates related to various legal and other pre-acquisition contingent
liabilities. Further, miscellaneous long-term assets increased $245.5 million largely due to the deferred tax impact of these valuation adjustments. As a result of
these adjustments to the initial preliminary purchase price allocation, goodwill has increased $430.3 million. Measurement period adjustments are recognized in the
reporting period in which the adjustments are determined and calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date.

Customer relationships, contracts and backlog represent the fair value of existing contracts, the underlying customer relationships and backlog of
consolidated subsidiaries and have lives ranging from 9  to  11 years (weighted average life of approximately 10 years ). Other intangible assets and liabilities
primarily consist of the fair value of office leases and have a weighted average life of approximately 10 years .

F - 21



JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

Estimated fair value measurements relating to the CH2M acquisition are made using Level 3 inputs including discounted cash flow techniques. Fair value
is estimated using inputs primarily from the income approach, which include the use of both the multiple period excess earnings method and the relief from
royalties method. The significant assumptions used in estimating fair value include (i) the estimated life the asset will contribute to cash flows, such as attrition rate
of customers or remaining contractual terms, (ii) profitability and (iii) the estimated discount rate that reflect the level of risk associated with receiving future cash
flows. The estimated fair value of land has been determined using the market approach, which arrives at an indication of value by comparing the site being valued
to sites that have been recently acquired in arm’s-length transactions. Personal property assets with an active and identifiable secondary market are valued using the
market approach. Buildings and land improvements are valued using the cost approach using a direct cost model built on estimates of replacement cost. Other
personal property assets such as furniture, fixtures and equipment are valued using the cost approach which is based on replacement or reproduction costs of the
asset less depreciation.

From the acquisition date of December 15, 2017 through the end of September 28, 2018 , CH2M contributed approximately $3.8 billion in revenue and
$185.9 million in pretax income included in the accompanying consolidated statement of earnings. Included in these results were approximately $99.3 million in
pre-tax restructuring and transaction costs.

Transaction costs associated with the CH2M acquisition in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings for the years ended September 28, 2018
and September 29, 2017 are comprised of the following (in millions):

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Personnel costs $ 50.2  $ 2.2
Professional services and other expenses 27.5  14.9

Total $ 77.7  $ 17.1

Personnel costs above include change of control payments and related severance costs.

The following presents summarized unaudited pro forma operating results assuming that the Company had acquired CH2M at October 1, 2016. These pro
forma operating results are presented for illustrative purposes only and are not indicative of the operating results that would have been achieved had the related
events occurred (in millions):

 For the Years Ended

 
September 28, 

2018  
September 29, 

2017
    

Revenues $ 16,012.4  $ 14,612.4
Net earnings $ 196.3  $ 264.8
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Jacobs $ 184.5  $ 243.6
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Jacobs per share:  
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 1.28  $ 1.73
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 1.27  $ 1.72

Included in the unaudited pro forma operating results are charges relating to transaction expenses, severance expense and other items that are removed
from the year ended September 28, 2018 and are reflected in the year ended September 29, 2017 due to the assumed timing of the transaction. Also, income tax
expense (benefit) for the twelve month pro forma periods ended September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 was $409.7 million and $24.2 million , respectively.

In fiscal 2017, the Company recorded $119.3 million of goodwill in conjunction with the acquisitions of Aquenta Consulting Pty Ltd. and Blue Canopy
LLC. The Company has completed its final assessment of the fair values of purchased assets and liabilities of the related companies acquired.
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6. Goodwill and Intangibles

As a result of the segment realignment this year, see Note 17- Segment
Information
, the historical carrying value of goodwill has been allocated to the
three remaining reportable segments to present balances on a comparable basis. The roll-forward of goodwill by LOB appearing in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets for the year ended September 28, 2018 was as follows (in millions):

 

Aerospace, Technology,
Environmental and

Nuclear  

Buildings, Infrastructure
and Advanced 

Facilities  

Energy, 
Chemicals and

Resources  Total
Balance September 29, 2017 $ 1,038  $ 1,049  $ 923  $ 3,010

Acquired 1,147  1,585  397  3,129
Post-Acquisition Adjustments relating to prior

year acquisition 4  —  —  4
Foreign Exchange Impact (13)  (14)  (12)  (39)

Balance September 28, 2018 $ 2,176  $ 2,620  $ 1,308  $ 6,104

During the preparation of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first fiscal quarter of 2017 , the Company determined that its prior financial
statements contained immaterial misstatements related to incorrect translation of the Company’s non-U.S. goodwill balances from local currency to the U.S. Dollar
reporting currency. It was determined that the Company had incorrectly used historical translation rates for the U.S. Dollar in place at the time of the Company’s
recording of its foreign goodwill balances rather than using current translation rates at each balance sheet date in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  The error dated
back to the time of our initial reporting of non-U.S. goodwill balances in the late 1990s and affected our historical quarterly and annual reporting periods through
the first fiscal quarter of 2017. As a result, goodwill and accumulated other comprehensive income in the Company’s September 30, 2016 consolidated balance
sheet (which have not been adjusted) were each overstated by $209.9 million and were corrected in the first fiscal quarter of 2017 foreign currency translation
adjustment.  Consequently, the correction was a direct component of the overall translation adjustment amount of $140.5 million that was reported for fiscal
2017. These adjustments had no impact on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Earnings or Cash Flows. Also, other comprehensive income for the year
ended September 30, 2016 was overstated by $33.8 million as a result of these misstatements.

The following table provides a roll-forward of the Company’s acquired intangibles in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for the years ended
September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (in thousands):

 

Customer
Relationships,
Contracts and

Backlog  
Developed

Technology  Trade Names  Patents  

Lease
Intangible

Assets  Other  Total
Balances, September 30,
2016 307,637  14,311  4,786  10,027  —  161  336,922

Acquisitions 29,803  1,685  4,417  —   —  35,905

Amortization (39,679)  (1,534)  (2,549)  (400)   (50)  (44,212)
Foreign currency
translation 3,707  —  45  553   —  4,305

Balances, September 29,
2017 301,468  14,462  6,699  10,180  —  111  332,920

Acquisitions 412,300  237  —  —  4,415  —  416,952
Post-Acquisition
Adjustments relating
to prior year
acquisition 200  (1,921)  (1,700)  —  —  —  (3,421)

Amortization (75,375)  (1,533)  (2,738)  (410)  (625)  (50)  (80,731)
Foreign currency
translation (9,150)  —  (159)  (454)  —  —  (9,763)

Balances, September 28,
2018 629,443  11,245  2,102  9,316  3,790  61  655,957
Weighted Average
Amortization Period
(years) 9  8  8  24  8  2  9

In addition, we acquired $9.6 million in lease intangible liabilities in connection with the CH2M acquisition, of which $8.7 million remain unamortized at
September 28, 2018 .

The weighted average amortization period includes the effects of foreign currency translation.

F - 23



JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

The following table presents estimated amortization expense of intangible assets for fiscal 2019 and for the succeeding years. The amounts below include
preliminary amortization estimates for the CH2M opening balance sheet fair values that are still preliminary and are subject to change.

Fiscal Year (in millions)
2019 $ 86.1
2020 83.0
2021 79.4
2022 78.2
2023 77.6
Thereafter 242.9

Total $ 647.2

7. Joint Ventures and VIEs

For consolidated joint ventures, the entire amount of the services performed and the costs associated with these services, including the services provided
by the other joint venture partners, are included in the Company's result of operations. Likewise, the entire amount of each of the assets and liabilities are included
in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. For the consolidated VIEs, the carrying value of assets and liabilities was $199.9 million and $125.6 million ,
respectively, as of September 28, 2018 and $9.6 million and $8.3 million , respectively as of September 29, 2017 . There are no consolidated VIEs that have debt or
credit facilities.

Unconsolidated joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method or proportionate consolidation. Proportionate consolidation is used for joint
ventures that include unincorporated legal entities and activities of the joint venture are construction-related. For those joint ventures accounted for under
proportionate consolidation, only the Company’s pro rata share of assets, liabilities, revenue, and costs are included in the Company’s balance sheet and results of
operations. For the proportionate consolidated VIEs, the carrying value of assets and liabilities was $88.6 million and $79.3 million as of September 28, 2018 ,
respectively and $50.3 million and $44.1 million as of September 29, 2017 , respectively. For those joint ventures accounted for under the equity method, the
Company's investment balances for the joint venture is included in Other Noncurrent Assets: Miscellaneous on the balance sheet and the Company’s pro rata share
of net income is included in revenue. In limited cases, there are basis differences between the equity in the joint venture and Jacobs' investment created when
Jacobs purchased their share of the joint venture. These basis differences are amortized based on an internal allocation to underlying net assets. As of
September 28, 2018 , the Company’s equity method investments exceeded its share of venture net assets by $82.8 million . Our investments in equity method joint
ventures on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 was a net asset of $219.1 million and $131.4 million , respectively.
During the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 , and September 30, 2016 , we recognized income from equity method joint ventures of $55.4
million , $44.7 million , and $51.1 million , respectively.

Summary of financial information of the unconsolidated joint ventures accounted for under the equity method, as derived from their unaudited financial
statements, is as follows (in millions):

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Current assets $ 1,736.0  $ 1,385.7
Non-Current assets 51.5  55.9

Total assets $ 1,787.5  $ 1,441.6

Current liabilities $ 944.9  $ 415.8
Non-current liabilities 664.1  845

Total liabilities 1,609  1,260.8
Joint ventures' equity 178.5  180.8

Total liabilities & joint venture equity $ 1,787.5  $ 1,441.6

F - 24



JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Revenue $ 3,334.5  $ 2,015.6  $ 2,199.1
Cost of revenue 3,034.1  1,829.5  1,998.0

Gross profit $ 300.4  $ 186.1  $ 201.1

Net income $ 233.2  $ 140  $ 136.5

Accounts receivable from unconsolidated joint ventures accounted for under the equity method is $13.0 million and $6.3 million as of September 28, 2018
and September 29, 2017 , respectively.

In September 2018, the Company sold its 45% share of its equity method investment in the Guimar joint venture in Brazil. The interest was sold to the
other partners in the venture. The Company recorded a $21.0 million loss, of which $9.0 million related to the reclassification of foreign currency translation losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income.

8.     Restructuring and Other Charges

During the fourth fiscal quarter of 2017, the Company implemented certain restructuring and pre-integration plans associated with the pending acquisition
of CH2M, which closed on December 15, 2017. The restructuring activities and related costs under these plans were comprised mainly of severance and lease
abandonment programs, while the pre-integration activities and costs were mainly related to the engagement of consulting services and internal personnel and other
related costs dedicated to the Company’s integration management efforts.

Following the closing of the CH2M acquisition, these activities have continued into fiscal 2018 and include restructuring activities amounting to
approximately $101.7 million in pre-tax charges during the year ended September 28, 2018 . Combined with $89.2 million in integration activities for the same
period, the total cost of these restructuring and integration activities approximated $190.8 million for the year ended September 28, 2018 . These activities are
expected to continue through fiscal 2019 . These activities are not expected to involve the exit of any service types or client end-markets. Also during fiscal 2018
the Company disposed of its investment in Guimar in order to resolve potential conflicts arising from the CH2M acquisition, which resulted in a loss as discussed
below.

During the second fiscal quarter of 2017, the Company entered into strategic business restructuring activities associated with realignment of its Europe,
United Kingdom ("U.K.") and Middle East regional operations in our BIAF segment. Pre-tax net charges of $22.6 million were recorded associated mainly with net
realizable value write-offs on contract accounts receivable of $16.5 million , with additional charges recorded for statutory redundancy and severance costs of $1.4
million and other liabilities of $4.7 million .

During the second fiscal quarter of 2015, the Company began implementing a series of initiatives intended to improve operational efficiency, reduce costs,
and better position itself to drive growth of the business in the future. We refer to these initiatives, in the aggregate, as the “2015 Restructuring”. These activities
evolved and developed over time as management identified and evaluated opportunities for changes in the Company’s operations (and related areas of potential
cost savings), as economic conditions changed and as the realignment of the Company’s operations into its four global LOBs was implemented. Actions related to
the 2015 Restructuring included involuntary terminations, the abandonment of certain leased offices, combining operational organizations, and the colocation of
employees into other existing offices. These activities did not involve the exit of any service types or client end-markets. The 2015 Restructuring was completed in
fiscal 2017, although cash payments continue to be made under the related accruals recorded in connection with these activities.

Collectively, the above mentioned restructuring activities are referred to as “Restructuring and other charges.”

The following table summarizes the impacts of the Restructuring and other charges (or recoveries, which primarily relate to the reversals of lease
abandonment accruals related to previously vacated facilities which are now planned to be utilized) by line of business in connection with the CH2M acquisition
for the year ended September 28, 2018 and the 2015 Restructuring and realignment of the Company's Europe, U.K. and Middle East regional operations for the
year ended September 29, 2017 (in thousands):
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 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear $ 20,254  $ 2,356  8,210
Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities 56,238  47,743  24,566
Energy, Chemicals and Resources 37,166  42,558  113,315
Corporate 77,148  42,781  41,816

Total $ 190,806  $ 135,438  $ 187,907

Restructuring and other charges are primarily reflected in Selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of
Earnings.

The activity in the Company’s accrual for the Restructuring and other charges for the year ended September 28, 2018 is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at Balance at September 29, 2017 $ 142,767
CH2M Acquisition Assumed Liabilities 31,576
CH2M Charges 190,806
Payments & Usage (189,673)

Balance at September 28, 2018 $ 175,476

The following table summarizes the Restructuring and other charges by major type of costs in connection with the CH2M acquisition for the years ended
September 28, 2018 , and the 2015 Restructuring and realignment of the Company's Europe, U.K. and Middle East regional operations for the years ended
September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Lease Abandonments $ 53,914  $ 55,647  $ 92,643
Involuntary Terminations 37,063  43,667  85,599
Outside Services 36,308  4,236  7,398
Other (1) 63,521  31,888  2,267

Total $ 190,806  $ 135,438  $ 187,907

(1) Includes $21.0 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018 relating to the loss on the sale of our Guimar joint venture investment recognized in other income (expense).

Cumulative amounts incurred to date for Restructuring and other charges by each major type of cost as of September 28, 2018 are as follows (in
thousands):

Lease Abandonments $ 292,773
Involuntary Terminations 221,642
Outside Services 60,677
Other 96,252

Total $ 671,344

9.    Borrowings

Short-Term Credit Arrangements

The Company maintains uncommitted credit arrangements with several banks providingshort-term borrowing capacity and overdraft protection. There
were borrowings of $5.0 million outstanding under these short-term credit facilities at a weighted average interest rate of 4.47% at September 28, 2018 . There
were borrowings of $3.1 million outstanding under these short-term credit facilities at September 29, 2017 .

Long-term Debt
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The following table presents certain information regarding the Company’s long-term debt at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (dollars in
thousands):

 Interest Rate  Maturity  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017

Revolving Credit Facility
LIBOR + applicable margin  

(1)  February 2020  $ 149,129  $ 235,000

Term Loan Facility
LIBOR + applicable margin

(2)  December 2020  1,500,000  —
Fixed-rate notes due:       
Senior Notes, Series A 4.27%  May 2025  190,000  —
Senior Notes, Series B 4.42%  May 2028  180,000  —
Senior Notes, Series C 4.52%  May 2030  130,000  —
Less: Deferred Financing Fees     (4,998)  —
Other Varies  Varies  2,746  —

Total Long-term debt, net     $ 2,146,877  $ 235,000

        

(1) Depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the credit agreement governing the Revolving Credit Facility), borrowings under the Revolving Credit
Facility bear interest at either a eurocurrency rate plus a margin of between  1.0%  and 1.5%  or a base rate plus a margin of between 0%  and  0.5 %. The applicable LIBOR rates at
September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 were approximately 1.38% to 3.47% and 1.0% to 2.23% , respectively.

(2) Depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the credit agreement governing the Term Loan Facility), borrowings under the Term Loan Facility bear
interest at either a eurocurrency rate plus a margin of between  1.0%  and  1.5%  or a base rate plus a margin of between 0%  and 0.5% . The applicable LIBOR rate at September 28,
2018 was approximately 3.71% .

On February 7, 2014, Jacobs and certain of its subsidiaries entered into a $1.6 billion long-term unsecured, revolving credit facility (as amended, the
“Revolving Credit Facility”) with a syndicate of large U.S. and international banks and financial institutions. The Revolving Credit Facility provides an accordion
feature that allows the Company and the lenders to increase the facility amount to $2.1 billion. On September 28, 2017, the Company entered into a Second
Amendment to the Revolving Credit Facility, which provides for, among other things, an amendment to certain financial definitions used in the Revolving Credit
Facility, including “Consolidated EBITDA” and increases the permitted leverage ratio on a short-term basis in relation to the acquisition of CH2M and future
permitted material acquisitions. This Second Amendment was effective upon the consummation of the acquisition of CH2M in December 2017.

The Revolving Credit Facility permits the Company to borrow under two separate tranches in U.S. dollars, certain specified foreign currencies, and any
other currency that may be approved in accordance with the terms of the Revolving Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility also provides for a financial
letter of credit sub facility of $300 million , permits performance letters of credit, and provides for a $50 million sub facility for swing line loans. Letters of credit
are subject to fees based on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio at the time any such letter of credit is issued. The Company pays a facility fee of between
0.10% and 0.25% per annum depending on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio. Amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility may be prepaid
at the option of the Company without premium or penalty, subject to customary breakage fees in connection with the prepayment of euro currency loans. Any
prepayments made under the Revolving Credit Facility are available for re-borrowing subject to the terms and conditions therein. The Revolving Credit Facility
contains affirmative, negative, and financial covenants customary for financings of this type including, among other things, limitations on certain other
indebtedness, investments, liens, acquisitions, dispositions, fundamental changes and transactions with affiliates. In addition, the Revolving Credit Facility contains
customary events of default. We were in compliance with the covenants under the Revolving Credit Facility at September 28, 2018 .

On September 28, 2017, the Company entered into a $1.5 billion unsecured delayed-draw term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) with a syndicate of
financial institutions as lenders. We incurred loans under the Term Loan Facility on December 15, 2017 in connection with the closing of the CH2M acquisition in
order to pay cash consideration for the acquisition, and to pay fees and expenses related to the acquisition and the Term Loan Facility. Amounts outstanding under
the Term Loan Facility may be prepaid at the option of the Company without premium or penalty, subject to customary breakage fees in connection with the
prepayment of eurocurrency loans. Any prepayments made under the Term Loan Facility are not available for re-borrowing. The Term Loan Facility contains
affirmative, negative and financial covenants customary for financings of this type, including, among other things, limitations on certain other indebtedness,
investments, liens, acquisitions, dispositions, fundamental changes and transactions with affiliates. In addition, the Term Loan Facility contains customary events
of default. We were in compliance with the covenants under the Term Loan Facility at September 28, 2018 .
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On March 12, 2018, Jacobs entered into a note purchase agreement (as amended, the "Note Purchase Agreement") with respect to the issuance and sale in
a private placement transaction of $500 million in the aggregate principal amount of the Company’s senior notes in three series (collectively, the “Senior Notes”).
The Note Purchase Agreement provides that if the Company's consolidated leverage ratio exceeds a certain amount, the interest on the Senior Notes may increase
by 75 basis points. The Senior Notes may be prepaid at any time subject to a make-whole premium. The sale of the Senior Notes closed on May 15, 2018. The
Company used the net proceeds from the offering of Senior Notes to repay certain existing indebtedness and for other general corporate purposes. The Note
Purchase Agreement contains affirmative, negative and financial covenants customary for financings of this type, including, among other things, covenants to
maintain a minimum consolidated net worth and maximum consolidated leverage ratio and limitations on certain other indebtedness, liens, mergers, dispositions
and transactions with affiliates. In addition, the Note Purchase Agreement contains customary events of default. We were in compliance with the covenants under
the Note Purchase Agreement at September 28, 2018 .

In conjunction with the acquisition of CH2M, the Company assumed certain long-term financing that was incurred by CH2M prior to the acquisition.  The
total balance included in long-term debt as of September 28, 2018 was $2.7 million , which is primarily comprised of equipment financing, bearing interest rates
ranging from 0.22% to 3.29% due in monthly installments through September 2021 .

We believe the carrying value of the Revolving Credit Facility, the Term Loan Facility and Other debt outstanding approximates fair value based on the
interest rates and scheduled maturities applicable to the outstanding borrowings. The fair value of the Senior Notes is estimated to be $491.7 million at
September 28, 2018 , based on Level 2 inputs. The fair value is determined by discounting future cash flows using interest rates available for issuances with similar
terms and average maturities.

The Company has issued $2.5 million in letters of credit under the Revolving Credit Facility, leaving $1.4 billion of available borrowing capacity under the
Revolving Credit Facility at September 28, 2018 . In addition, the Company had issued $444.1 million under separate, committed and uncommitted letter-of-credit
facilities for total issued letters of credit of $446.6 million at September 28, 2018 . 

The following table presents the amount of interest paid by the Company during September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in
thousands):

For the Years Ended
September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016

$68,467  $12,862  $13,282

10.    Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

Company-Only Sponsored Plans

We sponsor various defined benefit pension and other post retirement plans covering employees of certain U.S. and international subsidiaries. The
pension plans provide pension benefits that are based on the employee’s compensation and years of service. Our funding policy varies by country and plan
according to applicable local funding requirements and plan-specific funding agreements. In connection with the acquisition of CH2M on December 15, 2017, the
Company acquired CH2M’s pension plan assets and liabilities, which are reflected in the amounts disclosed for the year ended September 28, 2018 below.

The accounting for pension and other post-retirement benefit plans requires the use of assumptions and estimates in order to calculate periodic benefit cost
and the value of the plans’ assets and benefit obligations.  These assumptions include discount rates, investment returns, and projected salary increases, among
others.  The discount rates used in valuing the plans' benefit obligations were determined with reference to high quality corporate and government bonds that are
appropriately matched to the duration of each plan's obligations.  The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is generally based on using country-specific
simulation models which select a single outcome for expected return based on the target asset allocation.  The expected long-term rates of return used in the
valuation are the annual average returns generated by these assumptions over a 20 -year period for each asset class based on the expected long-term rate of return of
the underlying assets.

The following table sets forth the changes in the plans’ combined net benefit obligation (segregated between plans existing within and outside the U.S.)
for the years ended September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (in thousands):

F - 28



JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Net benefit obligation at the beginning of the year $ 169,942  $ 185,664  $ 1,306,807  $ 1,363,782
Service cost 4,765  1,000  8,269  7,509
Interest cost 13,778  5,757  49,324  31,205
Participants’ contributions 839  —  451  250
Actuarial (gains)/losses (30,730)  (9,922)  (43,595)  (142,273)
Benefits paid (27,914)  (14,338)  (75,711)  (40,208)
Curtailments/settlements/plan amendments (9,434)  —  (6,136)  (1,375)
Acquisition of CH2M Plans 327,156  —  924,233  —
Effect of exchange rate changes and other, net —  1,781  (14,396)  87,917
Net benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 448,402  $ 169,942  $ 2,149,246  $ 1,306,807

 The following table sets forth the changes in the combined Fair Value of the plans’ assets (segregated between plans existing within and outside the U.S.)
for the years ended September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year $ 147,788  $ 142,464  $ 1,076,928  $ 1,003,911
Actual return on plan assets 9,891  18,662  (19,883)  16,789
Employer contributions 58,097  1,000  31,556  21,005
Participants’ contributions 839  —  451  250
Gross benefits paid (27,914)  (14,338)  (75,711)  (40,208)
Curtailments/settlements/plan amendments (9,434)  —  (5,496)  (228)
Acquisition of CH2M Plans 211,562  —  869,414  —
Effect of exchange rate changes and other, net —  —  (9,778)  75,409
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year $ 390,829  $ 147,788  $ 1,867,481  $ 1,076,928

During fiscal 2018, the Company incurred combined curtailment and settlement losses on its defined benefit plans of approximately $5.4 million
primarily related to its Sverdrup and Ireland pension plans. During fiscal 2017, we curtailed the pension plan in Ireland.

The following table reconciles the combined funded statuses of the plans recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 28,
2018 and September 29, 2017 (segregated between plans existing within and outside the U.S.) (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Net benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 448,402  $ 169,942  $ 2,149,246  $ 1,306,807
Fair value of plan assets at the end of the year 390,829  147,788  1,867,481  1,076,928
Under funded amount recognized at the end of the year $ 57,573  $ 22,154  $ 281,765  $ 229,879

The following table presents the accumulated benefit obligation at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (segregated between plans existing within
and outside the U.S.) (in thousands):
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 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Accumulated benefit obligation at the end of the year $ 447,549  $ 169,942  $ 2,123,839  $ 1,291,600

The following table presents the amounts recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017
(segregated between plans existing within and outside the U.S.) (in thousands): 

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Prepaid benefit cost included in noncurrent assets $ —  $ —  $ 19,736  $ 3,035
Accrued benefit cost included in current liabilities 2,548  —  3,671  585
Accrued benefit cost included in noncurrent liabilities 55,025  22,154  297,830  232,329
Net amount recognized at the end of the year $ 57,573  $ 22,154  $ 281,765  $ 229,879

The following table presents the significant actuarial assumptions used in determining the funded statuses and the following year's benefit cost of the
Company’s U.S. plans for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 :

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Discount rates 3.9% to 4.2%  3.5%  3.2%
Rates of compensation increases 3.5%  —%  —%
Return on Assets 5.8% to 5.9%  7.5%  7.4%

The following table presents the significant actuarial assumptions used in determining the funded statuses and the following year's benefit cost of the
Company’s non-U.S. plans for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 :

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Discount rates 1.3% to 8.1%  1.3% to 7.0%  0.7% to 7.0%
Rates of compensation increases 2.5% to 7.5%  2.5% to 7.5%  2.5% to 7.5%
Expected long-term rates of return on assets 2.9% to 7.5%  3.5% to 8.5%  3.5% to 8.5%

The following table presents certain amounts relating to our U.S. plans recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (gain) loss at September 28, 2018
, September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Arising during the period:      
Net actuarial (gain) loss $ (7,514)  $ (11,372)  $ 4,337
Reclassification adjustments:      
Net actuarial losses (2,913)  (2,431)  (2,312)
Total $ (10,427)  $ (13,803)  $ 2,025

The following table presents certain amounts relating to our non-U.S. plans recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (gain) loss at September 28,
2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):
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 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Arising during the period:      

Net actuarial (gain) loss $ 59,827  $ (76,860)  $ 102,925
Prior service cost (benefit) 215  119  580
Total 60,042  (76,741)  103,505

Reclassification adjustments:      
Net actuarial losses (5,507)  (8,732)  (7,508)
Prior service cost 181  229  163
Total (5,326)  (8,503)  (7,345)

Total $ 54,716  $ (85,244)  $ 96,160

The following table presents certain amounts relating to our plans recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss that have not yet been recognized as
components of net periodic benefit cost at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (segregated between U.S. and non-U.S. plans) (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Net actuarial loss $ 37,255  $ 47,681  $ 273,312  $ 218,752
Prior service cost —  —  (700)  (855)
Total $ 37,255  $ 47,681  $ 272,612  $ 217,897

The following table presents the amount of accumulated comprehensive income that will be amortized against earnings as part of our net periodic benefit
cost in fiscal 2019 based on 2018 exchange rates (segregated between U.S. and non-U.S. plans) (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans
Unrecognized net actuarial loss $ 2,925  $ 8,616
Unrecognized prior service cost —  (258)

Accumulated comprehensive loss to be recorded against earnings $ 2,925  $ 8,358

We consider various factors in developing the estimates for the expected, long-term rates of return on plan assets. These factors include the projected,
long-term rates of returns on the various types of assets in which the plans invest, as well as historical returns. In general, investment allocations are determined by
each plan’s trustees and/or investment committees. The objectives of the plans’ investment policies are to (i) maximize returns while preserving capital; (ii) provide
returns sufficient to meet the current and long-term obligations of the plan as the obligations become due; and (iii) maintain a diversified portfolio of assets so as to
reduce the risk associated with having a disproportionate amount of the plans’ total assets invested in any one type of asset, issuer or geography. None of our
pension plans hold Jacobs common stock directly (although some plans may hold shares indirectly through investments in mutual funds). The plans’ weighted
average asset allocations at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (the measurement dates used in valuing the plans’ assets and liabilities) were as follows:
 

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Pans
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Equity securities 27%  70%  24%  24%
Debt securities 39%  23%  49%  32%
Real estate investments —%  —%  8%  5%
Other 34%  7%  19%  39%

The following table presents the Fair Value of the Company’s Domestic U.S. plan assets at September 28, 2018 , segregated by level of Fair Value
measurement inputs within the Fair Value hierarchy promulgated by U.S. GAAP (in thousands):
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 September 28, 2018
 Fair Value, Determined Using Fair Value Measurement Inputs

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Investments measured at

Net Asset Value  Total
U.S. Domestic equities $ 13,861  $ 63,937  $ —  $ —  $ 77,798
Overseas equities 26,699  —  —  —  26,699
U.S. Domestic bonds 84,894  58,229  —  —  143,123
Overseas bonds 938  9,570  —  —  10,508
Cash and equivalents 6,631  —  —  —  6,631
Mutual funds 126,042  —  —  —  126,042
Hedge funds $ —  $ —  $ —  28  28
Total $ 259,065  $ 131,736  $ —  $ 28  $ 390,829

The following table presents the Fair Value of the Company’s non-U.S. plan assets at September 28, 2018 , segregated by level of Fair Value
measurement inputs within the Fair Value hierarchy promulgated by U.S. GAAP (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018
 Fair Value, Determined Using Fair Value Measurement Inputs

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  
Investments measured at

Net Asset Value  Total
Domestic equities $ —  31,868  $ —  36,642  $ 68,510
Overseas equities —  327,309  —  44,675  371,984
Domestic bonds 252  222,282  —  1,080  223,614
Overseas bonds —  641,966  —  60,804  702,770
Cash and equivalents 33,482  7,822  —  —  41,304
Real estate —  26,987  99,587  17,568  144,142
Insurance contracts —  4,188  95,782  —  99,970
Derivatives —  (26,656)  —  —  $ (26,656)
Hedge funds —  —  135,786  8,047  $ 143,833
Mutual funds 69  97,941   —  98,010
Total $ 33,803  $ 1,333,707  $ 331,155  $ 168,816  $ 1,867,481

The following table presents the Fair Value of the Company’s U.S. plan assets at September 29, 2017 , segregated by level of Fair Value measurement
inputs within the Fair Value hierarchy promulgated by U.S. GAAP (in thousands):

 September 29, 2017
 Fair Value, Determined Using Fair Value Measurement Inputs
 Level 1  Level 3  Total
U.S. Domestic equities $ 103,760  $ —  $ 103,760
U.S. Domestic bonds 33,404  —  33,404
Cash and equivalents 4,448  —  4,448
Hedge funds —  6,176  6,176
Total $ 141,612  $ 6,176  $ 147,788

The following table presents the Fair Value of the Company’s non-U.S. plan assets at September 29, 2017 , segregated by level of Fair Value
measurement inputs within the Fair Value hierarchy promulgated by U.S. GAAP (in thousands):
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 September 29, 2017
 Fair Value, Determined Using Fair Value Measurement Inputs
 Level 1  Level 3  Total
Domestic equities $ 30,916  $ —  $ 30,916
Overseas equities 229,205  —  229,205
Domestic bonds 263,145  —  263,145
Overseas bonds 77,682  —  77,682
Cash and equivalents 38,924  —  38,924
Real estate —  58,974  58,974
Insurance contracts —  74,353  74,353
Other —  303,729  303,729
Total $ 639,872  $ 437,056  $ 1,076,928

The following table summarizes the changes in the Fair Value of the Company’s U.S. plans’ Level 3 assets for the year ended September 28, 2018 (in
thousands):

 Hedge Funds
Balance at September 29, 2017 $ 6,176
Purchases, sales, and settlements (6,176)
Realized and unrealized gains —
Balance at September 28, 2018 $ —

The following table summarizes the changes in the Fair Value of the Company’s non-U.S. Pension Plans’ Level 3 assets for the year ended September 28,
2018 (in thousands):

 Real Estate  Insurance Contracts  Hedge Funds
Balance at September 29, 2017 $ 58,974  $ 74,353  $ 303,729
Purchases, sales, and settlements 42,711  21,626  (154,446)
Realized and unrealized gains (losses) (784)  1,551  (6,650)
Transfers —  —  —
Effect of exchange rate changes (1,314)  (1,748)  (6,847)
Balance at September 28, 2018 $ 99,587  $ 95,782  $ 135,786

The following table summarizes the changes in the Fair Value of the Company’s U.S. plans’ Level 3 assets for the year ended September 29, 2017 (in
thousands):

 Real Estate  Hedge Funds
Balance at September 30, 2016 $ 3,477  $ 5,715
Purchases (3,477)  (557)
Realized and unrealized gains —  1,018
Balance at September 29, 2017 $ —  $ 6,176

The following table summarizes the changes in the Fair Value of the Company’s non-U.S. plans’ Level 3 assets for the year ended September 29, 2017 (in
thousands):   
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 Real Estate  Insurance Contracts  Hedge Funds
Balance at September 30, 2016 $ 55,665  $ 39,473  $ 272,517
Purchases, sales, and settlements (1,199)  422  (9,022)
Realized and unrealized gains 2,642  (7,572)  19,662
Transfers —  40,031  11,758
Effect of exchange rate changes 1,866  1,999  8,814
Balance at September 29, 2017 $ 58,974  $ 74,353  $ 303,729

The following table presents the amount of cash contributions we anticipate making into the plans during fiscal 2019 (in thousands):  

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Plans
Anticipated cash contributions $ 2,601  $ 31,549

The following table presents the total benefit payments expected to be paid to plan participants during each of the next five fiscal years, and in total for the
five years thereafter (in thousands):

 U.S. Plans  Non-U.S. Pans
2019 $ 31,785  $ 70,313
2020 31,270  71,337
2021 31,740  74,906
2022 31,818  78,097
2023 31,857  81,569
For the periods 2024 through 2028 154,755  448,246

The following table presents the components of net periodic benefit cost for the Company’s U.S. plans recognized in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Earnings for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Service cost $ 4,765  $ 1,000  $ 9,875
Interest cost 13,778  5,757  16,746
Expected return on plan assets (19,663)  (9,942)  (22,368)
Actuarial loss 3,845  3,985  7,512
Prior service cost —  —  (176)
Net pension cost, before special items 2,725  800  11,589
Contractual expense/Settlement loss 4,146  1,781  8,061
Total net periodic pension cost recognized $ 6,871  $ 2,581  $ 19,650

The following table presents the components of net periodic benefit cost for the Company’s Non-U.S. plans recognized in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Earnings for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):
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 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Service cost $ 8,269  $ 7,509  $ 14,378
Interest cost 49,324  31,205  38,892
Expected return on plan assets (83,328)  (56,269)  (50,190)
Actuarial loss 6,655  10,616  9,092
Prior service cost (257)  (329)  (260)
Net pension cost, before special items (19,337)  (7,268)  11,912
Curtailment expense/Settlement loss 1,268  (298)  (7,512)
Total net periodic pension (income) cost recognized $ (18,069)  $ (7,566)  $ 4,400

During fiscal 2018, the Company incurred combined curtailment and settlement losses on its defined benefit plans primarily related to its Sverdrup and
Ireland pension plans. During fiscal 2017, we curtailed the pension plan in Ireland. The fiscal 2016 settlement loss included in the U.S. pension plan net periodic
benefit cost table above related to the transfer of a U.S. pension plan to a new service provider. The fiscal 2016 settlement loss included in the Non-U.S. pension
plan net periodic benefit cost table above related to the sale of the Company’s French subsidiary.  

Multiemployer Plans

In Canada and the U.S., we contribute to various trusteed pension plans covering hourly construction employees under industry-wide agreements. We also
contribute to various trusteed plans in Australia and certain countries in Europe covering both hourly and certain salaried employees. Contributions are based on
the hours worked by employees covered under these agreements and are charged to direct costs of contracts on a current basis.

The majority of the contributions the Company makes to multiemployer pension plans are outside the U.S. With respect to these multiemployer plans, the
Company's liability to fund these plans is generally limited to the contributions we are required to make under collective bargaining agreements.

Based on our review of our multiemployer pension plans under the guidance provided in ASU 2011-09— Compensation-Retirement
Benefits-
Multiemployer
Plans
, we have concluded that none of the multiemployer pension plans into which we contribute are individually significant to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The following table presents the Company’s contributions to these multiemployer plans for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and
September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Canada $ 36,354  $ 35,182  $ 44,912
Europe $ 10,677  $ 6,212  $ 8,771
United States $ 9,536  $ 4,548  $ 5,058
Contributions to multiemployer pension plans $ 56,567  $ 45,942  $ 58,741

Other Benefit Plans

During the second fiscal quarter of 2017, the Company restructured certain employee welfare trust plans benefiting certain of its employees within its
India operations by moving these plans under the legal ownership and operation of the Company’s legal entity structure in the region. Historically, the Company
structured these plans as separate, stand-alone entities outside of the Company’s consolidated legal entity framework. As a result of these changes, the Company
has recorded a one-time, non-cash benefit of $9.9 million reported in selling, general and administrative expense in its Consolidated Statement of Earnings for the
year ended September 29, 2017 , with corresponding assets in the plans associated with restricted investments of $7.7 million and employee loans receivable of
$2.2 million and both recorded in Total other non-current assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at September 29, 2017 .

11.    Savings and Deferred Compensation Plans

Savings Plans
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We sponsor various defined contribution savings plans which allow participants to make voluntary contributions by salary deduction. Such plans cover
substantially all of our domestic, nonunion employees in the U.S. and are qualified under Section 401(k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. Similar plans outside
the U.S. cover various groups of employees of our international subsidiaries and affiliates. Several of these plans allow the Company to match, on a voluntary
basis, a portion of the employee contributions. The following table presents the Company’s contributions to these savings plans for the years ended September 28,
2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
$ 113,135  $ 82,882  $ 89,966

Deferred Compensation Plans

Our Executive Security Plan, Executive Deferral Plans, Directors Deferral Plan, legacy CH2M Supplemental Executive Retirement and Retention Plan
and legacy CH2M Deferred Compensation Plan are non-qualified deferred compensation programs that provide benefits payable to directors, officers, and certain
key employees or their designated beneficiaries at specified future dates, upon retirement, or death. The plans are unfunded; therefore, benefits are paid from the
general assets of the Company. The following table presents the amount charged to expense for the Company’s deferred compensation plans for the years ended
September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
$ 4,445  $ 4,368  $ 5,792

12. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The following table presents the Company's roll forward of accumulated income (loss) after-tax for the years ended September 28, 2018 and
September 29, 2017 (in thousands):

 
Change in Pension

Liabilities  

Foreign Currency
Translation
Adjustment  

Gain/(Loss) on
Cash Flow Hedges  Total

Balance at September 30, 2016 $ (364,625)  $ (245,613)  $ (356)  $ (610,594)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 88,113  (140,527)  834  (51,580)
Reclassifications from other
comprehensive income (loss) 10,934  —  (2,274)  8,660
Balance at September 29, 2017 (265,578)  (386,140)  (1,796)  (653,514)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (52,528)  (119,070)  618  (170,980)
Reclassifications from other
comprehensive income (loss) 8,239  9,193  359  17,791

Balance at September 28, 2018 $ (309,867)  $ (496,017)  $ (819)  $ (806,703)
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13.    Income Taxes

The following table presents the components of our consolidated income tax expense for years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and
September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Current income tax expense:      

Federal $ 34,145  $ 29,297  $ 36,020
State (597)  8,535  11,336
Foreign 59,889  31,347  52,259
Total current tax expense 93,437  69,179  99,615

Deferred income tax expense (benefit):      
Federal 252,730  29,390  6,439
State 15,485  3,407  485
Foreign 19,911  3,866  (34,331)
Total deferred tax expense (benefit) 288,126  36,663  (27,407)

Consolidated income tax expense $ 381,563  $ 105,842  $ 72,208

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Act”) was enacted in the United States. The Act reduced the top corporate U.S. federal statutory
tax rate from 35% to 21% starting on January 1, 2018, resulting in a blended statutory tax rate for fiscal year filers. It also requires companies to pay a one-time
transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries, places limitations and exclusions on varied tax deductions and creates new taxes on certain foreign
sourced earnings. The majority of the tax provisions, excluding the change in corporate tax rates, are effective for the first tax year beginning after January 1, 2018,
which will be the Company’s taxable year beginning fiscal 2019.

Given  the  significance  of  the  legislation,  the  SEC  staff  issued  Staff  Accounting  Bulletin  No.  118  (SAB  118),  which  allows  registrants  to  record
provisional amounts during a one year “measurement period” similar to that used when accounting for business combinations. However, the measurement period is
deemed to have ended earlier when the registrant has obtained, prepared and analyzed the information necessary to finalize its accounting. During the measurement
period, impacts of the law are expected to be recorded at the time a reasonable estimate for all or a portion of the effects can be made, and provisional amounts can
be recognized and adjusted as information becomes available, prepared or analyzed.

SAB 118 summarizes a three-step process to be applied at each reporting period to account for and qualitatively disclose: (1) the effects of the change in
tax law for which accounting is complete; (2) provisional amounts (or adjustments to provisional amounts) for the effects of the tax law where accounting is not
complete, but that a reasonable estimate has been determined; and (3) a reasonable estimate cannot yet be made and therefore taxes are reflected in accordance with
law prior to the enactment of the Act.

As of September 28, 2018 , the Company has not completed the accounting for the tax effects of the enactment of the Act. However, the Company has
made a provisional estimate of the effects of the statutory tax rate reduction impact on our existing deferred tax balances, the tax on global intangible low-taxed
income and the one-time transition tax.

The Act calls for a one-time tax on deemed repatriation of foreign earnings. This one-time transition tax is based on the Company's total post-1986
earnings and profits (E&P) of certain of our foreign subsidiaries. The Company has made a revised provisional estimate of the transition tax. Based upon our
review of the Company’s historical foreign tax credit position and post-1986 E&P, it is estimated at this time that the Company will incur approximately $14.3
million transition tax expense net of foreign tax credits. The Company is still in the process of completing our calculation of the total post-1986 E&P. The estimate
may change when the Company finalizes the calculation of post-1986 foreign E&P previously deferred from U.S. federal taxation and finalizes the amounts held in
cash or other specified assets.

The Company has also recorded a provisional expense of $104.2 million after consideration for valuation allowance with respect to certain foreign tax
credits as a result of integration impacts.

In the current fiscal year, the Company adopted ASU No 2018-02 ,
Income
Statement
-
Reporting
Comprehensive
Income
(Topic
220):
Reclassification
of
Certain
Tax
Effects
from
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
. The guidance gives entities the option to reclassify to retained earnings tax effects related to
items in accumulated other comprehensive income that the FASB refers
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to as having been stranded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a result of tax reform. As a result of adoption of ASU 2018-02, the Company
reclassified $10.2 million in accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings relating to the current year deferred tax activity for its U.S. pension
plans resulting from the Act.

Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the amounts recorded as assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the comparable amounts recorded for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in
effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

The following table presents the components of our net deferred tax assets at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Deferred tax assets:    

Obligations relating to:    
Defined benefit pension plans $ 30,483  $ 52,299
Other employee benefit plans 190,548  192,299
Net Operating Losses 167,424  136,783
Foreign Tax Credit 145,931  —
Other Credits 8,764   
Self-insurance programs —  489
Contract revenues and costs 130,116  (18,374)
Deferred Rent 5,454  25,654
Restructuring 14,515  18,258
Other 3,533  19,389
Valuation Allowance (264,944)  (58,097)

Gross deferred tax assets 431,824  368,700
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Depreciation and amortization (206,705)  (176,327)
Self-insurance programs (3,513)  —
Unremitted earnings (79,418)  —
Other, net —  (1,438)

Gross deferred tax liabilities (289,636)  (177,765)
Net deferred tax assets $ 142,188  $ 190,935

We remeasured the U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in the future, which is generally 21%.
The Company’s provisional remeasurement resulted in a $139.8 million net unfavorable charge to income tax expense for the year ended September 28, 2018 . The
Company is still analyzing purchase accounting related to CH2M Hill and refining the calculations, which could potentially affect the measurement of these
balances or potentially give rise to new deferred tax assets and liabilities.

A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized based on an assessment of positive
and negative evidence, including estimates of future taxable income necessary to realize future deductible amounts. The valuation allowance was $264.9 million at
September 28, 2018 and $58.1 million at September 29, 2017 .

Net operating loss carry forwards of foreign subsidiaries at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 totaled $ 662.4 million and $490.9 million ,
respectively. If unused, foreign net operating losses of $ 168.1 million will expire between 2019 and 2038.  Net operating losses of $ 494.3 million can be carried
forward indefinitely.

The following table presents the income tax benefits realized from the exercise of non-qualified stock options and disqualifying dispositions of stock sold
under our employee stock purchase plans for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in millions):
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For the Years Ended
September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016

$ 4.7  $ 5.2  $ 1.5

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate is higher than the US statutory rate of 24.6% primarily due to a $139.8 million detriment from the
provisional remeasurement of the deferred tax items in the U.S. from the reduction in the U.S. statutory rate, as well as a charge for valuation allowance related to
foreign tax credits of $104.2 million . In addition, there was an increase due to the difference in foreign tax rates compared to the new U.S. statutory rate of $9.9
million . The unfavorable charges were partially offset by a $5.7 million benefit related to a federal hurricane credit and $4.5 million benefit related to the Internal
Revenue Code section 179D deduction for the design of energy efficient facilities.

The following table reconciles total income tax expense using the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate to the consolidated income tax expense shown in
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Earnings for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (dollars in
thousands):

 For the Years Ended

 September 28, 2018  %  September 29, 2017  %  September 30, 2016  %
Statutory amount $ 136,458  24.6 %  $ 137,626  35.0 %  $ 100,353  35.0 %
State taxes, net of the federal benefit 7,587  1.4 %  8,955  2.3 %  7,853  2.7 %
Exclusion of tax on non-controlling interests (2,389)  (0.4)%  2,223  0.6 %  (1,418)  (0.5)%
Foreign:            

Difference in tax rates of foreign operations 9,860  1.8 %  (16,987)  (4.3)%  (17,184)  (6.0)%
Benefit from foreign valuation allowance release (5,105)  (0.9)%  (3,085)  (0.8)%  (11,182)  (3.9)%
U.K. tax rate change on deferred tax assets —  —  —  — %  8,853  3.1 %
Nontaxable income from foreign affiliate —  —  (3,280)  (0.8)%  —  —
U.S. tax cost of foreign operations 6,577  1.2 %  18,612  4.7 %  30,850  10.9 %

Tax differential on foreign earnings 11,332  2.0 %  (4,740)  (1.2)%  11,337  4.1 %
Foreign tax credits (21,729)  (3.9)%  (20,454)  (5.2)%  (44,018)  (15.4)%

Tax Reform 154,150  27.8 %  —  —  —  —

Valuation Allowance 104,221  18.8 %  —  —  —  —
Uncertain tax positions (1,297)  (0.2)%  (5,779)  (1.5)%  1,449  0.5 %
Other items:            

IRS §179D deduction (4,520)  (0.8)%  (3,351)  (0.8)%  (2,153)  (0.8)%
IRS §199D deduction —  —  (2,113)  (0.5)%  (2,800)  (1.0)%
Foreign partnership income/(loss) (3,990)  (0.7)%  (9,861)  (2.5)%  (2,658)  (0.9)%
Other items – net 1,740  0.3 %  3,336  0.7 %  4,263  1.5 %

Total other items (6,770)  (1.2)%  (11,989)  (3.1)%  (3,348)  (1.2)%
Taxes on income $ 381,563  68.9 %  $ 105,842  26.9 %  $ 72,208  25.2 %

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate for the year ended September 28, 2018 increased to 68.9% from 26.9% for fiscal 2017 . Key
drivers for this year over year increase include the reduction in the U.S. statutory tax rate causing a detriment for provisional remeasurement of the deferred tax
items in the U.S. of $139.8 million , as well as a charge for valuation allowance related to foreign tax credits of $104.2 million . In addition, there was an increase
due to the difference in foreign tax rates compared to the new U.S. statutory rate of $26.8 million . These detriments were partially offset by a $4.5 million benefit
related to internal revenue service code section 179D, a nonrecurring benefit of $2.8 million related to tax accounting method changes and a $5.7 million federal
hurricane credit.

The Company’s consolidated effective income tax rate for the year ended September 29, 2017 increased to 26.9% from 25.2% for fiscal 2016 . Key
drivers for this year over year increase included the impacts of lower foreign tax credit benefits and lower benefits from valuation allowance releases on foreign
deferred tax assets, partly offset by favorable impacts of U.S. tax cost of foreign operations, the non-recurrence of 2016 tax rate change impacts on deferred income
tax assets in the UK and favorable impacts from change in uncertain tax positions.
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The following table presents income tax payments made during the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in
millions):

September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
$ 44.29  $ 78.39  $ 116.30

The following table presents the components of our consolidated earnings before taxes for the years ended September 28, 2018 , September 29, 2017 and
September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 For the Years Ended

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
United States earnings $ 282,123  $ 232,342  $ 206,159
Foreign earnings 272,582  160,875  80,564
 $ 554,705  $ 393,217  $ 286,723

The tax cost, net of applicable credits, have been provided on the undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries. As of September 28, 2018
, the provisional estimate of repatriating earnings to the United States is estimated at $93.0 million . The Company does not assert any earnings to be permanently
reinvested.

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax benefits in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income
Taxes
. It accounts for interest and penalties on
unrecognized tax benefits as interest and penalties (i.e., not as part of income tax expense). The Company’s liability for gross unrecognized tax benefits was $76.7
million and $38.6 million at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 , respectively, all of which, if recognized, would affect the Company’s consolidated
effective income tax rate. The Company had $56.3 million and $36.6 million in accrued interest and penalties at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 ,
respectively. The Company estimates that, within twelve months, we may realize a decrease in our uncertain tax positions of approximately $6.5 million as a result
of concluding various tax audits and closing tax years. As of September 28, 2018 , the Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns for tax years 2009 and forward
remain subject to examination.

The following table presents the reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended September 28, 2018 ,
September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 For the Years Ended

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Balance, beginning of year $ 38,580  $ 44,167  $ 42,666
Acquisition of CH2M 137,912  —  —
Additions based on tax positions related to the current 
   year 9,780  5,900  5,670
Additions for tax positions of prior years 5,561  237  367
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (8,962)  (4,524)  (2,451)
Settlement (3,731)  (7,200)  (2,085)
Balance, end of year $ 179,140  $ 38,580  $ 44,167

On December 15, 2017 the Company completed the acquisition of CH2M. For income tax purposes, the transaction was accounted for as a stock
purchase. As a result of the acquisition, the Company adjusted its U.S. GAAP opening balance sheet of CH2M to reflect preliminary estimates of the fair value of
the net assets acquired.  For income tax purposes, the tax attributes and basis of net assets acquired carryover without any step-up to fair value. The Company has
made preliminary estimates and recorded deferred taxes associated with the purchase accounting. It is expected that the Company will make adjustments to the
purchase accounting over the relevant measurement period as allowed by ASC 805.

14. Commitments and Contingencies and Derivative Financial Instruments

Commitments Under Operating Leases
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We lease certain of our facilities and equipment under operating leases with net aggregate future lease payments at September 28, 2018 , payable as
follows (in thousands):

In fiscal years,  
2019 $ 215,375
2020 187,228
2021 158,781
2022 135,991
2023 115,614
Thereafter 344,120

 1,157,109
Amounts representing sublease income (19,443)

 $ 1,137,666

We recognize rent expense, inclusive of landlord concessions and tenant allowances, over the lease term on a straight-line basis. We also recognize rent
expense on a straight-line basis for leases containing fixed escalation clauses and rent holidays. Contingent rentals are included in rent expense as incurred.
Operating leases relating to many of our major offices generally contain renewal options and provide for additional rental based on escalation in operating expenses
and real estate taxes.

The following table presents rent expense and sublease income offsetting the Company’s rent expense for the years ended September 28, 2018 ,
September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 (in thousands):

 For the Years Ended

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Rent expense $ 217,550  $ 145,344  $ 151,539
Sublease income (5,514)  (7,052)  (7,212)
Net rent expense $ 212,036  $ 138,292  $ 144,327

Synthetic Lease Guarantee

We are party to a synthetic lease agreement involving certain real and personal property located in Houston, Texas that we use in our operations. A
synthetic lease is a type of off-balance sheet transaction which provides us with certain tax and other financial benefits. Significant terms of the lease are as
follows:

End of lease term 2025
End of term purchase option (in thousands) $ 76,950
Residual value guarantee (in thousands) $ 62,412

The Company refinanced the synthetic lease agreement effective July 28, 2015 with a 10 -year term. The new lease agreement continues to gives us the
right to request an extension of the lease term. We may also assist the owner in selling the property at the end of the lease term, the proceeds from which would be
used to reduce our residual value guarantee. The minimum lease payments required by the lease agreement is included in the above lease payment schedule. We
have determined that the estimated Fair Value of the aforementioned financial guarantee was not significant at September 28, 2018 .

Derivative Financial Instruments

In situations where our operations incur contract costs in currencies other than their functional currency, we attempt to have a portion of the related
contract revenues denominated in the same currencies as the costs. In those situations where revenues and costs are transacted in different currencies, we
sometimes enter into foreign exchange contracts in order to limit our exposure to fluctuating foreign currencies. The Company does not currently have exchange
rate sensitive instruments that would have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements or results of operations.

Letters of Credit
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At September 28, 2018 , the Company had issued and outstanding approximately $446.6 million in LOCs and $870.3 million in surety bonds. Of the
outstanding LOC amount, $2.5 million has been issued under the Revolving Credit Facility and $444.1 million are issued under separate, committed and
uncommitted letter-of-credit facilities.

15. Contractual Guarantees, Litigation, Investigations and Insurance

In the normal course of business, we make contractual commitments some of which are supported by separate guarantees; and on occasion we are a party
in a litigation or arbitration proceeding. The litigation or arbitration in which we are involved includes personal injury claims, professional liability claims and
breach of contract claims. In most cases, we are the defendant. Where we provide a separate guarantee it is strictly in support of the underlying contractual
commitment. Guarantees take various forms including surety bonds required by law, or standby letters of credit ("LOC") (also referred to as “bank guarantees”) or
corporate guarantees given to induce a party to enter into a contract with a subsidiary. Standby LOCs are also used as security for advance payments or in various
other transactions. The guarantees have various expiration dates ranging from an arbitrary date to completion of our work (e.g., engineering only) to completion of
the overall project. See Note 14- Commitments
and
Contingencies
and
Derivative
Financial
Instruments
for more information surrounding LOCs and surety bonds.

We maintain insurance coverage for most insurable aspects of our business and operations. Our insurance programs have varying coverage limits
depending upon the type of insurance, and include certain conditions and exclusions which insurance companies may raise in response to any claim that the
Company brings. We have also elected to retain a portion of losses and liabilities that occur through the use of various deductibles, limits, and retentions under our
insurance programs. As a result, we may be subject to a future liability for which we are only partially insured or completely uninsured. We intend to mitigate any
such future liability by continuing to exercise prudent business judgment in negotiating the terms and conditions of the contracts which the Company enters with its
clients. Our insurers are also subject to business risk and, as a result, one or more of them may be unable to fulfill their insurance obligations due to insolvency or
otherwise.

Additionally, as a contractor providing services to the U.S. federal government we are subject to many types of audits, investigations and claims by, or on
behalf of, the government including with respect to contract performance, pricing, cost allocations, procurement practices, labor practices and socioeconomic
obligations. Furthermore, our income, franchise and similar tax returns and filings are also subject to audit and investigation by the Internal Revenue Service, most
states within the U.S., as well as by various government agencies representing jurisdictions outside the U.S.

Our Consolidated Balance Sheets include amounts representing our probable estimated liability relating to such claims, guarantees, litigation, audits and
investigations. We perform an analysis to determine the level of reserves to establish for insurance-related claims that are known and have been asserted against us,
and for insurance-related claims that are believed to have been incurred based on actuarial analysis, but have not yet been reported to our claims administrators as
of the respective balance sheet dates. We include any adjustments to such insurance reserves in our consolidated results of operations. Insurance recoveries are
recorded as assets if recovery is probable and estimated liabilities are not reduced by expected insurance recoveries.

The Company believes, after consultation with counsel, that such guarantees, litigation, U.S. government contract-related audits, investigations and claims
and income tax audits and investigations should not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements.

On September 30, 2015, Nui Phao Mining Company Limited (“NPMC”) commenced arbitration proceedings against Jacobs E&C Australia Pty Limited
(“Jacobs E&C”). The arbitration is pending in Singapore before the Singapore International Arbitration Centre. In March 2011, Jacobs E&C was engaged by
NPMC for the provision of management, design, engineering and procurement services for the Nui Phao mine/mineral processing project in Vietnam. In the Notice
of Arbitration and in a subsequently filed Statement of Claim and Supplementary Statement of Claim dated February 1, 2016 and February 26, 2016, respectively,
NPMC asserts various causes of action and alleges that the quantum of its claim exceeds $ 167.0 million . Jacobs has denied liability and is vigorously defending
this claim. A three week hearing on the merits concluded on December 15, 2017 and a decision is expected as soon as later this calendar year.  The Company does
not expect the resolution of this matter to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations and/or cash flows.

In 2012, CH2M HILL Australia Pty Limited, a subsidiary of CH2M, entered into a 50 /50 integrated joint venture with Australian construction contractor
UGL Infrastructure Pty Limited. The joint venture entered into a Consortium Agreement with General Electric and GE Electrical International Inc. The Consortium
was awarded a subcontract by JKC Australia LNG Pty Limited for the engineering, procurement, construction and commissioning of a 360 MW Combined Cycle
Power Plant for INPEX Operations Australia Pty Limited at Blaydin Point, Darwin, NT, Australia. In January 2017, the Consortium terminated the Subcontract
because of JKC’s repudiatory breach and demobilized from the work site. JKC claimed the Consortium abandoned the work and itself
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purported to terminate the Subcontract. The Consortium and JKC are now in dispute over the termination. In August 2017, the Consortium filed an International
Chamber of Commerce arbitration against JKC for compensatory damages in the amount of $ 665.5 million for repudiatory breach or, in the alternative, seeking
damages for unresolved contract claims and change orders. JKC has provided a preliminary estimate of the monetary value of its claims in excess of $ 1.7 billion
and has drawn on bonds. This draw on bonds does not impact the Company's ultimate liability. A decision in this matter is not expected before 2020. If the
Consortium is found liable, this matter could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and /or cash
flows, particularly in the short term. However, the Consortium has denied liability and is vigorously defending these claims and pursuing its affirmative claims
against JKC, and based on the information currently available, the Company does not expect the resolution of this matter to have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. See Note 5- Business
Combinations
for further information relating to CH2M
contingencies.
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16. Other Financial Information

Receivables

The following table presents the components of “Receivables” as shown in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 28, 2018 and
September 29, 2017 as well as certain other related information (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Components of receivables:    
Amounts billed, net $ 1,597,297  $ 949,060
Unbilled receivables and other 1,933,000  1,118,144
Retentions receivable 24,633  35,339

Total receivables, net $ 3,554,930  $ 2,102,543
Other information about receivables:    

Amounts due from the United States federal government included above, net of advanced billings $ 472,846  $ 226,236
Claims receivable $ —  $ 4,600

Billed receivables, net consist of amounts invoiced to clients in accordance with the terms of the client contracts and are shown net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. We anticipate that substantially all of such billed amounts will be collected over the next twelve months.

Unbilled receivables and retentions receivable represent reimbursable costs and amounts earned and reimbursable under contracts in progress as of the
respective balance sheet dates. Such amounts become billable according to the contract terms, which usually consider the passage of time, achievement of certain
milestones or completion of the project. We anticipate that substantially all of such unbilled amounts will be billed and collected over the next twelve months.

Claims receivable are included in receivables in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and represent certain costs incurred on contracts to the
extent it is probable that such claims will result in additional contract revenue and the amount of such additional revenue can be reliably estimated.

Property, Equipment and Improvements, Net

The following table presents the components of our property, equipment and improvements, net at September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (in
thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Land $ 19,327  $ 17,197
Buildings 129,336  93,313
Equipment 721,274  627,609
Leasehold improvements 268,979  220,295
Construction in progress 17,685  21,300
 1,156,601  979,714
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (698,895)  (629,803)
 $ 457,706  $ 349,911

Miscellaneous Noncurrent Assets

The following table presents the components of “Miscellaneous noncurrent assets” shown in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at
September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017 (in thousands):
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 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Deferred income taxes $ 319,405  $ 368,700
Deferred compensation arrangement investments 282,974  142,522
Equity Method Investments 219,614  131,400
Notes receivable 1,274  17,839
Other 48,425  31,561
Total $ 871,692  $ 692,022

 

Deferred compensation arrangement investments are comprised of the cash surrender value of life insurance policies and pooled-investment funds. The
fair value of the pooled investment funds is derived using Level 2 inputs.

  Accrued Liabilities

The following table presents the components of “Accrued liabilities” shown in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 28, 2018 and
September 29, 2017 (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Accrued payroll and related liabilities $ 864,670  $ 572,946
Project-related accruals 45,349  71,815
Non project-related accruals 349,384  116,051
Insurance liabilities 64,976  67,546
Sales and other similar taxes 83,151  32,163
Deferred rent 58,988  60,593
Dividends payable 22,111  18,573
Total $ 1,488,629  $ 939,687

Other Deferred Liabilities

The following table presents the components of “Other deferred liabilities” shown in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 28,
2018 and September 29, 2017 (in thousands):

 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017
Liabilities relating to defined benefit pension and early retirement plans $ 352,855  $ 254,483
Liabilities relating to nonqualified deferred compensation arrangements 238,830  114,616
Deferred income taxes 177,217  177,765
Miscellaneous 639,969  185,417
Total $ 1,408,871  $ 732,281

17. Segment Information

During the second quarter of fiscal 2018 , we reorganized our operating and reporting structure around three lines of business (“LOBs”), which also serve
as the Company’s operating segments. This reorganization occurred in conjunction with the integration of CH2M into the Company's legacy businesses, and was
intended to better serve our global clients, leverage our workforce, help streamline operations and provide enhanced growth opportunities. The three global LOBs
are as follows: Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear ("ATEN"); Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities ("BIAF"); and Energy,
Chemicals and Resources ("ECR"). Previously, the Company operated its business around four operating segments: Petroleum & Chemicals, Buildings &
Infrastructure, Aerospace & Technology and Industrial. Beginning in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 , management no longer views or manages our Industrial
line of business as a separate, distinct operating segment. Therefore, the elements of our former Industrial business are now presented within each of the three
current operating segments as appropriate. The Company’s LOB leadership and internal reporting structures report to the Chief Executive Officer, who is also the
Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), and enable the CODM to evaluate the performance of each of these segments and make appropriate resource
allocations among each of the segments. For purposes of the Company’s goodwill impairment testing, it has been determined that the Company’s operating
segments are also its reporting units based on management’s conclusion that the components comprising each of its
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operating segments share similar economic characteristics and meet the aggregation criteria for reporting units in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles-Goodwill
and
Other
.

Under the new organization, each LOB has a president that reports directly to the CODM. The sales function is managed on an LOB basis, and
accordingly, the associated cost is embedded in the new segments and reported to the respective LOB presidents. In addition, a portion of the costs of other support
functions (e.g., finance, legal, human resources, and information technology) is allocated to each LOB using methodologies which, we believe, effectively attribute
the cost of these support functions to the revenue generating activities of the Company on a rational basis. The cost of the Company’s cash incentive plan, the
Management Incentive Plan (“MIP”) and the expense associated with the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 SIP have likewise been charged to the LOBs except
for those amounts determined to relate to the business as a whole (which amounts remain in other corporate expenses).

Financial information for each LOB is reviewed by the CODM to assess performance and make decisions regarding the allocation of resources. The
Company generally does not track assets by LOB, nor does it provide such information to the CODM.

The CODM evaluates the operating performance of our LOBs using segment operating profit, which is defined as margin less “corporate charges” (e.g.,
the allocated amounts described above). The Company incurs certain Selling, General and Administrative costs (“SG&A”) that relate to its business as a whole
which are not allocated to the LOBs.

On December 15, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of CH2M. For purposes of the Company’s fiscal 2018 segment reporting, the operating
financial information of CH2M has been categorized within the Company’s new LOB business structure, with its sales and operating profit results for the time
period during which CH2M has been under the ownership of the Company being allocated to the Company’s ATEN, BIAF and ECR lines of business under a
transitional business organization structure. The Company has not completed its final assessment of the CH2M purchase price allocation, including the fair value
estimates of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

The following tables present total revenues and segment operating profit for each reportable segment (in thousands) and includes a reconciliation of
segment operating profit to total U.S. GAAP operating profit by including certain corporate-level expenses and expenses relating to the Restructuring and other
charges and transaction costs associated with the CH2M transaction and integration costs and the ECR sale (in thousands). Prior period information has been recast
to reflect the current period presentation.

 For the Years Ended
 September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016
Revenues from External Customers:      

Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear $ 4,372,008  $ 2,464,363  $ 2,845,913
Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities 6,184,883  3,830,697  3,419,505
Energy, Chemicals and Resources 4,427,755  3,727,728  4,698,739
              Total $ 14,984,646  $ 10,022,788  $ 10,964,157

For the Years Ended
September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016

Segment Operating Profit:      
Aerospace, Technology, Environmental and Nuclear (1) $ 311,871  $ 200,179  $ 215,119
Buildings, Infrastructure and Advanced Facilities (2) 482,277  263,679  217,412
Energy, Chemicals and Resources 218,109  161,312  153,797

Total Segment Operating Profit 1,012,257  625,170  586,328
Other Corporate Expenses (113,702)  (81,595)  (60,100)
Restructuring and Other Charges (170,148)  (134,206)  (187,630)
Transaction Costs (80,436)  (17,100)  —

Total U.S. GAAP Operating Profit 647,971  392,269  338,598
Gain (Loss) on disposal of business and investments (20,967)  10,880  (41,410)
Total Other (Expense) Income, net (3) (72,299)  (9,932)  (10,465)

Earnings Before Taxes $ 554,705  $ 393,217  $ 286,723

(1)    Includes $15.0 million in charges during the year ended September 28, 2018 associated with a legal matter.
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(2) Excludes $23.8 million in restructuring and other charges for the year ended September 29, 2017 . See Note 8, Restructuring
and
Other
Charges
.
(3) Includes amortization of deferred financing fees related to the CH2M acquisition of $1.8 million for the year ended September 28, 2018 . Also, includes $1.2 million and $

277 thousand of restructuring and other charges for the years ended September 29, 2017 and September 30, 2016 , respectively.

Included in “other corporate expenses” in the above table are costs and expenses which relate to general corporate activities as well as corporate-managed
benefit and insurance programs. Such costs and expenses include: (i) those elements of SG&A expenses relating to the business as a whole; (ii) those elements of
the Management Incentive Plan and the 1999 SIP relating to corporate personnel whose other compensation costs are not allocated to the LOBs; (iii) the
amortization of intangible assets acquired as part of business combinations; (iv) the quarterly variances between the Company’s actual costs of certain of its self-
insured integrated risk and employee benefit programs and amounts charged to the LOBs; and (v) certain adjustments relating to costs associated with the
Company’s international defined benefit pension plans. In addition, “other corporate expenses” includes adjustments to contract margins (both positive and
negative) associated with projects where it has been determined, in the opinion of management, that such adjustments are not indicative of the performance of the
related LOB and therefore should not be attributed to the LOB.

Included in gain (loss) on disposal of business and investments for the year ended September 28, 2018 was a loss on the sale of the Company’s ownership
interest in the Company's Guimar Engenharia LTDA ("Guimar") joint venture. Included in gain (loss) on disposal of business and investments for the year ended
September 29, 2017 was a gain on the sale of the Company’s ownership interest in the Neste Jacobs joint venture. Included in gain (loss) on disposal of business
and investments for the year ended September 30, 2016 was the loss associated with the sale of the Company’s French subsidiary and a non-cash write-off on an
equity investment.

We provide a broad range of technical, professional and construction services including engineering, design and architectural services; construction and
construction management services; operations and maintenance services; and process, scientific and systems consulting services. We provide our services through
offices and subsidiaries located primarily in North America, South America, Europe, the Middle East, India, Australia, Africa and Asia. We provide our services
under cost-reimbursable and fixed-price contracts.

The following table presents certain financial information by geographic area (in thousands):

For the Years Ended
September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016

Revenues:      
     United States $ 9,519,085  $ 5,822,843  $ 6,247,448
     Europe 2,768,739  2,262,092  2,346,224
     Canada 863,531  590,604  927,942
     Asia 316,339  253,167  299,952
     India 211,983  165,295  187,929
     Australia and New Zealand 719,566  628,945  436,670
     South America and Mexico 159,700  73,456  125,610
     Middle East and Africa 425,703  226,386  392,382

Total $ 14,984,646  $ 10,022,788  $ 10,964,157

Property, equipment and improvements, net:      
     United States $ 316,633  $ 220,416  $ 195,392
     Europe 59,019  46,108  37,163
     Canada 21,559  18,435  21,464
     Asia 3,588  2,793  3,069
     India 19,446  19,191  13,350
     Australia and New Zealand 16,151  18,692  18,888
     South America and Mexico 4,562  4,619  5,621
     Middle East and Africa 16,748  19,657  24,726

Total $ 457,706  $ 349,911  $ 319,673

Revenues were earned from unaffiliated clients located primarily within the various and respective geographic areas shown.
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The following table presents the revenues earned directly or indirectly from the U.S. federal government and its agencies, expressed as a percentage of
total revenues:

For the Years Ended
September 28, 2018  September 29, 2017  September 30, 2016

23%  19%  21%

18.    Selected Quarterly Information — Unaudited

The following table presents selected quarterly financial information. (in thousands, except for per share amounts):

 

 
First

Quarter    
Second
Quarter    

Third
Quarter    

Fourth
Quarter    

Fiscal
Year

September 28, 2018                  
Revenues $ 2,750,311    $ 3,935,028  $ 4,156,663  $ 4,142,644    $ 14,984,646
Operating profit (a) $ 47,644 (e)  $ 146,286 (e)  $ 212,729 (e)  $ 241,312 (e)  $ 647,971
Earnings before taxes $ 41,916    $ 122,167    $ 192,783    $ 197,839    $ 554,705
Net earnings of the Group $ 2,561    $ 51,932    $ 150,071    $ (31,422)    $ 173,142
Net earnings attributable to Jacobs $ 2,163 (e)  $ 48,587 (e)  $ 150,222 (e)  $ (37,541) (e)  $ 163,431
Earnings per share:                  

Basic $ 0.02 (e)  $ 0.34 (e)  $ 1.05 (e)  $ (0.26) (e)  $ 1.18
Diluted $ 0.02 (e)  $ 0.34 (e)  $ 1.05 (e)  $ (0.26) (e)  $ 1.17

September 29, 2017                  
Revenues $ 2,551,604    $ 2,302,567 (c)  $ 2,514,751 (c)  $ 2,653,866    $ 10,022,788
Operating profit (a) $ 88,628    $ 68,173 (c)  $ 128,475 (c)  $ 106,993    $ 392,269
Earnings before taxes $ 85,880    $ 60,491    $ 127,396    $ 119,450    $ 393,217
Net earnings of the Group $ 61,153    $ 44,165    $ 88,629    $ 93,428    $ 287,375
Net earnings attributable to Jacobs $ 60,536 (c)  $ 50,018 (c)  $ 89,032 (c)  $ 94,141 (c)(d)  $ 293,727
Earnings per share:                  

Basic $ 0.50 (c)  $ 0.41 (c)  $ 0.74 (c)  $ 0.78 (c)(d)  $ 2.43
Diluted $ 0.50 (c)  $ 0.41 (c)  $ 0.74 (c)  $ 0.78 (c)(d)  $ 2.42

September 30, 2016                  
Revenues $ 2,847,934    $ 2,781,763    $ 2,693,873    $ 2,640,587    $ 10,964,157
Operating profit (a) $ 59,450    $ 86,781    $ 109,556    $ 82,811    $ 338,598
Earnings before taxes $ 57,787    $ 90,456    $ 102,807    $ 35,673    $ 286,723
Net earnings of the Group $ 50,306    $ 63,389    $ 70,937    $ 29,883    $ 214,515
Net earnings attributable to Jacobs $ 46,514 (b)  $ 65,250 (b)  $ 69,055 (b)  $ 29,644 (b)  $ 210,463
Earnings per share:                  

Basic $ 0.38 (b)  $ 0.54 (b)  $ 0.58 (b)  $ 0.25 (b)  $ 1.75
Diluted $ 0.38 (b)  $ 0.54 (b)  $ 0.57 (b)  $ 0.24 (b)  $ 1.73

(a) Operating profit represents revenues less (i) direct costs of contracts, and (ii) selling, general and administrative expenses.
(b) Includes costs of $ 48.1 million, or $ 0.39 per diluted share, in the first quarter of fiscal 2016 , $ 25.7 million or $ 0.21 per diluted share in the second quarter of fiscal 2016

, $ 25.8 million, or $ 0.21 per diluted share, in the third quarter, and $ 36.0 million or $ 0.3 per diluted share in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016 , in each case, related to the
2015 Restructuring.  Also included in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2016 were $ 17.1 million, or $ 0.14 per diluted share related to the loss on sale of our French subsidiary;
and $ 10.4 million, or $ 0.09 per diluted share related to the non-cash write-off on an equity investment.

(c) Includes costs of $ 31.7 million, or $ 0.18 per diluted share, in the first quarter of fiscal 2017 ; includes $ 16.5 million in revenue, $ 72.2 million in operating profit, $ 45.2
million in net earnings attributable to Jacobs, or $ 0.37 per diluted share, in the second quarter of fiscal 2017 ; includes $1 million in revenue, $ 10.7 million in operating
profit and $ 6.3 million in net earnings attributable to Jacobs, or $ 0.05 per diluted share, in the third quarter of fiscal 2017 ; includes $ 19.5 million in operating profit, $
13.6 million in net earnings attributable to Jacobs, or $ 0.11 per diluted share, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017 , in each case, related to restructuring and other charges.
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(d) Includes costs of $ 10.6 million, or $ 0.09 per diluted share, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017 related to professional fees and integration costs for the CH2M acquisition.  
(e) Includes $ 87.0 million in operating profit, $94.8 million in net earnings attributable to Jacobs, or $ 0.75 per diluted share, in the first quarter of fiscal 2018 ; includes $ 73.7

million in operating profit, $ 95.4 million in net earnings attributable to Jacobs, or $ 0.66 per diluted share, in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 ; includes $ 51.3 million in
operating profit and $ 43.9 million in net earnings attributable to Jacobs, or $ 0.31 per diluted share, in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 ; includes $ 38.5 million in operating
profit, $ 225.9 million in net earnings attributable to Jacobs, or $ 1.57 per diluted share, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018 , in each case, related to restructuring and other
charges, transaction costs and charges relating to U.S. tax reform. During the fourth quarter, the $ 225.9 million in restructuring and other charges included in net earnings
attributable to Jacobs includes $21.0 million related to the loss on the sale of our Guimar joint venture investment.

19.    Subsequent Events

On October 21, 2018, Jacobs and WorleyParsons Limited, a company incorporated in Australia (“Buyer”), entered into a Stock and Asset Purchase
Agreement pursuant to which Buyer agreed to acquire the Company’s ECR business for a purchase price of $ 3.3 billion consisting of (i) $ 2.6 billion in cash plus
(ii) ordinary shares of the Buyer equal to $ 700 million, subject to adjustments for changes in working capital and certain other items (the “Transaction”). The
Transaction, which has been approved by the boards of directors of the Company and Buyer, is expected to close in the first half of calendar year 2019.

The completion of the Transaction is subject to certain customary closing conditions, including, but not limited to, (i) the absence of any law or order
prohibiting the consummation of the Transaction, (ii) the expiration or termination of the waiting period (and any extensions thereof) applicable under the Hart-
Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the “HSR Act”), (iii) the expiration or termination of all applicable waiting periods and the receipt
of all applicable approvals required pursuant to or in connection with the competition laws of certain foreign jurisdictions in which the Business operates, (iv) the
receipt of approval from the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (“CFIUS”), (v) the completion of a certain number of agreed upon steps of the
Reorganization (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) and (vi) the transfer of certain owned real property of the Business.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of September 28, 2018 and
September 29, 2017, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years
in the period ended September 28, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial  statements  present  fairly,  in  all  material  respects,  the  financial  position  of  the  Company  at  September  28,  2018  and  September  29,  2017,  and  the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended September 28, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited,  in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight  Board (United States)  (PCAOB), the Company's internal
control  over  financial  reporting  as  of  September  28,  2018,  based  on  criteria  established  in  Internal  Control-Integrated  Framework  issued  by  the  Committee  of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated November 21, 2018 expressed an adverse opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We  conducted  our  audits  in  accordance  with  the  standards  of  the  PCAOB.  Those  standards  require  that  we  plan  and  perform  the  audit  to  obtain  reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material  misstatement,  whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material  misstatement of the financial  statements,  whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1987.

Dallas, Texas
November 21, 2018
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of September 28, 2018, based on criteria established
in  Internal  Control-Integrated  Framework  issued  by  the  Committee  of  Sponsoring  Organizations  of  the  Treadway  Commission  (2013  framework)  (the  COSO
criteria). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described below based on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Jacobs
Engineering Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) has not maintained effective control over financial reporting as of September 28, 2018, based on the COSO
criteria.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and conclusion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of the CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. (CH2M) acquired on December
15, 2017, which is included in the 2018 consolidated financial statements of the Company and constituted 42% of total assets as of September 28, 2018, 25% of
revenues and 30% of operating profit for the fiscal year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an
evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of CH2M.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weakness
has been identified and included in management’s assessment. Management has identified a material weakness in controls related to the Company’s accounting for
income taxes in connection with the CH2M business combination.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance
sheets of the Company as of September 28, 2018 and September 29, 2017, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended September 28, 2018, and the related notes. This material weakness was considered in
determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2018 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report
dated November 21, 2018, which expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and
are  required  to  be  independent  with  respect  to  the  Company in  accordance  with  the  U.S.  federal  securities  laws and the  applicable  rules  and regulations  of  the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the  design  and  operating  effectiveness  of  internal  control  based  on  the  assessed  risk,  and  performing  such  other  procedures  as  we  considered  necessary  in  the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting  includes  those  policies  and  procedures  that  (1)  pertain  to  the  maintenance  of  records  that,  in  reasonable  detail,  accurately  and  fairly  reflect  the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial  statements  in  accordance  with  generally  accepted  accounting  principles,  and  that  receipts  and  expenditures  of  the  company  are  being  made  only  in
accordance with authorizations
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of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because  of  its  inherent  limitations,  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  may  not  prevent  or  detect  misstatements.  Also,  projections  of  any  evaluation  of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas
November 21, 2018
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Exhibit 10.17

RETIREMENT TRANSITION AGREEMENT

This Retirement Transition Agreement (“ Agreement ”) is entered into this 20 th day of November 2018 between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and its
affiliated and subsidiary companies (“ Jacobs ”) and Gary Mandel (“ Employee ”). The effective date of this Agreement shall be the “Effective Date” as defined in
the Revocation Period paragraph, below.

WHEREAS , Employee has been a full-time employee of Jacobs; and

WHEREAS , Employee has announced his intention to retire from Jacobs; and

WHEREAS , Employee and Jacobs desire to agree on the terms and timing of such retirement; and

WHEREAS , Employee and Jacobs wish to document that this is a mutual and amicable transition of Employee to retirement; and

WHEREAS , Employee and Jacobs desire to define the details of Employee’s retirement transition from Jacobs.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the valuable promises and the agreements contained herein, it is agreed as follows:

1. Retirement Date. Employee shall begin a transition to retirement beginning April 1, 2019 (the “ Transition Date ”), on a modified full-time status basis, and
shall retire from Jacobs effective December 31, 2019 (the “ Retirement Date ”). After the Retirement Date, Employee shall perform no further duties,
functions or services for Jacobs.

2. Resignation of Officer and Director Positions, and Supersession of Prior Agreements and Specified Severance Benefits . Effective with the Transition Date, to
the extent such has not already occurred, Employee resigns his executive officer, officer, director and/or managing positions with Jacobs and its affiliated legal
entities. By signing this Agreement, Employee also acknowledges and agrees that his Employment
Agreement
between
Jacobs
Engineering
Group
Inc.
and
Gary
Mandel,
amended
and
restated
effective
December
30,
2017
(“ Employment Agreement ”), is hereby superseded and replaced in its entirety by this
Agreement, except for Paragraphs 7 and Subparagraphs 7.1 through 7.4 of the Employment Agreement (the “Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation
Agreements” paragraphs) which, except as permitted by Other Employment Provision , below, shall survive this Agreement and are incorporated herein by
reference. Further, by signing this Agreement, Employee acknowledges and agrees that he shall not be entitled to any benefits under the Jacobs
Engineering
Group
Inc.
Executive
Severance
Pay
Plan
(“
ESPP ”)
, that his participation under such ESPP is terminated by mutual consent, that this Agreement satisfies
any termination notification obligations that may otherwise exist under the ESPP, and that this Agreement supersedes and replaces entirely any benefits that
may otherwise be set out in the ESPP.

3. Executive Advisor . On October 1, 2018, Employee became a special advisor to Jacobs’ Chief Executive Officer (“ CEO ”), and as of the Transition Date
Employee shall continue in this role on a modified full-time basis, with the expectation that Employee will work 21 hours per week during this period.
Employee shall perform this advisory role until December 31, 2019, and his salary between April 1, 2019 and December 31, 2019 (the “ EA Period’ ) shall be
$83,333.33 per month. Such salary shall be paid, after applicable tax withholdings and deductions, in conformance with Jacobs’ normal payroll practices.
During the EA Period, Employee shall not be eligible to receive any additional incentive compensation, such as cash bonuses or new equity awards, except as
provided in Section 5 below to the extent any Fiscal Year 2018 incentive cash award is not paid until after the EA Period begins. The foregoing
notwithstanding, nothing in this Agreement shall prohibit Jacobs from granting any voluntary special bonus to Employee in its sole discretion. Employee will
accrue paid time off (“ PTO ”) during the EA Period and be eligible for holiday pay, which PTO accruals and holiday pay will be pro-rated based on
Employee’s modified full-time employee status and the number of hours worked.
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4. Termination Payment . Provided that Employee delivers to Jacobs a timely signed supplemental release agreement (“ Supplemental Release Agreement ”),
attached hereto as Exhibit B, covering the employment period between the Effective Date of this Agreement and the Retirement Date, Employee shall receive
a lump sum termination payment of $250,000.00 (Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents), less all applicable tax withholdings and deductions,
within 30 days of the effective date of the Supplemental Release Agreement. Employee acknowledges and understands that he cannot sign the Supplemental
Release Agreement until on or after the Retirement Date.

5. Management Incentive Plan and/or Long Term Incentive Plan. By signing below, Employee is not waiving any entitlement to receive a Fiscal Year 2018
Management Incentive Plan Award (estimated payout of $945,000.00), or his additional bonus opportunity award for Fiscal Year 2018 based on synergies
achieved through integration following the merger of Jacobs and CH2M (estimated payout of $2,000,000.00), or any vesting under the Fiscal Year 2018 Long
Term Incentive Plan which vesting (50% vesting of FY2018 LTIP grant in November 2018, and 50% vesting of FY2018 LTIP grant in November 2019) shall
continue through the Retirement Date as per plan. Except as set forth herein, Employee acknowledges and agrees that, to the extent Employee has been and or
currently is a participant in the Jacobs Management Incentive Plan (“ MIP ”) and/or the Jacobs Long Term Incentive Plan (“ LTIP ”), he will not be eligible to
participate in, nor will he receive any awards (whether in cash, stock or other instrument) under, the MIP and/or the LTIP for Fiscal Year 2019 and/or any
future year programs. Any unvested restricted stock units and/or performance stock units as of the Retirement Date, if any, shall be forfeited as per plan.

6. Effect of Termination for Cause or Without Cause . Should Employee’s employment with Jacobs be terminated Without Cause (as defined below) during the
EA Period, Employee shall receive any then unpaid benefits under Section 3, Section 4 and Section 5, payable within thirty (30) days of such Without Cause
termination date. For purposes of this Agreement, a “ Without Cause ” termination shall mean any involuntary termination of Employee’s Employment by
Jacobs that is for any reason other than for Cause (as defined below), but shall not include any voluntary termination of employment by Employee for reason
of retirement, resignation or job abandonment. “ Cause ” for purposes of this Agreement, shall mean and be limited to Jacobs’ termination of Employee’s
employment with Jacobs following the occurrence of any one or more of the following:

a.Employee is convicted of, or pleads guilty or nolo
contendere
to, a felony;

b.Employee willfully and continually fails to substantially perform his duties with Jacobs (other than any such failure resulting from his incapacity
due to physical or mental illness) after a written demand for substantial performance is delivered to him by the Chief Executive Officer
which specifically identifies the manner in which the Chief Executive Officer believes that Employee has not substantially performed his
duties;

c.Employee willfully engages in conduct that is materially injurious to Jacobs or its affiliates, monetarily or otherwise;

d.Employee commits an act of gross misconduct in connection with the performance of his duties to Jacobs;

e.Employee’s willful violation of any material Jacobs policy; or

f.Employee materially breaches any employment, confidentiality, restrictive covenant or other similar agreement between Jacobs and Employee.

7. Stock Incentives. By signing below, Employee is not forfeiting any continued vesting through the Retirement Date of any restricted stock, performance stock
and/or stock incentives he may have received prior to the Transition Date, nor is Employee forfeiting the ability to exercise any stock options through any
applicable exercise date provided in the applicable stock option award agreement. Employee acknowledges that from and
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after the Retirement Date, all outstanding restricted stock and stock incentives shall be handled as per applicable plan documents and stock award agreements. 
Except as otherwise noted and governed by applicable plan documents or stock award agreements, Employee acknowledges and understands that from and
after the Effective Date, Employee is not eligible to receive any stock options, performance stock units or restricted stock awards, and that any unvested
restricted stock, unvested performance stock and/or unvested stock incentives that Employee may have as of the Retirement Date will be forfeited as per plan.

8. Other Employment . If Employee accepts other employment without the prior written permission of Jacobs’ CEO prior to the Retirement Date, such action
shall be deemed a voluntary resignation by Employee effective as of the date of his other employment, and Employee shall not be eligible to receive any of the
benefits described in this Agreement that are then unpaid, including those specified in Section 3, Section 4 and/or Section 5 above, and all unvested benefits
under any Jacobs benefit plan shall be handled, including with respect to forfeiture, as per plan in accordance with such voluntary resignation. The foregoing
notwithstanding, Jacobs agrees that Employee may contract on a non-employee basis (e.g., as a Form 1099 contractor) with WorleyParsons at any time
following the close of the transaction involving Jacobs’ sale of its ECR line of business to WorleyParsons, provided that Employee submits the contract to
Jacobs’ CEO and SVP for Global Human Resources thirty days in advance of the date proposed for commencing such contractor relationship between
Employee and WorleyParsons and further provided that Jacobs thereafter agrees to permit Employee to enter into that contractor relationship, which
permission shall not be unreasonably withheld by Jacobs.

9. Employee Death Prior To Retirement Date . In the event of Employee’s death prior to the Retirement Date, the following benefits will be paid to his estate
within thirty days after Jacobs receives notice of such death:

a. all of Employee’s accrued PTO;

b. any unpaid compensation for the services described in the Executive Advisor Section above; and

c. the termination payment described in the Termination Payment Section, above. In the event Employee were to die prior to payment of any Fiscal
Year 2018 cash incentives identified in the Management Incentive Plan and/or Long Term Incentive Plan Section, above, his estate shall receive
such cash incentive (assuming such cash incentives have been awarded by Jacobs for Fiscal Year 2018 to participants under the applicable
plans), within thirty days of the date payouts are made under the applicable incentive plan to other participants.

10. Vested Benefits . Nothing herein shall deprive Employee of any vested benefits that Employee has in the Jacobs' Section 401(k) or other employee benefit
plan. Employee cannot withdraw or transfer funds in the 401(k) plan until after the Retirement Date, except as may be otherwise permitted under the terms of
that plan.

11. Executive Deferred Compensation . Employee acknowledges that that under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, as long as he does not experience a
Separation from Service under Section 409A through the Retirement Date, then no distributions will be triggered before the Retirement Date. Employee
understands that a participant in the Executive Deferral Plan (“ EDP ”) shall be considered to have experienced a termination of employment (and thus a
Separation of Service) when the facts and circumstances indicate that the participant and his employer reasonably anticipate that either (a.) no further services
will be performed for the employer after a certain date, or (b.) that the level of bona fide services the participant will perform for the employer after such date
will permanently decrease to no more than 20% of the average level of bona fide services performed by such participant over the immediately preceding 36-
month period. Employee and Jacobs agree that it is expected that Employee will work 21 hours per week from the Transition Date through the Retirement
Date. The foregoing notwithstanding, Employee acknowledges and understands that if the facts and circumstances indicate either (a.) or (b.), above,
distributions under the EDP will occur as per plan, irrespective of whether Employee continues in his employment status with Jacobs through the Retirement
Date. Employee also acknowledges that a Separation from Service under Section 409A will occur upon Employee’s Retirement Date, and distributions under
the EDP will occur as per plan.
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12. Acknowledgment of Full Payment. Employee acknowledges that the payments and arrangements described herein shall constitute full and complete
satisfaction of any and all amounts properly due and owing to Employee as a result of his employment with Jacobs through the Effective Date of this
Agreement, and that in the absence of this Agreement, Employee would not be entitled to, among other things, the payment(s) and benefits specified in this
Agreement.

13. Other Employee Benefits . Nothing herein shall deprive Employee of any vested benefits that Employee has in the Jacobs' Section 401(k) or other employee
benefit plan. Employees age 55 or older with at least five (5) years of service as of the Retirement Date may be eligible for participation in the Jacobs Aetna
Retiree Health Access Program, subject to plan rules and availability. Employee should consult with Jacobs Employee Solutions & Information (“ JESI ”)
regarding this program and eligibility.

14. Right to Elect Continued Coverage. Upon his Retirement Date, Employee may elect to continue health insurance coverage (medical, dental, vision, employee
assistance program, and healthcare flexible spending account) as permitted under COBRA. Information on the COBRA Program and the cost to continue
coverage will be mailed to Employee by Jacobs’ Corporate Human Resources Department following his Retirement Date. Employee will have 60 days after
receipt of this information to elect COBRA participation, retroactive to the termination of Employee’s employment status. Employee should retain Employee’s
medical cards if Employee plans to continue coverage. Employee should contact Jacobs’ Human Resources Department regarding conversion rights or porting
rights for life and accident insurance coverage following the Retirement Date.

15. Non-Disclosure of Trade Secrets, Confidential and Proprietary Information. The termination of Employee’s employment does not terminate Employee’s
obligations under the Employee Invention and Confidential Information Agreement (the “ EICI Agreement ”), the Jacobs Code of Conduct and/or this
Agreement. Specifically, Jacobs may enforce the confidentiality provisions of the EICI Agreement, the Jacobs Code of Conduct and/or this Agreement even
though Employee leaves its employ.

Employee’s position at Jacobs placed Employee in the possession of highly sensitive and extremely proprietary information of Jacobs, including, but not
limited to, in the very highly competitive consulting, engineering, design, construction and construction management business. Employee must hold in
confidence and may not disclose any proprietary, technical or business records, data or information developed by Employee or disclosed to Employee by
Jacobs or by its customers or prospective customers or any subsidiary, parent or affiliate of Jacobs, including but not limited to, information regarding Jacobs’
highly sensitive extremely proprietary information regarding its consulting, engineering, design, construction and construction management business and
prospects. Furthermore, Employee may utilize such information only as authorized by Jacobs. Thus, Employee may not use or disclose any of this information
during any new employment.

The confidential proprietary information and trade secrets include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. All business development and client information within the exclusive control of Jacobs, including but not limited to:

i. Current and prospective customer lists;

ii. Current and prospective business projects;

iii. Pricing, rates, schedules and method of bidding on individual projects;

iv. Technical details and status reports involving current and prospective projects;

v. Contracting strategies, philosophies and/or techniques;

vi. Salary rates and benefit levels for Jacobs’ employees;
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vii. Employment and recruitment policies of Jacobs; and

viii. Internal policies and procedures utilized by Jacobs in performing business projects and consulting work.

b. Strategic business plans and marketing initiatives of Jacobs which are not general public knowledge.

c. Any other confidential, proprietary, technical data developed by Employee or disclosed to Employee by Jacobs during Employee’s employment, whether
pertaining to specific projects with which Employee was involved or otherwise.

As to this information, Jacobs hereby reminds Employee that Employee must abide by Employee’s confidentiality responsibilities and refrain from using or
disclosing any of the above information to Employee’s new employer or to any third party without prior written consent from Jacobs. Furthermore, Jacobs also
reminds Employee that Employee must immediately return to it all written material currently in Employee’s possession relating to the above-listed proprietary
information.

If Employee in any way breaches his obligations not to disclose the trade secrets and confidential proprietary information of Jacobs, whether by using or
disclosing any of the above-listed information, Jacobs will immediately pursue all legal remedies available to it, including without limitation, an injunction
preventing Employee’s continued conduct and/or a civil action for damages.

16. Immunity Under the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016. The federal Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 provides immunity to Employee in certain
circumstances for limited disclosure of Jacobs’ trade secrets:

a. in confidence, either directly or indirectly to a federal, state or local government official, or to an attorney, “solely for the purpose of reporting or
investigating a suspected violation of law,” or

b. “in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.”

Additionally, if Employee files a retaliation lawsuit for reporting a suspected violation of law he may also use and disclose related trade secrets in the
following manner:

c. Employee may disclose the trade secret to his attorney, and

d. Employee may use the information in related court proceedings, as long as Employee files documents containing the trade secret under seal, and does
not otherwise disclose the trade secret “except pursuant to court order.”

17. Entire Agreement; Choice of Law. This Agreement and the Supplemental Release Agreement constitute the entire agreements between the parties pertaining
to the subject matter contained therein and, except as explicitly set forth in this Agreement and the Supplemental Release Agreement, supersede all prior and
contemporaneous agreements, representations, and understandings of the parties. No provision of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged
unless such modification, waiver or discharge is agreed to in writing signed by Employee and Jacobs’ CEO. The validity, interpretation, construction and
performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas (without giving effect to its conflicts of laws, rules or principles) and no
failure or delay in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate or a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude
any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege hereunder.

18. Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this
Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.
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19. Release of Claims . In further consideration of the foregoing, Employee (on behalf of himself and his agents, heirs, successors, assigns, executors and/or
administrators) hereby releases and discharges Jacobs and its affiliated companies, subsidiaries, and Employee Benefit Plans (as defined below) and their
respective present and former officers, directors, employees, shareholders, agents, representatives, consultants, insurers, plan administrators, trustees,
fiduciaries, attorneys, successors and assigns (each individually a “ Releasee ” and collectively “ Releasees ”) from any and all matters, claims, demands,
causes of action, debts, liabilities, controversies, judgments and suits of every kind and nature whatsoever, foreseen or unforeseen, known or unknown,
whether in law or in equity, which Employee has or may have against the Releasees. This release includes, without limitation, all claims and causes of action,
known or unknown by Employee, arising out of or in any way connected with Employee’s employment relationship with Jacobs through the Effective Date of
this Agreement. This includes but is not limited to claims for damages, wages or other relief arising under federal, state, or local laws prohibiting employment
discrimination and other unfair or unlawful treatment, including, without limitation, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42
U.S.C. Section 1981, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (“ ADEA ”), the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008 (“
ADAAA”) , the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ ERISA ”), the Lily Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of 2009, the Family Medical Leave Act of
2008 (“ FMLA ”), the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (“ GINA ”), the Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 206(d)(1)-(4),
the Rehabilitation Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. § 701, et seq., the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“ HIPAA ”), as amended, § 46
U.S.C. § 300gg, et seq., the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“ COBRA ”), 29 U.S.C. § 1161, et seq., Executive Order 11246, the Worker
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 (“ WARN Act ”), the Texas Commission on Human Rights Act, including Tex. Lab. Code § 21.051 and §
21.055, the Texas payday law, the Texas disability discrimination law, and the Texas whistleblower act. This release also includes, without limitation, any
claims based on any federal, state, or local statute, law or ordinance of any jurisdiction relating to employment, employment discrimination, termination of
employment, wages or benefits, contract (including, by way of example only, any of the Company’s policies, practices and/or plans), and any and all common
law claims, including wrongful and/or retaliatory termination and/or discharge of employment claims, contract or promissory estoppel claims, intentional
infliction of emotional distress claims, assault and battery claims, tort claims, including negligence claims, personal injury claims, third-party claims, slander,
libel, and/or defamation claims, qui tam claims and whistleblower claims, and/or any other claims based on any state statute or law, contract, covenant of good
faith and fair dealing, public policy or other theories, as well as any claim for attorney’s fees and/or costs or other expenses or fees. For purposes of this
Agreement, “ Employee Benefit Plan ” means any employee benefit plan, as defined in ERISA Section 3(3), sponsored, or contributed to, by Jacobs or any
Releasee. Employee expressly understands that among the various rights and claims being waived by him in this Agreement are those arising under the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act, (29 U.S.C. § 621, et seq .), as amended. Employee further warrants that he has not filed any claims against any of the
Releasees.

Nothing in this Agreement prohibits Employee from filing a charge or complaint with the National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”), the Occupational Safety
and Health Administration (“OSHA”) or the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), or a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) or any state fair employment practices agency, or from participating in any investigation of a charge of discrimination by
the EEOC or any state fair employment practices agency. With respect to any such filing, Employee understands and agrees that Employee is waiving the
right, and shall not seek, accept, or be entitled, to any monetary relief or recovery (other than any applicable statutory award or fee that cannot be waived as a
matter of law), whether for himself/herself individually, or as a member of a class or group, arising from, in connection with, or related to a charge or
complaint filed by Employee for himself/herself or as a representative on behalf of others. Employee agrees that no lawsuit (federal or state) shall be filed at
any time by Employee against any of the Releasees based upon any claim released above. In the event Employee breaches this promise by filing such a
lawsuit, Employee may be responsible for paying the attorney’s fees and costs incurred by any and/or all of the Releasees in defending against the lawsuit, if
the lawsuit is brought in bad faith, or is frivolous and groundless, or if recovery of fees is otherwise authorized by local, state or federal law. The foregoing
does not nullify the waiver and release by Employee nor limit any of the Releasees’ rights and remedies.
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20. Defense and Indemnity Exception. Notwithstanding the releases and waivers set forth in this Agreement, and if and only as applicable, Employee shall be
provided with all rights of indemnification and defense provided to any officer or other executive of Jacobs under any of Jacobs’ bylaws, articles of
incorporation, resolutions and/or insurance policies, and such rights are not waived by Employee by signing this Agreement.

21. Consideration Period. In order for this Agreement to become effective, Employee must timely return this Agreement, signed and dated, within the time set
forth in this Consideration Period paragraph. Employee acknowledges that under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, Employee has twenty-one (21)
days within which to consider this Agreement before executing it. If, however, Employee executes this Agreement before the expiration of the 21-day
consideration period, Employee acknowledges that he has knowingly and voluntarily waived the consideration period and further acknowledges that he has
taken sufficient time to consider this Agreement before executing it.

22. Revocation Period. This Agreement shall not become binding on Employee until seven (7) calendar days after Employee signs. During this 7-day period,
Employee may revoke this Agreement. Such revocation must be in writing, directed to Joanne Caruso, Chief Legal and Administrative Officer, Jacobs
Engineering Group Inc., 1999 Bryan Street, Suite 1200, Dallas, Texas 75201, and received by Jacobs within said 7-day period. Upon expiration of the 7-day
period, Employee acknowledges that this Agreement becomes binding on Employee, which shall be deemed the effective date (“ Effective Date ”).

23. Individual Agreement. This Agreement has been individually negotiated and is not part of a group exit incentive or other termination program.

24. Entire Understanding; No Changes; Legal Review; Sophisticated Parties. Employee and Jacobs acknowledge that this Agreement and the Supplemental
Release Agreement sets forth the entire understanding between them. Neither party has relied upon any representation or statement with respect to the subject
matter hereof, written or oral, not set forth in this Agreement and the Supplemental Release Agreement. This Agreement may not be changed orally, but only
by a specific written agreement signed by the party against whom enforcement of any waiver, change, modification, extension, or discharge is sought.

This Agreement is deemed to have been drafted jointly by the parties and any uncertainty or ambiguity shall not be construed for or against any party based
upon attribution of drafting to any party.

Employee, by signing below, acknowledges that Jacobs has encouraged him to review the legal effect and implications of this Agreement with an attorney and
carefully and thoroughly review this Agreement prior to signing. As a senior executive and a sophisticated financially savvy party, Employee acknowledges
that he reviewed this Agreement and understands its terms and conditions.

25. Non-Disparagement. Employee agrees that he will not in any way disparage Jacobs, including current or former officers, directors, agents and/or employees of
Jacobs, nor will Employee make or solicit any comments, statements or the like to the media or to others, that may be considered to be derogatory or
detrimental to the good name or business reputation of Jacobs. Employee’s non-disparagement obligations under this Agreement are not intended to interfere
with or restrict Employee’s ability to communicate with any administrative, regulatory, governmental or law enforcement agency, or from testifying under the
power of a subpoena issued from a court of competent jurisdiction.

26. No Solicitation of Jacobs Employees. Employee agrees and warrants that he will not, through the Retirement Date and for a period of one (1) year following
the Retirement Date, either directly or indirectly, for himself or on behalf of any third party, solicit, induce, recruit, or cause another person in the employ of
Jacobs to terminate his or her employment for the purpose of joining, associating or becoming employed with any business or activity which is in competition
with any business or activity engaged in by Jacobs.
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27. No Solicitation of Jacobs Clients. Employee agrees and warrants that he will not, through the Retirement Date and for a period of one (1) year following the
Retirement Date, either directly or indirectly, for himself or on behalf of any third party, solicit, induce, recruit, encourage or otherwise endeavor to cause or
attempt to cause any client, vendor or contractor of Jacobs to modify, alter and/or terminate its relationship with Jacobs.

28. Return of Company Property. Employee acknowledges that upon the Retirement Date, he shall return all Jacobs property, proprietary/confidential information,
papers, manuals/notebooks, electronically stored data, software, media, documentation, diskettes, computer equipment and related devices, keys, credit cards,
government contractor card and phone cards, and any Jacobs equipment or items to Jacobs. Further, Employee attests by signing below that Employee has not
downloaded, transferred or removed any Jacobs trade secrets and/or confidential and proprietary information (including as set out in the Non-Disclosure of
Trade Secrets, Confidential and Proprietary Information paragraph, above) to any devices or accounts, including without limitation other computers,
notebooks, smart or mobile phones, thumb drives, external e-mail addresses, DVDs, CDs and/or external hard drives.

29. Sensitive Information. Employee recognizes that in Employee’s role(s) with the Jacobs, Employee has occupied a position of trust with respect to business
information of a highly sensitive and confidential nature, including but not limited to, names and duties of key personnel, business and growth/expansion
plans, marketing and business development initiatives and prospects, financial results and forecasts, bidding information, cost and charging rates and their
make up and structure, customer lists, and profit and operating margins (“Sensitive Information”). (Sensitive Information does not include information that is
generally available in the public domain, other than as a result of any action by Employee; provided, however, Sensitive Information shall not be deemed to be
in the public domain merely because individual features of it are in the public domain unless the combination itself and the principle of operation are also in
the public domain.)

Employee agrees that, in addition to abiding by the Non-Disclosure of Trade Secrets, Confidential and Proprietary Information paragraph, above, and the Non-
Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreements paragraphs of his Employment Agreement, he will not either directly or indirectly:

a. Disclose any Sensitive Information to any person, firm or corporation; or

b. For a period of two (2) years immediately following the Retirement Date, make known to any person, firm or corporation the names or addresses of any of
the customers of Jacobs or Jacobs’ affiliated companies or any other information pertaining to them that such recipient would be able to use in
competition with Jacobs or Jacobs’ affiliated companies; or

c. Work for a competitor on any proposal, bids, statements of qualifications, or other business development tasks (collectively, “proposals”) that are open
and not yet awarded as of the Transition Date and/or Retirement Date that Jacobs is exploring, pursing and/or bidding upon (collectively, “open pursuits”)
and about which Employee learned of Jacobs’, its clients’ and/or its business affiliates’ Sensitive Information. Employee agrees that he shall remove
himself/herself from working, directly or indirectly, on any such open pursuits for a competitor since it would not be possible for Employee to assist a
competitor in submitting any proposals or refining offers on the same open pursuits without using and inevitably disclosing Jacobs’, its clients’ and/or its
business affiliates’ Sensitive Information. Subject to any other provisions in this Agreement, nothing in this paragraph prohibits Employee from working
on any proposals for a competitor company where the proposals are initiated or requested by the soliciting party after the Retirement Date.

30. Voluntary Agreement. EMPLOYEE UNDERSTANDS THAT THIS AGREEMENT INVOLVES THE KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY RELEASE OF
KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS BY EMPLOYEE AGAINST JACOBS. EMPLOYEE UNDERSTANDS THAT HE HAS THE RIGHT TO, AND HAS
BEEN GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY TO, CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF HIS CHOICE. EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS BEEN
(AND HEREBY IS) ADVISED BY JACOBS THAT HE SHOULD CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY PRIOR TO EXECUTING THIS AGREEMENT.
EMPLOYEE
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FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS NOT BEEN DISCOURAGED OR DISSUADED FROM CONSULTING WITH AN ATTORNEY BY
JACOBS.

(This section of the page intentionally left blank.)
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31. Arbitration. The parties agree that the arbitration of disputes provides mutual advantages in terms of facilitating the fair and expeditious resolution of disputes.
In consideration of these mutual advantages, the parties agree to the Arbitration Procedures set forth in Exhibit “A” attached hereto.

Executed at Houston, Texas, this 20th day of November, 2018.
(City, State)

     /s/ Gary Mandel___________
Gary Mandel

Executed at Dallas, Texas, this 20th day of November, 2018.
(City, State)

JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. 
By: /s/ Shelie Gustafson____
Name: Shelie Gustafson
Title: Senior Vice President, Human Resources
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Arbitration Procedures

(a) Scope of Arbitration

The parties will submit to arbitration, in accordance with these provisions, any and all disputes either party may have arising from or related to
this Agreement, including, but not limited to, its formation, breach, performance, or the interpretation, application, or enforceability of this Agreement.
The parties further agree that the arbitration process agreed upon herein shall be the exclusive means for resolving all disputes made subject to arbitration
herein but that no arbitrator shall have authority to determine whether disputes fall within the scope of these arbitration provisions.

(b) Availability of Provisional Relief

These arbitration provisions shall not prevent Jacobs or Employee, as the case may be, from obtaining injunctive relief from a court of competent
jurisdiction to enforce the confidentiality, non-disparagement, non-solicitation and non-compete obligations of the parties under this Agreement.

(c) JAMS Employment Arbitration Rules And Procedures Apply

Any arbitration hereunder shall be conducted under the JAMS Employment Arbitration Rules and Procedures (“JAMS Rules”). A copy of the
JAMS Rules  may be  found at  http://www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration/  or  by  searching the  internet  for  “JAMS Employment  Arbitration
Rules.” This agreement to arbitrate shall be subject to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. SECTION 1 ET. SEQ. The arbitration shall proceed before a
single arbitrator and the proceedings shall be confidential to the extent allowed by law.

(d) Invoking Arbitration

Either party may invoke the arbitration procedures described herein by submitting to the other, in person, by mail, or reputable delivery service
(e.g., UPS or FedEx) a written demand for arbitration containing a statement of the matter to be arbitrated in sufficient detail to establish the timeliness of
the demand. The parties shall then have fourteen days within which they may identify a mutually agreeable arbitrator. After the fourteen-day period has
expired,  the  parties  shall  prepare  and  submit  to  JAMS a  joint  submission.  In  their  submission  to  JAMS,  if  they  have  not  already  selected  a  mutually
agreeable arbitrator, the parties shall request that an arbitrator be assigned pursuant to the JAMS Rules.

(e) Award Final

The  decision  of  the  Arbitrator  shall  be  final,  conclusive,  and  binding  on  the  parties  to  the  arbitration,  subject  to  judicial  review  and  confirmation  as
provided by law. Subject to any remedies the arbitrator may award, the parties to the arbitration shall be responsible for the arbitration and arbitrator’s
fees  in  accordance  with  applicable  law.  The Arbitrator  shall  be  empowered to  award  any remedies  (including,  without  limitation,  injunctive  and other
equitable relief) that a court of law could award for the claims at issue in the matter, but such remedies shall be limited to those that are available to a
party in a court of law for said claims. The Arbitration Agreement contained herein supersedes any other arbitration agreement between the parties.

(f) Stenographic Record

There shall be a stenographic record of the arbitration hearing, unless the parties agree to record the proceedings by other reliable means.
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(g) Location

Unless otherwise agreed by the parties, arbitration hearings shall take place in the state in which the employee worked, at a mutually agreeable
place or, if no agreement can be reached, at a place designated by JAMS.

(h) Law Governing the Arbitrator’s Award

In  rendering  an  award,  the  arbitrator  shall  determine  the  rights  and  obligations  of  the  parties  according  to  the  substantive  law of  the  State  of
Texas (excluding conflicts  of  laws principles),  and the arbitrator’s  decision shall  be governed by state  and federal  substantive  law,  including state  and
federal discrimination laws, as though the matter were before a court of law.

(i) Written Awards and Enforcement

Any  arbitration  award  shall  be  accompanied  by  a  written  statement  containing  a  summary  of  the  issues  in  controversy,  a  description  of  the
award, and an explanation of the reasons for the award. The parties agree that a competent court shall enter judgment upon the award of the arbitrator,
provided it is in conformity with the terms of this Agreement.

(j) Severability

If any part of this arbitration procedure is in conflict with any mandatory requirement of applicable law, the statute shall govern, and that part
shall  be reformed and construed to the maximum extent  possible in conformance with the applicable  law. The remaining provisions of  this  arbitration
procedure shall remain otherwise unaffected and enforceable.
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Exhibit “B”

Supplemental Release Agreement

This Supplemental Release Agreement is between Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and its affiliated and subsidiary companies (“ Jacobs ”) and Gary
Mandel (“ Employee ”).

WHEREAS , Employee and Jacobs entered into a Retirement Transition Agreement dated 20 November 2018 (“ Retirement Agreement ”); and

WHEREAS , Employee and Jacobs agree and understand that, except as otherwise defined in this Supplemental Release Agreement, capitalized terms in
the Retirement Transition Agreement shall have the same meaning in this Supplemental Release Agreement; and

WHEREAS , Employee and Jacobs agreed to enter into this Supplemental Release Agreement as a condition precedent to the Retirement Agreement and
the provision of payments and benefits conferred upon Employee therein; and

WHEREAS , Employee and Jacobs desire to define the terms of this Supplemental Release Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the valuable promises and the agreements contained in this Supplemental Release Agreement, and in the
Retirement Agreement, it is agreed as follows:

1. Incorporation of Certain Provision of the Retirement Agreement; No Double Payments . Employee and Jacobs acknowledge and agree that the following
paragraphs of and exhibits to the Retirement Agreement are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth in this Supplemental Release Agreement:
Resignation of Officer and Director Positions, and Supersession of Prior Agreements and Specified Severance Benefits , Management Incentive Plan and/or
Long Term Incentive Plan , Stock Incentives , Other Employee Benefits , Non-Disclosure of Trade Secrets, Confidential and Proprietary Information ,
Immunity Under the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 , Defense and Indemnity Exception , Non-Disparagement , No Solicitation of Jacobs Employees , No
Solicitation of Jacobs Clients , Return of Company Property , Sensitive Information , and Arbitration and the Exhibit A, Arbitration Procedures. For the
avoidance of any doubt, Employee acknowledges and agrees that this Incorporation of Certain Provision of the Retirement Agreement; No Double Payments
paragraph does not create any obligation by Jacobs to make, or create any right to Employee to receive, double payment(s) and/or provision(s) of amounts and
benefits already paid and/or provided to Employee under the Retirement Agreement.

2. Termination of Employment. Employee retired from Jacobs effective December 31, 2019 (the “ Retirement Date ”).

3. Payment of Amounts Owed. Employee acknowledges that Jacobs will pay all remuneration owed to him as a result of his employment with Jacobs through the
Retirement Date. Any outstanding expense reports for expenses incurred by Employee in the course of his employment with Jacobs through the Retirement
Date will be paid to Employee in accordance with normal approval and payment procedures. Accrued but unused paid time off (“PTO”) will be paid out in
accordance with standard practice.

4. Termination Payment . Provided that Employee timely signs this Supplemental Release Agreement, Employee shall receive a lump sum termination payment
of $250,000.00 (Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents), less all applicable tax withholdings and deductions, within 30 days of the Effective
Date (as defined below) of this Supplemental Release Agreement. Employee acknowledges that this payment fully satisfies the Termination Payment
provision of the Retirement Agreement.

5. Acknowledgment of Full Payment. Employee acknowledges that the payments and arrangements described in the Retirement Agreement and in this
Supplemental Release Agreement shall constitute full and complete

Supplemental Release Agreement



satisfaction of any and all amounts properly due and owing to Employee as a result of his employment with Jacobs and/or the termination of that employment
upon the Retirement Date, and that in the absence of the Retirement Agreement and this Supplemental Release Agreement, Employee would not be entitled to,
among other things, the payment(s) and benefits specified in those agreements. Employee also affirms that he has reported all hours worked as of the date he
signs this Supplemental Release Agreement and, except for any amounts outstanding as of the Effective Date of this Supplemental Release Agreement
associated with the Payments of Amounts Owed paragraph, above, has been paid and/or has received all compensation, wages (inclusive of overtime),
bonuses, commissions, incentive pay and/or benefits which are due and payable as of the date he signs this Supplemental Release Agreement, and that in
signing this Supplemental Release Agreement no other services, monies, salary, wages, bonuses, benefits, incentive pay, severance pay or other compensation
are due or owing to him from Jacobs, except under the Termination Payment provision above.

6. Entire Agreement; Choice of Law. This Supplemental Release Agreement and the Retirement Agreement constitute the entire agreements between the parties
pertaining to the subject matter contained therein and, except as explicitly set forth in the Supplemental Release Agreement and the Retirement Agreement,
supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements, representations, and understandings of the parties. No provision of this Supplemental Release
Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless such modification, waiver or discharge is agreed to in writing signed by Employee and Jacobs’
Chief Executive Officer (“ CEO ”). The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Supplemental Release Agreement shall be governed by
the laws of the State of Texas (without giving effect to its conflicts of laws, rules or principles) and no failure or delay in exercising any right, power or
privilege hereunder shall operate or a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the
exercise of any other right, power or privilege hereunder.

7. Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Supplemental Release Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any
other provision of this Supplemental Release Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect.

8. Release of Claims . In further consideration of the foregoing and the payments and benefits under the Retirement Agreement, Employee (on behalf of himself
and his agents, heirs, successors, assigns, executors and/or administrators) hereby releases and discharges Jacobs and its affiliated companies, subsidiaries, and
Employee Benefit Plans (as defined below) and their respective present and former officers, directors, employees, shareholders, agents, representatives,
consultants, insurers, plan administrators, trustees, fiduciaries, attorneys, successors and assigns (each individually a “ Releasee ” and collectively “ Releasees
”) from any and all matters, claims, demands, causes of action, debts, liabilities, controversies, judgments and suits of every kind and nature whatsoever,
foreseen or unforeseen, known or unknown, whether in law or in equity, which Employee has or may have against the Releasees. This release includes,
without limitation, all claims and causes of action, known or unknown by Employee, arising out of or in any way connected with Employee’s employment
relationship with Jacobs through the Effective Date of this Supplemental Release Agreement. This includes but is not limited to claims for damages, wages or
other relief arising under federal, state, or local laws prohibiting employment discrimination and other unfair or unlawful treatment, including, without
limitation, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. Section 1981, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967
(“ ADEA ”), the Americans with Disabilities Act Amendments Act of 2008 (“ ADAAA”) , the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ ERISA
”), the Lily Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of 2009, the Family Medical Leave Act of 2008 (“ FMLA ”), the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act of 2008 (“
GINA ”), the Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 206(d)(1)-(4), the Rehabilitation Act of 1974, 29 U.S.C. § 701, et seq., the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“ HIPAA ”), as amended, § 46 U.S.C. § 300gg, et seq., the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“
COBRA ”), 29 U.S.C. § 1161, et seq., Executive Order 11246, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988 (“ WARN Act ”), the Texas
Commission on Human Rights Act, including Tex. Lab. Code § 21.051 and § 21.055, the Texas payday law, the Texas disability discrimination law, and the
Texas whistleblower act. This release also includes, without limitation, any claims based on any federal, state, or local statute, law or ordinance of any
jurisdiction relating to employment, employment discrimination, termination of employment, wages or benefits, contract (including, by way of example only,
any of the
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Company’s policies, practices and/or plans), and any and all common law claims, including wrongful and/or retaliatory termination and/or discharge of
employment claims, contract or promissory estoppel claims, intentional infliction of emotional distress claims, assault and battery claims, tort claims,
including negligence claims, personal injury claims, third-party claims, slander, libel, and/or defamation claims, qui tam claims and whistleblower claims,
and/or any other claims based on any state statute or law, contract, covenant of good faith and fair dealing, public policy or other theories, as well as any claim
for attorney’s fees and/or costs or other expenses or fees. For purposes of this Supplemental Release Agreement, “ Employee Benefit Plan ” means any
employee benefit plan, as defined in ERISA Section 3(3), sponsored, or contributed to, by Jacobs or any Releasee. Employee expressly understands that
among the various rights and claims being waived by him in this Supplemental Release Agreement are those arising under the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, (29 U.S.C. § 621, et seq .), as amended. Employee further warrants that he has not filed any claims against any of the Releasees.

Nothing in this Supplemental Release Agreement prohibits Employee from filing a charge or complaint with the National Labor Relations Board (“NLRB”),
the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) or the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), or a charge of discrimination with the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) or any state fair employment practices agency, or from participating in any investigation of a charge
of discrimination by the EEOC or any state fair employment practices agency. With respect to any such filing, Employee understands and agrees that
Employee is waiving the right, and shall not seek, accept, or be entitled, to any monetary relief or recovery (other than any applicable statutory award or fee
that cannot be waived as a matter of law), whether for himself/herself individually, or as a member of a class or group, arising from, in connection with, or
related to a charge or complaint filed by Employee for himself/herself or as a representative on behalf of others. Employee agrees that no lawsuit (federal or
state) shall be filed at any time by Employee against any of the Releasees based upon any claim released above. In the event Employee breaches this promise
by filing such a lawsuit, Employee may be responsible for paying the attorney’s fees and costs incurred by any and/or all of the Releasees in defending against
the lawsuit, if the lawsuit is brought in bad faith, or is frivolous and groundless, or if recovery of fees is otherwise authorized by local, state or federal law. The
foregoing does not nullify the waiver and release by Employee nor limit any of the Releasees’ rights and remedies.

9. Consideration Period. In order for this Supplemental Release Agreement to become effective, Employee must timely return this Supplemental Release
Agreement, signed and dated, within the time set forth in this Consideration Period paragraph. Employee acknowledges that under the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, Employee has twenty-one (21) days from the Retirement Date within which to consider this this Supplemental Release Agreement before
executing it, and further acknowledges that Employee has in fact had greater than twenty-one (21) days from the effective date of the Retirement Agreement to
consider this Supplemental Release Agreement. Employee acknowledges that if he executes this Supplemental Release Agreement before the expiration of the
21-day consideration period, Employee does so knowingly, voluntarily and having waived the consideration period, and further acknowledges that he has
taken sufficient time to consider this Supplemental Release Agreement before executing it.

10. Revocation Period. This Supplemental Release Agreement shall not become binding on Employee until seven (7) calendar days after Employee signs it upon
or after the Retirement Date. During this 7-day period, Employee may revoke this Supplemental Release Agreement. Such revocation must be in writing,
directed to Joanne Caruso, Chief Legal and Administrative Officer, Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., 1999 Bryan Street, Suite 1200, Dallas, Texas 75201, and
received by Jacobs within said 7-day period. Upon expiration of the 7-day period, Employee acknowledges that this Supplemental Release Agreement
becomes binding on Employee, which shall be deemed the Effective Date.

11. Entire Understanding; No Changes; Legal Review; Sophisticated Parties. Employee and Jacobs acknowledge that this Supplemental Release Agreement and
the Retirement Agreement sets forth the entire understanding between them. Neither party has relied upon any representation or statement with respect to the
subject matter hereof, written or oral, not set forth in this Supplemental Release Agreement and the Retirement Agreement. This Supplemental Release
Agreement may not be changed orally, but only by a specific written agreement
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signed by the party against whom enforcement of any waiver, change, modification, extension, or discharge is sought.

This Supplemental Release Agreement is deemed to have been drafted jointly by the parties and any uncertainty or ambiguity shall not be construed for or
against any party based upon attribution of drafting to any party.

Employee, by signing below, acknowledges that Jacobs has encouraged him to review the legal effect and implications of this Supplemental Release
Agreement with an attorney and carefully and thoroughly review this Supplemental Release Agreement prior to signing. As a senior executive and a
sophisticated financially savvy party, Employee acknowledges that he reviewed this Supplemental Release Agreement and understands its terms and
conditions.

12. Voluntary Agreement. EMPLOYEE UNDERSTANDS THAT THIS SUPPLEMENTAL RELEASE AGREEMENT INVOLVES THE KNOWING AND
VOLUNTARY RELEASE OF KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS BY EMPLOYEE AGAINST JACOBS. EMPLOYEE UNDERSTANDS THAT HE
HAS THE RIGHT TO, AND HAS BEEN GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY TO, CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF HIS CHOICE. EMPLOYEE
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS BEEN (AND HEREBY IS) ADVISED BY JACOBS THAT HE SHOULD CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY PRIOR
TO EXECUTING THIS SUPPLEMENTAL RELEASE AGREEMENT. EMPLOYEE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS NOT BEEN
DISCOURAGED OR DISSUADED FROM CONSULTING WITH AN ATTORNEY BY JACOBS.

Executed at ____________________, this _________ day of _________, 201_.
(City, State)

    ______________________________________
Gary Mandel

Executed at ____________________, this _________ day of _________, 201_.
(City, State)

JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. 
By: ______________________________________

                                                     
Name:    

Title: ____________________________________
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Exhibit 21

JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC.
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

The following table sets forth all subsidiaries of the Company but may not include those subsidiaries that, when considered in the aggregate, would not
constitute a significant subsidiary.

Jacobs Government Services Company, a corporation of California 100.00%  
Jacobs Field Services North America Inc., a corporation of Texas 100.00%  
      Jacobs Maintenance, Inc., a corporation of Louisiana 100.00%  
Jacobs Consultancy Inc., a corporation of Texas 100.00%  
         Jacobs PSG Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
         Jacobs Minerals, Inc., a   corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
            DSI Constructors Inc., a   corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
         Jacobs Professional Services Inc., a   corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
         Jacobs Field Services Americas Inc., a   corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
Jacobs Eagleton LLC, a limited liability company of Texas 100.00%  
Jacobs Engineering Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
   Jacobs Group Australia Investments Pty Ltd 100.00%  
   Jacobs Australia Holdings Company Pty Ltd, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
      Sinclair Knight Merz Management Pty Ltd, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
         Jacobs Group Australia Holdings Ltd, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
            Jacobs Group (Australia) Pty Ltd, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
Aquenta Consulting Pty Ltd, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
               Redecon Australia Pty Ltd, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
               Jacobs E&C Australia PTY Ltd, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
                  Jacobs Project Management Australia PTY Ltd, an corporation of Australia, 100.00%  
            Jacobs Architecture (Australia) Pty Ltd, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
            Jacobs Group Investments Australia Pty Ltd, a corporation of Australia 95.00%  
            Jacobs (Thailand) Co., Ltd., a corporation Thailand 49.00%  
               Seatec International Co Ltd, a corporation of Thailand 100.00%  
            Jacobs Projects (Philippines) Inc., a corporation of the Philippines 100.00%  
            Sinclair Knight Merz Consulting (India) Private Ltd, a corporation of India 100.00%  
            Sinclair Knight Merz (Ireland) Ltd, a corporation of the Republic of Ireland 100.00%  
            Sinclair Knight Merz (NZ) Holdings Ltd, a corporation of New Zealand 100.00%  
               Jacobs New Zealand Limited, a corporation of New Zealand 100.00%  
                  Sinclair Knight Merz (Fiji) Ltd, a corporation of Fiji 99.90%  
                  PT Jacobs Group Indonesia, a corporation of Indonesia 99.50%  
            Sinclair Knight Merz International Holdings LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz (Europe) Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
               Jacobs Chile S.A., a corporation of Chile 100.00% (1)*  
               Enviros Group Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                  Enviros Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  

                     Enviros Management Services Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                     Aspinwall & Co Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
               Colin Buchanan & Partners Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  

                  Colin Buchanan & Partners Hong Kong Ltd, a Special Administrative Region company of Hong Kong 100.00%  

    



 

                     Colin Buchanan & Partners China Co Ltd, a company of the People’s Republic of China 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz Pakistan (PVT) Limited, a corporation of Pakistan 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz Guinea SARL, a corporation of the Republic of Guinea 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz (Liberia) LLC, a limited liability company of the Republic of Liberia 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz (Kenya) Ltd, a corporation of Kenya 100.00% (2)*  
               Sinclair Knight Merz LLC (Oman), a limited liability company of the Sultanate of Oman 65.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz (Rus), a corporation of Russia 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz Poland Sp z o.o, a corporation of Poland 100.00%  
               Jacobs Colombia S.A.S., a corporation of Colombia 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz Servicos Limitada, a corporation of Brazil 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd, a corporation of South Africa 100.00%  
               Jacobs Engineering Group Malaysia Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia 100.00%  
                  Jacobs Consulting Services Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia 100.00%  
                  Perunding Mahir Bersatu Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia… 100%  
                  Jacobs Engineering Services Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia 100.00%  
            Sinclair Knight Merz (Hong Kong) Limited, a corporation of Hong Kong 100.00%  
               Sinclair Knight Merz International (Hong Kong) Ltd, a corporation of Hong Kong 100.00%  
                  Sinclair Knight Merz (China) Co Ltd, a corporation of the People’s Republic of China 100.00%  
   CODE International Assurance Ltd., a corporation of Nevada 100.00%  
   Jacobs Engineering SA, (short name is JESA) a corporation of Morocco 50.00%  
      Transportation Engineering and Management Consultants Maroc, a corporation of Morocco (Short name: Team Maroc) 100.00%  
      Jacobs Engineering SA International (short name JESA International), a corporation of Morocco 100.00%  
   Jacobs Engineering España, S.L., a corporation of Spain 100.00%  
      Jacobs Luxembourg Finance company Sarl, a Corporation of Luxembourg 100.00%  
      Jacobs Engineering, SA de db, a corporation of Belgium 100.00%  
      Jacobs Spain S.L., a corporation of Spain 100.00%  
      Jacobs Europe Holdco Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
         Jacobs UK Holdings Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
            Jacobs Switzerland GmbH, a corporation of Switzerland 100.00%  
            Jacobs U.K. Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
               Jacobs Process Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                  Jacobs E&C Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                  Jacobs E&C International Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                     Jacobs Matasis (Pty) Ltd., a corporation of South Africa 74.00%  
            Jacobs Field Services Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
               L.E.S Construction Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
            Jacobs Engineering India Private Limited, a corporation of India 100.00% (3)*  
                     HGC Constructors Private Ltd., a corporation of India 80.00%  
               Sula Systems Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
               Thistle Water Ltd., a corporation of England and Wales 30.00%  
               Jacobs Industrial Services UK Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
               Jacobs Stobbarts Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                  Cumbria Nuclear Solutions Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 16.66%  
               Gibb Overseas (Jersey), a corporation of Jersey 100.00%  
                  Gibb Overseas Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
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               Jacobs Consultancy Ltd., a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
               Jacobs Engineering U.K. Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                  Lindsey Engineering Services Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
               Gibb Holdings Ltd., a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                  Jacobs One Limited, a corporation of Scotland 100.00%  
                     Jacobs European Holdings Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                        Inspire Defence Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                        Partners for Infrastructure Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                           Allott & Lomax (Hong Kong) Limited, a corporation of Hong Kong 100.00%  
                     Jacobs SKM Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                     LeighFisher UK Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                     Babtie International Limited, a corporation of Scotland 100.00%  
                     Babtie Shaw & Morton Ltd, a corporation of Scotland 100.00%  
                     Boxinye Ltd, a corporation of the Republic of Ireland 100.00%  
                     Ringway Babtie Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 25.00%  
                        Le Crossing Company Limited, a corporation of England Wales 57.14%  
                     Jacobs China Limited, a Hong Kong corporation 100.00%  
                     BEAR Scotland Limited, a corporation of Scotland 25.00%  
                        Growing Concern Scotland Limited 100.00%  
                     Ringway Jacobs Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 50.00%  
                     Babtie Asia Technical & Management Consultants SdnBhn, a corporation of Malaysia 100.00%  
                  JacobsGIBB Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
                  Westminster & Earley Services Ltd, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
         Jacobs Engineering Ireland Limited, a corporation of the Republic of Ireland 100.00%  
            Jacobs Lend Lease Ireland Ltd, a corporation of the Republic of Ireland 50.00%  
         Jacobs Engineering Deutschland GmbH, a German corporation 100.00%  
            Jacobs Projects GmbH, a German corporation 100.00%  
         Jacobs Belgïe N.V., a corporation of Belgium 100.00%  
         Jacobs Nederland B.V. a corporation of the Netherlands 100.00%  
            Jacobs Advanced Manufacturing B.V., a corporation of the Netherlands 100.00%  
            Jacobs Russia LLC, a limited liability company of Russia 100.00%  
            Jacobs Nuclear Engineering Services Private Ltd., a corporation of India 100.00%  
            Jacobs Norway AS, a corporation of Norway 100.00%  
                  Sinclair Knight Merz IRH SpA, a corporation of Chile 100.00%  
               Jacobs Peru S.A., a corporation of Peru 100.00%  
               Chemetics Inc., a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
         Jacobs Sverige A.B., a corporation of Sweden 100.00%  
         Jacobs Italia, SpA, a corporation of Italy 100.00%  
      Neste Jacobs OY, a corporation of Finland 40.00%  
         Neste Jacobs ab, a corporation of Sweden 100.00%  
            Kiinteisto E OY, a corporation of Finland 0.77%  
            US Active OY, a corporation of Finland 100.00%  
      Jacobs International Limited, a corporation of the Republic of Ireland 100.00%  
      Jacobs Luxembourg, S.a.r.l., a corporation of Luxembourg 100.00%  
         Jacobs Holding France SAS, a corporation of France   
            Jacobs Nucléaire SAS, a corporation of France 100.00%  

    



 

   Jacobs Morocco SARLAU, a corporation of Morocco 100.00%  
   JEM Field Professional Services SA DE CV, a corporation of Mexico 100.00%  
   Jacobs Brazil Limited Inc. a corporation of Texas 100.00%  
   Jacobs Brasil Holdings S.A. (0.01% Jacobs Brazil Limited) a corporation of Brazil 99.99%  
      Jacobs Participacoes Ltda (0.01% Jacobs Brazil Limited) a corporation of Brazil 99.99%  
      Guimar Engenharia Ltda. a limited liability company of Brazil 45.00%  
   JEG Acquisition Company Limited, a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
      AWEML, a corporation of England and Wales 33.33%  
   Jacobs, Zamel and Turbag Consulting Engineers Company, a professional services partnership of Saudi Arabia 75.00%  
   Jacobs International Holdings Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
   Jacobs Hellas A.E. a corporation of Greece 100.00%  
   Jacobs Puerto Rico Inc., a corporation of Puerto Rico 100.00%  
   Jacobs Pan-American Corporation, a corporation of Panama 100.00%  
   Jacobs Holdings Singapore Pte. Limited., a corporation of Singapore 100.00%  
      SKM (Singapore) Pte Ltd. a corporation of Singapore 100.00%  
      Jacobs Engineering Singapore Pte. Limited, a corporation of Singapore 100.00%  
         Consulting Engineering Services (India) Private Limited, a corporation of India 99.22%  
            Consulting Engineering Services LLC, a limited liability company a Sultanate of Oman 65.00%  
         Jacobs Projects (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a corporation of the Peoples Republic of China 100.00%  
            Jacobs Engineering (Suzhou) Co., Ltd, a corporation of the Peoples Republic of China 100.00%  
         Jacobs Construction Engineering Design Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a corporation of the Peoples Republic of China 100.00%  
         Jacobs Engineering LLC, a limited liability company of Singapore 100.00%  
   Jacobs Canada Inc., a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
      Jacobs Architecture Canada Inc., a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
      Jacobs Consultancy Canada Inc., a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
      Jacobs Industrial Services Limited, a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
      Jacobs DCSA Saudi Arabia Limited, a limited corporation of Saudi Arabia 60.00%  
      JFSL Field Services Ltd., a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
      JFSL Construction Services Inc., a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
      JFSL Fabrication Services Inc., a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
         Milestone Construction Inc. a limited corporation of Canada 100.00%  
      Delta Hudson Ltd, a limited corporation of Cyprus 100.00%  
      Catalytic Maintenance Ltd, a limited corporation of Cyprus 100.00%  
Jacobs Advisers Inc., a corporation of California 100.00% (4)*  
Jacobs Civil Consultants Inc., a corporation of New York 100.00%  
JE Professional Resources Inc., a corporation of California 100.00%  
Jacobs Technology Inc., a corporation of Tennessee 100.00%  
Blue Canopy Group, LLC, a limited liability company of Virginia 100.00%  
BC Fed Group, LLC, a limited liability company of Virginia 100.00%  
   Innovative Test Asset Solutions LLC, a limited liability company of Tennessee 100.00%  
   Federal Network Systems LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 100.00%  
   Jacobs Australia Pty limited, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
         Unique World Group Pty Limited, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
            XUWH Pty Limited, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
               Unique World Pty Limited, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
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               XUC Pty Limited, a corporation of Australia 100.00%  
   CAC Management, LLC, a limited liability company of New Jersey 100.00%  
   DM Petroleum Operations Company, a corporation of Louisiana 80.00%  
   RL Phillips, Inc. a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
   Sytel, Inc. a corporation of Maryland 100.00%  
   Automotive Testing Operations, LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 100.00%  
Value Engineering and Management, Inc., a corporation of New Jersey 100.00%  
Jacobs Industrial Services Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
Jacobs Engineering New York Inc., a corporation of New York 100.00%  
Jacobs Telecommunications Inc., a corporation of New Jersey 100.00%  
   Edwards and Kelcey Caribe Inc., a corporation of Puerto Rico 100.00%  
Jacobs Consultants, Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
Edwards and Kelcey Architectural and Design Services, a corporation of New Jersey 100.00%  
Edwards and Kelcey Design Services Inc., an corporation of Illinois 100.00%  
JE Architects/Engineers, P.C., a professional corporation New York 100.00%  
EK Design Services, Inc., a corporation of Florida 100.00%  
Iffland Kavanagh Waterbury, P.L.L.C., a limited liability company of New York 100.00%  
Jacobs Project Management Co., a corporation Delaware 100.00%  
Sverdrup of Canada ULC a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
VEI Inc., a corporation of Texas 100.00%  
Traffic Services, Inc., a corporation of New Jersey 100.00%  
Sverdrup Hydro Projects, Inc., a corporation of Missouri 100.00%  
JEG Architecture Nevada, Inc., a corporation of Nevada 100.00%  
JE Associates, Inc., a corporation of Missouri 100.00%  
Jacobs Architects/Engineers, Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
Jacobs Engineering Company, a corporation of California 100.00%  
Bechtel Jacobs Company LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 40.00%  
LeighFisher Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
   LeighFisher Canada Inc., a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
   LeighFisher Ecuador S.A., an corporation of Ecuador 100.00%  
   LeighFisher Holdings Ltd. a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
      LeighFisher Ltd., a corporation of England and Wales 100.00%  
      LeighFisher Switzerland Gmbh, a corporation of Switzerland 100.00%  
   LeighFisher India Private. Ltd., a corporation of India 100.00%  
KlingStubbins Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%(5)*  
   TSA of Massachusetts LLP a corporation of Massachusetts 100.00%  
LeighFisher B.V., a corporation of the Netherlands 100.00%  
Sverdrup Asia Limited, a corporation of India 100.00%  
Jacobs Engineering Malaysia Sdn Bhd, a corporation of Malaysia 100.00%  
Jacobs Engineering de México, S.A. de C.V., a corporation of Mexico 100.00%  
Jacobs Engineering and Construction (Thailand) Limited, a corporation of Thailand 99.98%  
Sverdrup Jacobs Services, Inc., a corporation of California 100.00%  
CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
       CH2M HILL, Inc., a corporation of Florida 100.00%  
    CH2M HILL Constructors, Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
CH2M Facility Support Services, LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 100.00%  

    



 

       CH2M HILL International, Ltd., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
CH2M HILL International Engineering, Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
CH2M HILL Argentina S.A, a corporation of Argentina 90.399%(7)*  
CH2M HILL do Brasil Engenharia Ltda., a corporation of Brazil 97.159%(8)*  
CHIHB, LP, a limited liability partnership of Bermuda 89.44%(9)*  
CH2M HILL Europe Limited, a corporation of the United Kingdom 100.00%  
Halcrow Holdings Limited, a corporation of the United Kingdom 100.00%  
Halcrow Consulting Limited, a corporation of the United Kingdom 100.00%  
Halcrow Group Limited, a corporation of the United Kingdom 100.00%  
Halcrow International Limited, a corporation of the United Kingdom 100.00%  
CHNG B.V., a corporation of the Netherlands 100.00%  
   CH2M HILL Energy Canada, Limited, a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
CH2M HILL Netherlands Holding B.V., a corporation of the Netherlands 100.00%  
CH2M HILL Canada Limited, a corporation of Canada 100.00%  
CH2M HILL De Mexico S. De R.L. De C.V. 99.00%(10)*  
CH2M HILL International B.V., a corporation of the Netherlands 100.00%  
CH2M HILL Singapore Pte. Ltd. 100.00%  
CHVENG, LLC, a limited liability company of Delaware 100.00%  
CH2M HILL Alaska, Inc., a corporation of Alaska 100.00%  
Operations Management International, Inc., a corporation of California 100.00%  
        CH2M HILL Global, Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
                     CH2M HILL Engineers, Inc., a   corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
                     LG Constructors Inc., a   corporation of Delaware 100.00%  
CH2M HILL Constructors International, Inc., a corporation of Delaware 100.00%  

(1) *Ownership is divided between Jacobs Norway AS (25.1%), Sinclair Knight Merz (Europe) Ltd. (74.7%)
and Jacobs Nederland B.V. (0.2%)

(2) *Ownership divided between Sinclair Knight Merz (Europe) Ltd. (50%) and Sinclair Knight Merz (NZ)
Holdings Ltd (50%)

(3) *Ownership is divided between Jacobs Engineering Inc. and Jacobs U.K. Limited
(4) *Ownership is divided between Jacobs Engineering Inc. and Jacobs Canada Inc.
(5) *An affiliated company
(6) *Ownership is divided between Jacobs Engineering Espana S.L., Jacobs Luxembourg S.a.r.l. and Jacobs

U.K. Limited (one share)
(7) *Ownership is divided between CH2M HILL International, Ltd. (90.399%) and CH2M HILL

Constructors International, Inc. (9.601%)
(8) * Ownership is divided between CH2M HILL International, Ltd. (97.159%), Halcrow International

Limited (2.542%), Halcrow Group Limited (.001%) and CH2M HILL International Engineering, Inc.
(0298%)

(9) *Ownership is divided between CH2M HILL International, Ltd. (89.44%), CHIH, LLC (.58%), CH2M
HILL Engineers, Inc. (9.62%) and CH2M HILL Global Holdings S.a.r.l. (.35%)

(10) * Ownership is divided between CH2M HILL Netherlands Holdings B.V. and CH2M HILL
International B.V. (1%)

        



Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:        

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-195708, 333-187677, 333-107344, 333-123448, 333-157014, and 333-38974) pertaining to
the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated,

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-67048 and 333-216176) pertaining to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. Global Employee
Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated,

(3) Registration  Statement  (Form  S-8  Nos.  333-38984  and  333-209860)  pertaining  to  the  Jacobs  Engineering  Group  Inc.  1999  Outside
Director Stock Plan, as amended and restated,

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-45475) pertaining to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1981 Executive Incentive Plan,
(5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 Nos. 333-157015 and 333-216176) pertaining to the Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 1989 Employee

Stock Purchase Plan, as amended and restated,
(6) Registration Statement (Form S-4 No. 333-147936) and related Prospectus of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.,
(7) Registration Statement (Form S-4 No. 333-220524 as amended) and Related Prospectus of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc., and
(8) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-222084) pertaining to the CH2M HILL Companies, Ltd. Amended and Restated Long-Term

Incentive Plan, as amended;

of our reports dated November 21, 2018, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and subsidiaries
and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and subsidiaries included in this Annual Report
(Form 10-K) of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended September 28, 2018.

Dallas, Texas
November 21, 2018



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Steven J. Demetriou, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Steven J. Demetriou
Steven J. Demetriou
Chief Executive Officer

 
November 21, 2018



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Kevin C. Berryman, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Kevin C. Berryman
Kevin C. Berryman
Chief Financial Officer

 
November 21, 2018



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended September 28, 2018 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Steven J. Demetriou, Chief Executive Officer of the Company (principal
executive officer), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) the Report fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Steven J. Demetriou
Steven J. Demetriou
Chief Executive Officer

 
November 21, 2018

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended September 28, 2018 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kevin C. Berryman, Chief Financial Officer of the Company (principal
financial officer), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) the Report fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Kevin C. Berryman
Kevin C. Berryman
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer

 
November 21, 2018

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 95

Mine Safety Disclosure

Section 1503 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act requires domestic mine operators to disclose violations and orders issued
under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (the “Mine Act”) by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”). Under the Mine Act, an
independent contractor, such as Jacobs, that performs services or construction of a mine is included within the definition of a mining operator. We do not act as the
owner of any mines. Due to timing and other factors, the data may not agree with the mine data retrieval system maintained by MSHA.

The following table provides information for the fiscal year ended September 28, 2018.

Mine or Operating 
Name/MSHA

Identification Number

Section
104
S&S

Citations
(#)

Section
104(b)
Orders

(#)

Section
104(d)

Citations
and

Orders
(#)

Section
110(b)(2)
Violations

(#)

Section
107(a)
Orders

(#)

Total Dollar Value
of MSHA

Assessments
Proposed

($)

Total
Number of

Mining
Related

Fatalities
(#)

Received
Notice of
Pattern of
Violations

Under
Section
104(e)

(yes/no)

Received
Notice of

Potential to
Have

Pattern
Under

Section
104(e)

(yes/no)

Legal
Actions

Pending as
of Last Day

of Period
(#)

Legal
Actions
Initiated
During
Period

(#)

Legal
Actions

Resolved
During
Period

(#)

Mine ID: 02-00024 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 02-00144 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 02-03131 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 02-00137 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 02-00150 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 26-01962 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 29-00708 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 29-00762 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 26-02755 Contractor
ID: 1PL      —  No No    
Mine ID: 04-00743 Contractor
ID:Y713        No No    

Totals — — — — — $—  No No — — —

Notes:
1. Jacobs received zero MSHA citations during the fiscal year ended September 28, 2018.
2. Jacobs has no pending citations. Jacobs has vacated, reduced, abated and resolved all citations from previous fiscal years.


